
 
 
 
 

Licensing Committee (Non Licensing Act 
2003 Functions) 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: 13 October 2022 

Time: 3.00pm 

Venue Council Chamber, Hove Town Hall 

Members: John (Chair), Davis (Deputy Chair), Henry (Opposition 
Spokesperson), Simson (Group Spokesperson), Ebel, Fowler, 
Heley, Knight, Lewry, Moonan, O'Quinn, Phillips, Pissaridou, 
Rainey and Theobald 

Contact: Thomas Bald 
Democratic Services Officer 
01273 291354 
thomas.bald@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Electronic agendas can also be accessed through our meetings app available through 
ModernGov: iOS/Windows/Android 
 

This agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 
 

http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/modgov/9nblggh0c7s7#activetab=pivot:overviewtab
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en_GB


AGENDA 
 

PART ONE Page 

 

9 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

 (a) Declaration of Substitutes: Where Councillors are unable to attend a 
meeting, a substitute Member from the same Political Group may 
attend, speak and vote in their place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest:  
 

(a) Disclosable pecuniary interests  
(b) Any other interests required to be registered under the local 

code; 
(c) Any other general interest as a result of which a decision on the 

matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting you or a 
partner more than a majority of other people or businesses in 
the ward/s affected by the decision. 

 
In each case, you need to declare  
(i) the item on the agenda the interest relates to; 
(ii) the nature of the interest; and 
(iii) whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest or some other 

interest. 
 

If unsure, Members should seek advice from the committee lawyer 
or administrator preferably before the meeting. 

 
(c) Exclusion of Press and Public: To consider whether, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
NOTE:  Any item appearing in Part Two of the Agenda states in its 
heading the category under which the information disclosed in the 
report is exempt from disclosure and therefore not available to the 
public. 

 
A list and description of the exempt categories is available for public 
inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls. 

 

 

10 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 7 - 10 

 Minutes of the meeting held on the 23rd June 2022.  
 

11 CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS  

 

12 CALL OVER  

 (a) Items 15-19 will be read out at the meeting and Members invited to 
reserve the items for consideration. 

 



 
(b) Those items not reserved will be taken as having been received 

and the reports’ recommendations agreed. 
 

13 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by members of the public: 
 
(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions presented to the full council or at 

the meeting itself; 
(b) Written Questions: to receive any questions submitted by the due 

date of 12 noon on the (insert date); 
(c) Deputations: to receive any deputations submitted by the due date 

of 12 noon on the (insert date). 

 

 

14 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by councillors: 
 
(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions submitted to the full Council or at 

the meeting itself; 
(b) Written Questions: to consider any written questions; 
(c) Letters: to consider any letters; 
(d) Notices of Motion: to consider any Notices of Motion referred from 

Council or submitted directly to the Committee. 

 

 

15 HACKNEY CARRIAGE UNMET DEMAND REPORT 11 - 110 

 Contact Officer: Alex Evans Tel: 0127329  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

16 LICENSING FEES 2023/24 111 - 128 

 Contact Officer: Jim Whitelegg Tel: 01273 292438  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

17 HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARE REVIEW 129 - 142 

 Contact Officer: Alex Evans Tel: 0127329  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

18 BLUE HANDBOOK FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE 
DRIVERS, VEHICLES AND OPERATORS AMENDMENTS 

143 - 152 

 Contact Officer: Alex Evans Tel: 0127329  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

19 HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER ENFORCEMENT 
AND MONITORING 

153 - 162 

 Contact Officer: Alex Evans Tel: 0127329  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 



20 ITEMS REFERRED FOR COUNCIL  

 To consider items to be submitted to the 20 October 2022 Council 

meeting for information. 

 
In accordance with Procedure Rule 24.3a, the Committee may determine 
that any item is to be included in its report to Council. In addition, 
any Group may specify one further item to be included by notifying the 
Chief Executive no later than 10am on the eighth working day before the 
Council meeting at which the report is to be made, or if the Committee 
meeting take place after this deadline, immediately at the conclusion of 
the Committee meeting. 

 

 



 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made on 
the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be raised 
can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fourth working day before the meeting. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
Infra-red hearing aids are available for use during the meeting. If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the receptionist on arrival. 
 
FURTHER INFORMATION 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact , (01273 291354, email 
thomas.bald@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website.  At the 
start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.  You 
should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act 1998.  
Data collected during this web cast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy. 
 
Therefore, by entering the meeting room and using the seats in the chamber you are deemed 
to be consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings for the purpose of web casting and/or Member training.  If members of the public 
do not wish to have their image captured, they should sit in the public gallery area. 
 
ACCESS NOTICE 
The Public Gallery is situated on the first floor of the Town Hall and is limited in size but does 
have 2 spaces designated for wheelchair users.  The lift cannot be used in an emergency.  
Evac Chairs are available for self-transfer and you are requested to inform Reception prior to 
going up to the Public Gallery.  For your own safety please do not go beyond the Ground 
Floor if you are unable to use the stairs. 
Please inform staff on Reception of this affects you so that you can be directed to the Council 
Chamber where you can watch the meeting or if you need to take part in the proceedings e.g. 
because you have submitted a public question. 
 
FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by council staff.  
It is vital that you follow their instructions: 

 You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts; 

 Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

 Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further instructions; and 

 Do not re-enter the building until told that it is safe to do so. 

 
Date of Publication - Wednesday, 5 October 2022 

 

 

mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk


     

     



1 

BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 

LICENSING COMMITTEE (NON LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 

3.00PM 23 JUNE 2022 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, HOVE TOWN HALL 

MINUTES 

Present: 

Councillors John (Chair), Davis, Phillips, Ebel, Hills, Moonan, Henry, Fowler, Simson, 
Pissaridou & Lewry. 

PART ONE 

1 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 

Apologies were received from Councillors O’Quinn, Theobald, Knight, and Rainey. 

(a) Declarations of Substitutes

1.1 Councillor Hills was present in substitution for Councillor Heley.

(b) Declarations of Interest

1.2 There were no declarations of interests in matters listed on the agenda.

(c) Exclusion of Press and Public

1.3 The Committee considered whether the press and public should be excluded from the
meeting during the consideration of any of the items listed on the agenda. 

1.4 RESOLVED: That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the items contained in part two of the agenda. 

2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Licensing Committee (Non-Licensing Act 2003 
Functions) Meeting held on 17 February be agreed and signed as a correct record. 

3 CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS 

Thank you all for being here today. We have an exceptionally short agenda of one report, so I 
will keep my Chairs comments just as short. 
This is, as you know, my first committee as chair of Licencing and I am delighted to be able to 
take up the role as the previous chair, Cllr Deane is now Mayor Deane. 

7



 

2 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE (NON LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 23 JUNE 2022 

We all realise the circumstances to which this came about were difficult for some, but I am sure 
you will all agree that Cllr Deane will be and has already proved to be an excellent Mayor and I 
am sure we all wish her our best over the next year. 
  
I am delighted to be joining a committee with such knowledge and experience, already proved 
to me by my attendance to a hearing panel this week. It is thanks to the skill and dedication in 
this room that contribute towards Brighton being a city for both residents and businesses to 
thrive in. 
  
Despite coming out of lockdown, businesses including the taxi trade face huge challenges with 
the cost of living. I know just how vital the taxi trade is for the city, particularly as we move into 
our busy summer period, not just in keeping the city moving but also safeguarding the 
vulnerable and being the eyes and ears of the city. 
  
The taxi licensing team play a key role facilitating and maintaining this and I welcome today’s 
paper, updating the committee on the monitoring and enforcement for the hackney carriage 
and private hire drivers in the city. I know this will be of great interest for all on the committee 
and I look forward to learning from both officers reporting and member discussion. 
 
4 CALLOVER 
 
The following item was reserved for discussion: 
 
Item 7 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Driver Enforcement and 

Monitoring 
 
5 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 
There was none. 
 
6 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT 
 
There was none. 
 
7 HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER ENFORCEMENT AND 

MONITORING 
 
7.1 Alex Evans introduced the report starting on page 11 of the Agenda. 
 
7.2 Councillor Simson was informed that: 
 

 There have been about 60 new licenses and relicenses since the 1 April 2022. 

 Incidents of refusals to accept cash payments are being recorded in a spreadsheet, and 
then taxi drivers will be investigated to see when their license was issued, and 
appropriate action can be taken if neccesary 

 New taxis are being checked to ensure there have card readers. 

 Taxi drivers indicate they only accept cash to refuse drunk or disorderly passengers. 

 The build-up of taxis along the seafront by Burger King and Monarch is being monitored 
by Sussex Police and Licensing Enforcement Officers, and are reporting back through 
the Taxi Forum. 

8



 

3 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE (NON LICENSING ACT 2003 FUNCTIONS) 23 JUNE 2022 

 The driver at the bottom of the chart on page 18 of the Agenda had his Licensing 
disqualified over lockdown, but didn’t get it back in time due to delays at the DVLA. 
Once he had his license back he was then was sent for his taxi driver assessment. 

 Warnings for taxi drivers are dealt with on a case by case basis, and if it feels like 
training is appropriate for it they are sent for training. If the behaviour continues, then 
other enforcement action is looked at such as suspension or revocation. 

 Instances of street trading enforcement will be brought to the Licensing Committee 
going forward. 
 

7.3 Cllr Davis was informed that: 
 

 The DVLA medical standard is set by the DVLA for public service vehicles. 

 Most of the medical standards that stop people driving are temporary medical conditions 
such as having a stent fitted or fixing their eyesight. 

 For out-of-town drivers that offend, all Brighton and Hove can do is issue a caution or 
prosecute, but for local drivers, there is more scope for different action such as 
warnings. 

 If drivers are caught twice in a reasonable amount of time then the issue is escalated. 
 
7.4 Cllr Pissaridou was informed that a copy of the DVLA group 2 medical standard is available 
online, and that Martin Seymour would send a link. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. That Members note the contents of this report and that officers should continue to act as 
appropriate. 

 
 
8 ITEMS REFERRED FOR COUNCIL 
 
There were none. 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 15:18 

 
Signed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Dated this day of  
 

9



10



LICENSING COMMITTEE 

(NON LICENSING ACT 
2003 FUNCTIONS) 

Agenda Item 15 
 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

  

Subject: Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey 

Date of Meeting: 13 October 2022 

Report of: Executive Director of Neighbourhoods, Communities 

& Housing 

Contact Officer: Name:  Martin Seymour / 

Jim Whitelegg 

Tel: 29-6659 

 E-mail:  Jim.whitelegg@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Martin.seymour@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 

Wards Affected: All  

 
 
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
 To present the results of the Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Survey and to 

give various options available to members to advise the executive. The Executive 
Summary and Recommendations section of the survey report is appended 
(Appendix A). 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

2.1 That committee recommends keeping the current number of hackney carriage     
vehicle licences at 595 or;  

 
2.2   Recommends to continue to increase the number of hackney carriage vehicle 

licences issued by the council by 5 annually, such licences to be issued in May 
each year commencing in May 2023 or; 

 
2.3   Recommends removing the limit on the number of hackney carriage vehicles    

issued and allow a free entry policy to vehicles, which are constructed or adapted 
and configured to carry passengers seated in wheelchairs, or vehicles which are 
fully electric, the type and design of the vehicle to be agreed by the Executive 
Director of Neighbourhoods, Communities & Housing. If members were minded 
to make this policy change then further consultation is strongly advised. 

 

2.4 Recommend any additional licences issued under 2.2, above should be issued in 
accordance with the conditions attached to the Brighton & Hove City Council 
Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence Waiting List and to vehicles which are 
constructed or adapted and configured to carry passengers seated in 
wheelchairs or; vehicles which are fully electric or; plug-in hybrid (PHEV) vehicles 

11

mailto:Jim.whitelegg@brighton-hove.gov.uk
mailto:Martin.seymour@brighton-hove.gov.uk


the type and design of the vehicle to be agreed by the Executive Director of 
Neighbourhoods, Communities & Housing. 

 

3. Relevant Background Information/Chronology of Key Events: 
 
 3.1  The council licenses hackney carriage vehicles and private hire vehicles. The 

principal differences between the two licensing regimes are (i) hackney carriages 
can ply for hire in the streets and at taxi ranks whilst private hire vehicles can only 
accept bookings made through a private hire operator (ii) powers exist to limit the 
numbers of hackney carriages in prescribed circumstances but there is no power 
to limit the number of private hire vehicles (iii) the council prescribes fares for 
hackney carriages but has no power to determine fares for private hire bookings. 

 
3.2     This council last reviewed its policy of quantity control of hackney carriages on 29 

November 2018.  
 

3.3     Section 16 of the Road Transport Act 1985 gives the council the power to refuse 
the grant of a licence for the purpose of limiting the number of hackney carriage 
vehicles within its area, but only if it is satisfied that there is no significant demand 
for the service of hackney carriages within its area which is unmet. At present 
council policy limits the number of hackney carriage vehicle licenses to 595 with 5 
additional licenses issued annually in May.  

 

3.4     The Department of Transport has issued Best Practice guidance regarding limiting 
numbers policies. (Appendix B) Most local licensing authorities do not impose 
quantity restrictions; the Department regards that as best practice. 

 

3.5   Because of its policy of limiting numbers, from time to time the council must 
commission an independent study to establish whether there is any significant 
unmet demand for the service of hackney carriages in Brighton and Hove. The 
Council recently commissioned such a study from independent transport 
consultants, CTS Traffic & Transportation Ltd, who produced their study report in 
October 2022. (Appendix C). An executive Summary and Recommendations can 
be found in Appendix A. 

 

3.6     In view of the study findings which found there to be no significant unmet demand 
Members have a discretion to recommend to the Council one of the following 
options: either (i) delimit, i.e., to remove the limitation on numbers; or (ii) continue 
with a restricted numbers policy but allow expansion of the fleet in a controlled 
manner; or (iii) keep the current number of hackney carriages vehicle licences at 
595. 

 

3.7     If Members decide to recommend keeping the current level of licences at 595 then 
the council would be required to commission a further survey to assess demand 
in around 3 years’ time. If Members decide to continue with a restricted numbers 
policy but with a policy of managed growth in line with paragraph 2.2 then the 
council would be required to commission a further survey to assess demand in 

12



around 3 years’ time. If Members decide to delimit the council would not be 
required to commission a further survey but further consultation would be 
necessary to assess the full implications of such a policy change.  

 

3.8   The council maintains a waiting list for hackney carriage vehicle licences which 
currently has 259 applicants. It is recommended that all additional licences be 
offered to applicants in accordance with the conditions attached to the waiting list. 
This means that they would be offered to applicants according to their position on 
the list.   

 

3.9    There are two potential avenues of legal challenge; an aggrieved party could seek 
judicial review of the committee’s decision, and applicants could appeal against 
the refusal of a licence to the Courts. This is open to any applicant whether they 
are a licensed driver or not. The report shows that 595 hackney carriage vehicles 
are owned by 516 proprietors with 16 operators with a licence for 3 or more 
vehicles although it is not clear if all these operators are actually operating. 
Continuing to issue extra licences each year will counter criticism that the 
hackney carriage vehicle licence waiting list may be discriminatory if no extra 
licences are issued as it prevents applicants moving up the list giving the 
opportunity to own a hackney carriage vehicle. 

 

3.10  The Council has adopted a number of measures to increase the percentage of 
wheelchair accessible vehicles available. These are; all new licences issued 
must be attached to a wheelchair accessible vehicle, or; vehicles which are fully 
electric or; plug-in hybrid (PHEV) vehicles, all vehicles capable of carrying 5 or 
more passengers must be wheelchair accessible. A higher fare was also set for 
vehicles when carrying 5 or more passengers to reflect the higher costs of 
running these vehicles and to encourage proprietors to change their vehicles to 
wheelchair accessible. Should members not wish to adopt 2.2 above or continue 
issuing plates to wheelchair accessible vehicles or; vehicles which are fully 
electric or; plug-in hybrid (PHEV) vehicles all these measures may need to be 
reviewed. 

 

4.     The type of vehicle to be licensed 

 

4.1 Taxis provide an important means of transport for disabled people and are often 
the only viable option available. The council’s hackney carriage fleet is mixed, 
consisting of saloon cars and specially constructed or adapted wheelchair 
accessible vehicles. Locally, representatives of disabled groups have asked for 
the continued provision of a mixed fleet but are keen to increase the percentage 
of rear loading wheelchair accessible vehicles to meet the needs of passengers 
with large, powered wheelchairs. This reflects the differing needs and preferences 
of the travelling public, including those who find it difficult to negotiate entry into 
wheelchair accessible vehicles and to sit down easily, and those confined to 
travelling in wheelchairs. 

 

13



4.2 CTS Traffic & Transportation Ltd has considered the type of vehicle and suggests 
that the further value of adding more WAV to the hackney carriage fleet is now 
limited. The public view possibly suggests that the maximum level might be at 
most 65%, whereas the current tests seem to suggest the further increases since 
2015 have not continued the improvement seen in the previous period. On 
balance, they consider that a level of 50% WAV hackney carriages would 
continue the present benefits and be a sensible target to keep to in the future. 

On the contrary, compared to policies favouring growth in WAV levels, around 
the traffic world, much more emphasis is being given to attempting to reduce air 
quality concerns, with many locations seeking to encourage the licensed vehicle 
fleet to set a good example by moving towards lower or zero emission options. 
Many authorities have had mandatory level targets set and many are seeking to 
achieve this through changes to requirements for both hackney carriage and 
private hire. 

It is also clear that the additional five plates per year managed growth have 
ensured that any tendency toward unmet demand that might be seen as 
significant have been kept clearly in control. It seems prudent that this policy 
should continue, at the same level, but that the focus on fleet change now move 
to these plates being allocated to low or zero emission vehicles. Given the small 
number, this might best be set as fully zero emission, wheelchair accessible 
vehicle styles. 

 

4.4    Members are recommended to require that additional hackney carriage licences 
are restricted to wheelchair accessible vehicles, plug-in hybrid (PHEV) or fully 
electric vehicles. This will underline the council’s commitment to those who suffer 
physical disability but also encouraging a move to zero emission options by giving 
proprietors on the waiting list choice when purchasing vehicles. However, in the 
interests of continuing to maintain a mixed fleet this policy, would need to be 
reviewed after a suitable interval, for example when the next unmet demand 
survey is undertaken.  

 

4.5    If Members decide not to recommend to so restrict the number of vehicles, then 
there is a risk of legal challenge from hackney carriage licence holders who were 
previously issued licences for wheelchair accessible vehicles, on the ground that 
the restriction on their licences is unreasonable. If successful, this would lead to a 
reduction in the number of wheelchair accessible vehicles. In view of the survey 
findings, disability interest groups or individuals might also challenge such a 
decision. 

 
5         Related Issues  

 

5.1   The main purpose of the survey was to determine whether there exists a significant 
unmet demand for hackney carriages and to determine the number of licences 
required to meet any identified unmet demand. There are other related issues 
which the council needs to keep under review in the longer term, such as the 
response to telephone bookings for wheelchair accessible vehicles, initiatives to 
encourage hackney carriage and private hire drivers to work unsociable hours, 

14



particularly at the weekends when there are peaks in night-time demand, the level 
of fares and measures to improve driver and passenger safety. 

 

5.2 Crime reduction initiatives such as driver safety screens and in-car CCTV 
cameras have previously been supported by Committee. Other initiatives are still 
being developed including links with the community safety team and improved 
partnership between the taxi trade and the police. The level of fares are reviewed 
regularly including the question of whether there is justification to increase the 
differential between daytime and night-time fares to encourage drivers to work at 
times of peak demand.    

 
6.       Consultation 

 
6.1 CTS Traffic & Transportation Ltd consultations consulted with Hackney Carriage 

and Private Hire Trade Representatives; Taxis Operators; Disability 
representatives and Social Services; Police and Community Safety Partnership, 
Supermarkets, Hotels Restaurants, Entertainment Venues & Public Houses and 
Night Clubs.  

 
7. Financial & other Implications:  
 
7.1 Revenue:  

 The cost of the current Unmet Demand Survey was met from within existing 
revenue budgets. The fees for Hackney Carriages are set at a level that it is 
reasonably believed will meet the costs of providing the service. Therefore, this 
will include the cost of future Unmet Demand Surveys.  

 Total income in 2021-22 from fees was £307,055. If the number of hackney 
carriages is allowed to increase this will not necessarily result in an increase in 
income overall, as it may be offset by a reduction in private hire vehicles.   

 If the decision is taken to continue with a limitation policy, then there is the 
possibility of a legal challenge to the decision in court. The costs of any such 
challenge would have to be met from within existing budgets, funded from the fee 
income. 

 If the decision is taken to delimit the number of taxis, then subsequent monitoring 
of taxi ranks may reveal a need to expand their size or number, which the Council 
would be responsible for funding. Such costs could range from a few hundred 
pounds to a few thousand pounds, depending on the specific circumstances.  

  
 Finance Officer Consulted: Michael Bentley Date: 22/09/2022 
 
 
7.2 These are dealt with in the body of the report. 
 
 Lawyer   Rebecca Sidell                          Date:   
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 

7.3 On 1st July 2022 The Department for Transport announced that the Taxis and 
Private Hire Vehicles (Disabled Persons) Act 2022 came into force on 28 June. 

15



  
The 2022 Act amends the Equality Act 2010 to place duties on taxi drivers and 
Private Hire Vehicles (PHV) drivers and operators, so any disabled person has 
specific rights and protections to be transported and receive assistance when 
using a taxi or PHV without being charged extra. 
  
As part of the amendments, taxi and PHV drivers could face fines of up to £1,000 
if they fail to provide reasonable mobility assistance to disabled passengers 
taking a pre-booked vehicle. This will also ensure that visually impaired 
passengers will be assisted by drivers to help them identify or find the vehicle. 

 

  The dft reports that In England, 14% of all licensed vehicles were wheelchair 
accessible in 2022. 55% of all taxis were wheelchair accessible while 2% 
of PHVs were wheelchair accessible. This is similar to the proportions in 2021. 

 

To issue extra licences each year will counter criticism that the hackney carriage 
vehicle licence waiting list may be discriminatory because it does not move as no 
extra licences are issued.  

 

With only some 6% of persons with a disability nationally being wheelchair users. 
By concentrating on WAV’s some 94% of the total may be being inconvenienced 
or inadvertently discriminated against. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 

7.4 The role of the taxi trade is included in the Local Transport Plan, which identifies it 
as a key element in providing sustainable transport choices.  It creates important 
links in the transport network to other forms of sustainable transport providing a 
seamless connection.  It will contribute to three of the government’s four shared 
transport priorities – reducing congestion, improving air quality and accessibility.  
Use of taxis for school transport, licensed vehicles using bus lanes, locating ranks 
at railway stations and the city coach station, approved use of liquid petroleum 
gas all contribute to reducing congestion and moving passengers quickly.   

  
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
7.5     Sufficient late-night transport to reduce public place violent crime is recognised in 

the community safety, crime reduction and drugs strategy. The presence of CCTV 
can be an important means of deterring and detecting crime. 

 
 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
7.6    The transport industry should be safe, profitable and be a positive experience for 

residents and visitors. 
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
7.7 Tourism needs to provide a warm welcome to visitors and the tourism    

16



           strategy depends upon effective partnership with transport operators particularly 
to achieve safe late-night dispersal for the night-time economy.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 
 
Appendices: A 
 
Executive Summary and Recommendations of Survey 
 
Appendices: B 
 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance 2005 (Department for 
Transport) 
 
Appendices: C 
 
Survey of demand for Hackney Carriages (CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix A 

17



Executive Summary from CTS Report 

This Survey of demand for hackney carriage services has been undertaken on 
behalf of Brighton and Hove following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT Best 
Practice Guidance document, and all relevant case history in regard to unmet 
demand. This Executive Summary draws together key points from the main 
report that are needed to allow a committee to determine from the facts 
presented their current position in regard to the policy of limiting hackney 
carriage vehicle licences according to Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act. It 
is a summary of the main report which follows and should not be relied upon 
solely to justify any decisions of a committee but must be read in conjunction 
with the full report below. 

 

This latest in the regular series of reviews of the level of unmet demand in the 
Brighton and Hove licensing area was undertaken between February and 
October 2018. This review has included a test of demand in Spring as well as 
the main test undertaken at the same time as in the previous survey and has 
specifically considered the policies of increasing WAV levels and managed 
plate growth in addition to the more usual standard brief. 

 

The authority continues to support development of the licensed vehicle fleet 
as an important part of the transport offer of the area. The managed growth of 
vehicle plates on the hackney carriage side appears to have mirrored private 
hire growth which is in theory purely provided by the market. The overall 
industry structure allows a lot of freedom in operating models but as a result is 
very complex. Recent changes to see drivers having licences allowing them to 
drive either private hire or hackney carriage has reduced some of this 
complexity. 

 

The early period rank observations suggested lower demand levels at the two 
key council ranks and no evidence that demand might have increased to 
provide any option for unmet demand in the area to have become significant. 
A wider review of rank activity in May found some 27% less demand observed 
at ranks now compared to the similar period in 2015.  Even this picture, 
however, was complex since some ranks had seen growth whilst the main 
decline was at the station rank. There had also been national reduction in 
usage figures for passengers at Brighton station although not to the level the 
main rank itself had shown decline. 

 

The area continues to see rank activity at some location in nearly every hour 
of the week. The hackney carriage fleet continues to be active in plying for 
hire, often covering several quiet locations by passing by regularly. Unmet 
demand measured in various different ways was always low, with just 2% of 
observed hours seeing average passenger delays a minute or more, with just 
20 passengers during the survey period waiting 11 minutes or more for a 
vehicle to arrive.  

 

Observed levels of service were found to be provided by around 43% of the 
fleet on the busiest, Saturday.  Within these observations, 17% were other 

18



than Brighton and Hove hackney carriages, although in effect just 4% were 
out of town vehicles. However, it is hard to capture all out of town activity 
since many find other locations to be active. This would have required much 
more extensive surveys. 

 

Public interviews found a reduced level of usage of licensed vehicles, but a 
more marked decline for hackney carriages despite people finding them very 
obvious. The level of people not remembering using hackney carriages had 
significantly increased.  Whilst app-based options had become the third 
highest way of ‘booking’ a vehicle, the top two booking companies still retain 
high levels of hackney carriages operating on their circuits. Peoples’ 
knowledge of ranks appeared to have reduced.  Latent demand had 
increased although so had levels of satisfaction with the service provided. It 
may be that increased latent demand is a result of higher levels of 
expectation. 

 

The trade remains very responsive to assisting the study, both from the 
individual and from the trade body / company levels. Of those responding, few 
were entirely dependent on ranks. Levels of accepting pre-bookings, and of 
hailing were both high.  

 

53% of all trade respondents in the driver survey supported the present 
managed growth policy.  Private hire supported the policy most strongly, 
followed by owner-drivers and then those that rented, although the latter 
support was not much less than the overall levels. A key concern was trade 
being taken by non-Brighton vehicles. 

 

The level of unmet demand and the index of significance of unmet demand 
itself were both the lowest seen in recent surveys. 

 

Levels of WAV activity were higher at ranks than the actual proportion in the 
fleet. However, the level of observed wheel chair-based passengers remained 
similar to the levels in the last two surveys. 

 

Overall, this survey suggests the rank-based market has reduced, although 
hailing has remained strong and the introduction of apps has also seen 
demand switch from various sources to their use. Recent introduction of a 
hackney carriage app has been positive although this remains in its early 
days. At this time, the level of confidence that unmet demand is unlikely to 
become significant is higher than ever.  It also appears that continually 
improved levels of service have also increased user expectations. 

 

The hackney carriage fleet at this time is less dependent on rank-based hires 
than it ever has been. While a case could be made that the extra five plates 
per year could be switched off, wider views suggest this level of plate issue 
continues to keep a reasonable balance between the hackney carriage and 
private hire sides of the trade. There is also scope for work levels to be 

19



increased with further reduction in the levels of inappropriately met demand 
that is tolerated.  

 

Further, there is need to consider the upcoming issues of vehicle emissions 
within the mix of policies being used. It appears that the ‘best’ level of WAV for 
this area might be 50%, a level the fleet is now currently at, so that the focus 
of fleet change could now switch to encouraging improved vehicle emissions 
whilst ensuring the level of achievement on the WAV side remains.  

Recommendations from CTS Report 

On the basis of the evidence gathered in this Survey of demand for hackney 
carriages services for Brighton and Hove, our key conclusion is that there is 
no evidence of any unmet demand for the services of hackney carriages 
either patent or latent which is significant at this point in time in the Brighton 
and Hove licensing area. The committee is therefore able to consider retaining 
its present limit on hackney carriage vehicle numbers and to be able to 
support this against any challenge if required. 

 

The options open to the committee therefore include the following: 

- Retain limit at current level, removing the managed growth 

- Continue managed growth for WAV 

- Revise managed growth to switch to focus on environmental matters 

rather than WAV 

- Remove the limit altogether (with various possible options from with no 

further restriction to quality controls such as in favour of 

environmentally friendly vehicle options). 

At the same time the related policy regarding all replacement vehicles having 
to become WAV also needs reconsideration. 

 

Further thoughts are provided in the previous chapter giving reasons why 
particular options might be preferable at this time. Further discussion can 
occur at the presentation of this report if necessary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix: B 

 
         Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance 2005 

(Department  for Transport) 

20



The present legal provision on quantity restrictions for taxis outside London is set 
out in section 16 of the Transport Act 1985. This provides that the grant of a taxi 
licence may be refused, for the purpose of limiting the number of licensed taxis 'if, 
but only if, the [local licensing authority] is satisfied that there is no significant 
demand for the services of hackney carriages (within the area to which the licence 
would apply) which is unmet'. 

Local licensing authorities will be aware that, in the event of a challenge to a 
decision to refuse a licence, the local authority concerned would have to establish 
that it had, reasonably, been satisfied that there was no significant unmet demand. 

Most local licensing authorities do not impose quantity restrictions; the Department 
regards that as best practice.  

Where restrictions are imposed, the Department would urge that the matter should 
be regularly reconsidered. The Department further urges that the issue to be 
addressed first in each reconsideration is whether the restrictions should continue at 
all. It is suggested that the matter should be approached in terms of the interests of 
the travelling public - that is to say, the people who use taxi services. What benefits 
or disadvantages arise for them as a result of the continuation of controls; and what 
benefits or disadvantages would result for the public if the controls were removed? 
Is there evidence that removal of the controls would result in deterioration in the 
amount or quality of taxi service provision? 

In most cases where quantity restrictions are imposed, vehicle licence plates 
command a premium, often of tens of thousands of pounds. This indicates that 
there are people who want to enter the taxi market and provide a service to the 
public, but who are being prevented from doing so by the quantity restrictions. This 
seems very hard to justify. 

If a local authority does nonetheless take the view that a quantity restriction can be 
justified in principle, there remains the question of the level at which it should be set, 
bearing in mind the need to demonstrate that there is no significant unmet demand. 
This issue is usually addressed by means of a survey; it will be necessary for the 
local licensing authority to carry out a survey sufficiently frequently to be able to 
respond to any challenge to the satisfaction of a court. An interval of three years is 
commonly regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys. 

As to the conduct of the survey, the Department's letter of 16 June 2004 set out a 
range of considerations. But key points are: 

 the length of time that would-be customers have to wait at ranks. 
However, this alone is an inadequate indicator of demand; also taken into 
account should be...  

 waiting times for street hailings and for telephone bookings. But waiting 
times at ranks or elsewhere do not in themselves satisfactorily resolve the 
question of unmet demand. It is also desirable to address...  

 latent demand, for example people who have responded to long waiting 
times by not even trying to travel by taxi. This can be assessed by surveys of 

21



people who do not use taxis, perhaps using stated preference survey 
techniques.  

 peaked demand. It is sometimes argued that delays associated only with 
peaks in demand (such as morning and evening rush hours, or pub closing 
times) are not 'significant' for the purpose of the Transport Act 1985. The 
Department does not share that view. Since the peaks in demand are by 
definition the most popular times for consumers to use taxis, it can be 
strongly argued that unmet demand at these times should not be ignored. 
Local authorities might wish to consider when the peaks occur and who is 
being disadvantaged through restrictions on provision of taxi services.  

 consultation. As well as statistical surveys, assessment of quantity 
restrictions should include consultation with all those concerned, including 
user groups (which should include groups representing people with 
disabilities, and people such as students or women), the police, hoteliers, 
operators of pubs and clubs and visitor attractions, and providers of other 
transport modes (such as train operators, who want taxis available to take 
passengers to and from stations);  

 publication. All the evidence gathered in a survey should be published, 
together with an explanation of what conclusions have been drawn from it 
and why. If quantity restrictions are to be continued, their benefits to 
consumers and the reason for the particular level at which the number is set 
should be set out.  

 financing of surveys. It is not good practice for surveys to be paid for by the 
local taxi trade (except through general revenues from licence fees). To do 
so can call in question the impartiality and objectivity of the survey process.  

Quite apart from the requirement of the 1985 Act, the Department's letter of 16 
June 2004 asked all local licensing authorities that operate quantity restrictions to 
review their policy and justify it publicly by 31 March 2005 and at least every 
three years thereafter. The Department also expects the justification for any 
policy of quantity restrictions to be included in the five-yearly Local Transport 
Plan process. 

22



Executive Summary 
This Survey of demand for hackney carriage services has been undertaken on 

behalf of Brighton and Hove following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT Best 

Practice Guidance document, and all relevant case history in regard to unmet 

demand. This Executive Summary draws together key points from the main report 

that are needed to allow a committee to determine from the facts presented their 

current position in regard to the policy of limiting hackney carriage vehicle licences 

according to Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act. It is a summary of the main 

report which follows and should not be relied upon solely to justify any decisions 

of a committee but must be read in conjunction with the full report below. 

This latest in the regular series of reviews of the level of unmet demand in the 

Brighton and Hove licensing area was undertaken between February and August 

2022. This review has included a test of demand in Spring as well as the main test 

undertaken at the same time as in the previous survey and has specifically 

considered the policies of increasing WAV levels and managed plate growth in 

addition to the more usual standard brief. 

The authority continues to support development of the licensed vehicle fleet as an 

important part of the transport offer of the area. The overall industry structure 

allows a lot of freedom in operating models but as a result is very complex. The 

present policies and procedures around the managed growth see the authority in 

an excellent position to react to growth or decline more appropriately than many 

other areas around the country. 

Estimated weekly passenger demand at ranks continues to decline survey on 

survey. However, even with the pandemic the current picture suggests a slowing 

of the decline given there was 28% decline 2015 to 2018 and 25% in the four 

years to the latest survey. However, as before, the picture is of the larger ranks 

generally growing and smaller ones declining, with some notable exceptions. The 

impact of reduced national rail patronage remains noticeable at both stations.  

The area continues to see rank activity at some location in nearly every hour of 

the week. The hackney carriage fleet continues to be active in plying for hire, often 

covering several quiet locations by passing by regularly. The changes in both 

demand and supply resulting from the ongoing ‘churn’ instigated by the pandemic, 

Brexit and current world political instability have led to unmet demand levels 

increasing despite falling overall demand. 

 

One notable rank usage increase is at the Hospital rank. 

Observed levels of service were found to be provided by around 45% of the fleet 

on the busiest, Saturday (actually a marginal increase from 2018). The same 

observations found 69% of observed licensed vehicles being local hackney 

23



carriages, 15% local private hire but 16% out of town vehicles. In 2018 75% were 

local hackney carriages. 

A key value from the public interviews is that latent demand levels have reduced 

despite the increased levels of unmet demand. This, along with excellent reviews 

of elements of the service provided, suggests confidence in waiting at a rank or 

continuing to hail, is increased. 

The trade remains very responsive to assisting the study, both from the individual 

and from the trade body / company levels. However, responses were dominated 

by concerns about the future of the industry and in particular concerns regarding 

the continued level of out of town operations very visible to them. However, there 

is some evidence from the public that their shift to app-based operations, 

particularly national ones, has reduced. 

Levels of WAV activity remain higher at ranks than the actual proportion in the 

fleet. However, the level of observed wheel chair-based passengers remained 

similar to the levels in the last two surveys and relatively low. This is despite the 

area having unrivalled levels of WAV in both hackney carriage and private hire 

fleets for an area that retains a mixed vehicle fleet and does not have a mandatory 

policy. 

The observed levels of unmet demand imply that the managed growth needs to 

continue at its present level to assist with the re-balancing of supply and demand 

that is still ongoing after the major shocks of the recent years to what was a well 

attuned operation. 

There is strong need for the demand policy to be assisted by other elements of 

the authority with specific reference to ensuring zero tolerance of abuse of 

hackney carriage ranks which is a public safety concern and has an impact on the 

ability of the trade to adequately meet demand.  

Soft elements of the licensed vehicle operation also need developing such as much 

stronger marketing of the Brighton and Hove licensed vehicle brand and increased 

focus on honest and open customer feedback and trade liaison in narrowing any 

gap between public expectation and trade delivery. A large number of good 

aspects of the present service need to be regularly put in the public domain whilst 

trade willingness to continually improve service needs to be both developed but 

also appreciated by those able to do so. 

Recommendations 
 

On the basis of the evidence gathered in this Survey of demand for hackney 

carriages services for Brighton and Hove, our key conclusion is that there is no 

evidence of any unmet demand for the services of hackney carriages either patent 

or latent which is significant at this point in time in the Brighton and Hove licensing 

24



area. The committee is therefore able to consider retaining its present limit on 

hackney carriage vehicle numbers and to be able to support this against any 

challenge if required. The strong negative changes in the ISUD index imply the 

managed growth remains important. 

The options open to the committee therefore include the following: 

- Retain limit at current level, removing the managed growth 

- Continue managed growth for WAV 

- Revise managed growth to switch to focus on environmental matters rather 

than WAV 

- Remove the limit altogether (with various possible options from with no 

further restriction to quality controls such as in favour of environmentally 

friendly vehicle options). 

At the same time the related policy regarding all replacement vehicles having to 

become WAV also needs reconsideration. 

Further thoughts are provided in the previous chapter giving reasons why 

particular options might be preferable at this time. Further discussion can occur 

at the presentation of this report if necessary. 

There needs to be much more public and trade debate about the issue of disability 

service across the licensed vehicle service. The trade needs to identify clearly what 

they consider to be good service to those with disabilities and ensure this is 

communicated to the public and those contravening the code of practice see strong 

discipline applied preferably from within the trade as well as by the licensing 

authority.  

This could perhaps be led by a marketing campaign encouraging both negative 

and positive feedback regarding the full licensed trade operation to be regularly 

shared by people. This could also draw in the issue of non-local vehicle service to 

the public. 

 

25



26



 

  

Appendix: B 

 
         Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance 2005 

(Department  for Transport) 

The present legal provision on quantity restrictions for taxis outside London is set out 
in section 16 of the Transport Act 1985. This provides that the grant of a taxi licence 
may be refused, for the purpose of limiting the number of licensed taxis 'if, but only if, 
the [local licensing authority] is satisfied that there is no significant demand for the 
services of hackney carriages (within the area to which the licence would apply) which 
is unmet'. 

Local licensing authorities will be aware that, in the event of a challenge to a decision 
to refuse a licence, the local authority concerned would have to establish that it had, 
reasonably, been satisfied that there was no significant unmet demand. 

Most local licensing authorities do not impose quantity restrictions; the Department 
regards that as best practice.  

Where restrictions are imposed, the Department would urge that the matter should 
be regularly reconsidered. The Department further urges that the issue to be 
addressed first in each reconsideration is whether the restrictions should continue at 
all. It is suggested that the matter should be approached in terms of the interests of 
the travelling public - that is to say, the people who use taxi services. What benefits 
or disadvantages arise for them as a result of the continuation of controls; and what 
benefits or disadvantages would result for the public if the controls were removed? Is 
there evidence that removal of the controls would result in deterioration in the amount 
or quality of taxi service provision? 

In most cases where quantity restrictions are imposed, vehicle licence plates 
command a premium, often of tens of thousands of pounds. This indicates that there 
are people who want to enter the taxi market and provide a service to the public, but 
who are being prevented from doing so by the quantity restrictions. This seems very 
hard to justify. 

If a local authority does nonetheless take the view that a quantity restriction can be 
justified in principle, there remains the question of the level at which it should be set, 
bearing in mind the need to demonstrate that there is no significant unmet demand. 
This issue is usually addressed by means of a survey; it will be necessary for the local 
licensing authority to carry out a survey sufficiently frequently to be able to respond 
to any challenge to the satisfaction of a court. An interval of three years is commonly 
regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys. 

As to the conduct of the survey, the Department's letter of 16 June 2004 set out a 
range of considerations. But key points are: 

 the length of time that would-be customers have to wait at ranks. 
However, this alone is an inadequate indicator of demand; also taken into 
account should be...  

27



 waiting times for street hailings and for telephone bookings. But waiting 
times at ranks or elsewhere do not in themselves satisfactorily resolve the 
question of unmet demand. It is also desirable to address...  

 latent demand, for example people who have responded to long waiting times 
by not even trying to travel by taxi. This can be assessed by surveys of people 
who do not use taxis, perhaps using stated preference survey techniques.  

 peaked demand. It is sometimes argued that delays associated only with 
peaks in demand (such as morning and evening rush hours, or pub closing 
times) are not 'significant' for the purpose of the Transport Act 1985. The 
Department does not share that view. Since the peaks in demand are by 
definition the most popular times for consumers to use taxis, it can be strongly 
argued that unmet demand at these times should not be ignored. Local 
authorities might wish to consider when the peaks occur and who is being 
disadvantaged through restrictions on provision of taxi services.  

 consultation. As well as statistical surveys, assessment of quantity 
restrictions should include consultation with all those concerned, including 
user groups (which should include groups representing people with disabilities, 
and people such as students or women), the police, hoteliers, operators of 
pubs and clubs and visitor attractions, and providers of other transport modes 
(such as train operators, who want taxis available to take passengers to and 
from stations);  

 publication. All the evidence gathered in a survey should be published, 
together with an explanation of what conclusions have been drawn from it and 
why. If quantity restrictions are to be continued, their benefits to consumers 
and the reason for the particular level at which the number is set should be set 
out.  

 financing of surveys. It is not good practice for surveys to be paid for by the 
local taxi trade (except through general revenues from licence fees). To do so 
can call in question the impartiality and objectivity of the survey process.  

Quite apart from the requirement of the 1985 Act, the Department's letter of 16 
June 2004 asked all local licensing authorities that operate quantity restrictions to 
review their policy and justify it publicly by 31 March 2005 and at least every three 
years thereafter. The Department also expects the justification for any policy of 
quantity restrictions to be included in the five-yearly Local Transport Plan process. 

 

28



 

 

 

Brighton and Hove City Council 
Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 

September 2022 
 

29



  

30



 

 

i Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

 

Executive Summary 
This Survey of demand for hackney carriage services has been undertaken on 
behalf of Brighton and Hove following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT Best 
Practice Guidance document, and all relevant case history in regard to unmet 
demand. This Executive Summary draws together key points from the main 
report that are needed to allow a committee to determine from the facts 
presented their current position in regard to the policy of limiting hackney 
carriage vehicle licences according to Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act. It 
is a summary of the main report which follows and should not be relied upon 
solely to justify any decisions of a committee but must be read in conjunction 
with the full report below. 

This latest in the regular series of reviews of the level of unmet demand in the 
Brighton and Hove licensing area was undertaken between February and 
August 2022. This review has included a test of demand in Spring as well as 
the main test undertaken at the same time as in the previous survey and has 
specifically considered the policies of increasing WAV levels and managed plate 
growth in addition to the more usual standard brief. 

The authority continues to support development of the licensed vehicle fleet 
as an important part of the transport offer of the area. The overall industry 
structure allows a lot of freedom in operating models but as a result is very 
complex. The present policies and procedures around the managed growth see 
the authority in an excellent position to react to growth or decline more 
appropriately than many other areas around the country. 

Estimated weekly passenger demand at ranks continues to decline survey on 
survey. However, even with the pandemic the current picture suggests a 
slowing of the decline given there was 28% decline 2015 to 2018 and 25% in 
the four years to the latest survey. However, as before, the picture is of the 
larger ranks generally growing and smaller ones declining, with some notable 
exceptions. The impact of reduced national rail patronage remains noticeable 
at both stations.  

The area continues to see rank activity at some location in nearly every hour 
of the week. The hackney carriage fleet continues to be active in plying for 
hire, often covering several quiet locations by passing by regularly. The 
changes in both demand and supply resulting from the ongoing ‘churn’ 
instigated by the pandemic, Brexit and current world political instability have 
led to unmet demand levels increasing despite falling overall demand. 

 

31



 

 

ii Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

One notable rank usage increase is at the Hospital rank. 

Observed levels of service were found to be provided by around 45% of the 
fleet on the busiest, Saturday (actually a marginal increase from 2018). The 
same observations found 69% of observed licensed vehicles being local 
hackney carriages, 15% local private hire but 16% out of town vehicles. In 
2018 75% were local hackney carriages. 

A key value from the public interviews is that latent demand levels have 
reduced despite the increased levels of unmet demand. This, along with 
excellent reviews of elements of the service provided, suggests confidence in 
waiting at a rank or continuing to hail, is increased. 

The trade remains very responsive to assisting the study, both from the 
individual and from the trade body / company levels. However, responses were 
dominated by concerns about the future of the industry and in particular 
concerns regarding the continued level of out of town operations very visible 
to them. However, there is some evidence from the public that their shift to 
app-based operations, particularly national ones, has reduced. 

Levels of WAV activity remain higher at ranks than the actual proportion in the 
fleet. However, the level of observed wheel chair-based passengers remained 
similar to the levels in the last two surveys and relatively low. This is despite 
the area having unrivalled levels of WAV in both hackney carriage and private 
hire fleets for an area that retains a mixed vehicle fleet and does not have a 
mandatory policy. 

The observed levels of unmet demand imply that the managed growth needs 
to continue at its present level to assist with the re-balancing of supply and 
demand that is still ongoing after the major shocks of the recent years to what 
was a well attuned operation. 

There is strong need for the demand policy to be assisted by other elements 
of the authority with specific reference to ensuring zero tolerance of abuse of 
hackney carriage ranks which is a public safety concern and has an impact on 
the ability of the trade to adequately meet demand.  

Soft elements of the licensed vehicle operation also need developing such as 
much stronger marketing of the Brighton and Hove licensed vehicle brand and 
increased focus on honest and open customer feedback and trade liaison in 
narrowing any gap between public expectation and trade delivery. A large 
number of good aspects of the present service need to be regularly put in the 
public domain whilst trade willingness to continually improve service needs to 
be both developed but also appreciated by those able to do so. 

32



 

 

iii Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ..................................................    i 

Contents ........................................................................    iii 

1 General introduction and background ...........              1 

2 Local background and context ....................... ….                 11 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys)         23 

4 General public views .............................................          33 

5 Key stakeholder consultation ............................          39 

6 Trade stakeholder views .....................................          43 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance        51 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions          63 

9 Recommendations .................................................          75 

 

  

33



  

34



 

 

1 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

1 General introduction and background 
Brighton and Hove City Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney 
carriage and private hire vehicles operating within the Council area and is the 
licensing authority for this complete area. Further details of the local 
application of Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act with regard to limiting 
hackney carriage vehicle numbers is provided in further Chapters of this report. 
Hackney carriage vehicle licences are the only part of licensing where such a 
stipulation occurs and there is no legal means by which either private hire 
vehicle numbers, private hire or hackney carriage driver numbers, or the 
number of private hire operators can be limited without revision to primary 
legislation.  

This review of current policy is based on the Best Practice Guidance produced 
by the Department for Transport in April 2010 (BPG). It seeks to provide 
information to the licensing authority to meet section 16 of the Transport Act 
1985 “that the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence may be refused if, 
but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there is no significant 
demand for the services of hackney carriages within its local area, which is 
unmet.” This terminology is typically shortened to “no SUD”. 

Current hackney carriage, private hire and operator licensing is undertaken 
within the legal frameworks first set by the Town Polices Clause Act 1847. This 
has been amended and supplemented by various following legislation including 
the Transport Act 1985, Section 16 in regard to hackney carriage vehicle limits, 
and by the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 with reference 
to private hire vehicles and operations. Many of the aspects of these laws have 
been tested and refined by other more recent legislation and more importantly 
through case law.  

Beyond legislation, the experience of the person in the street tends to see both 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles both as ‘taxis’ – a term we will try 
for the sake of clarity to use only in its generic sense within the report. We will 
use the term ‘licensed vehicles’ to refer to both hackney carriage and private 
hire. 

The legislation around licensed vehicles and drivers has been the subject of 
many attempts at review. The limiting of hackney carriage vehicle numbers 
has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive 
practice and against natural economic trends. The three most recent reviews 
were by the Office of Fair Trading in 2003, through the production of the BPG 
in 2010, and the Law Commission review which published its results in 2014. 
None of these resulted in any material change to the legislation involved in 
licensing. 

 

35



 

 

2 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The upshot of all these reviews in respect of the principal subject of this survey 
is that local authorities retain the right to restrict the number of hackney 
carriage vehicle licenses. The Law Commission conclusion included retention 
of the power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers but utilizing a public 
interest test determined by the Secretary of State. It also suggested the three- 
year horizon also be used for rank reviews and accessibility reviews. However, 
there is currently no expected date either for publication of the Government 
response to the Law Commission, nor indeed any plans for revisions to 
legislation. 

A more recent restriction, often applied to areas where there is no ‘quantity’ 
control felt to exist per-se, is that of ‘quality control’. This is often a pseudonym 
for a restriction that any new hackney carriage vehicle licence must be for a 
wheel chair accessible vehicle, of various kinds as determined locally. In many 
places this implies a restricted number of saloon style hackney carriage 
licences are available, which often are given ‘grandfather’ rights to remain as 
saloon style. 

Within this quality restriction, there are various levels of strength of the types 
of vehicles allowed. The tightest restriction, now only retained by a few 
authorities only allows ‘London’ style wheel chair accessible vehicles, restricted 
to those with a 25-foot turning circle, and at the present time principally the 
LTI Tx, the Mercedes Vito special edition with steerable rear axle, and the 
Metrocab (no longer produced). Others allow a wider range of van style 
conversions in their wheel chair accessible fleet, whilst some go as far as also 
allowing rear-loading conversions. Given the additional price of these vehicles, 
this often implies a restriction on entry to the hackney carriage trade. 

Some authorities do not allow vehicles which appear to be hackney carriage, 
i.e. mainly the London style vehicles, to be within the private hire fleet, whilst 
others do allow wheel chair vehicles. The most usual method of distinguishing 
between hackney carriages and private hire is a ‘Taxi’ roof sign on the vehicle, 
although again some areas do allow roof signs on private hire as long as they 
do not say ‘Taxi’, some turn those signs at right angles, whilst others apply 
liveries, mainly to hackney carriage fleets, but sometimes also to private hire 
fleets. 

The current Brighton policy provides a ‘mixed’ hackney carriage vehicle fleet 
containing a good proportion of both fully wheel chair accessible vehicles of a 
range of styles as well as saloon vehicles. The fleet is also relatively highly 
related to company operations as well as the traditional owner-driver hackney 
carriage operator. Many hackney carriages are therefore also available by 
telephone links. 

 

36



 

 

3 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Testing for unmet demand 
After introduction of the 1985 Transport Act, Leeds University Institute for 
Transport Studies developed a tool by which the level of ‘unmet demand’ could 
be evaluated and a determination made if this was significant or not. The tool 
was taken forward and developed as more studies were undertaken. Over time 
this ‘index of significance of unmet demand’ (ISUD) became accepted as an 
industry standard tool to be used for this purpose. Some revisions have been 
made following the few but specific court cases where various parties have 
challenged the policy of retaining a limit.  

Some of the application has differed between Scottish and English authority’s. 
This is mainly due to some court cases in Scotland taking interpretation of the 
duty of the licensing authority further than is usual in England and Wales, 
requiring current knowledge of the status of unmet demand at all times, rather 
than just at the snap-shot taken every three years.  

The DfT asked in writing in 2004 for all licensing authorities with quantity 
restrictions to review them, publish their justification by March 2005, and then 
review at least every three years since then. In due course, this led to a 
summary of the government guidance which was last updated in England and 
Wales in 2010 (but more recently in Scotland). During the pandemic the DfT 
suggested that the three year period could be relaxed to avoid obtaining 
information which was too severely skewed but did not provide any rationale 
or explanation of this guidance. 

The BPG in 2010 also provided additional suggestions of how these surveys 
should be undertaken, albeit in general but fairly extensive terms. A key 
encouragement within the BPG is that “an interval of three years is commonly 
regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys”. BPG suggests 
key points in consideration are passenger waiting times at ranks, for street 
hailings and telephone bookings, latent and peaked demand, wide consultation 
and publication of “all the evidence gathered”.  

The most recent changes in legislation regarding licensed vehicles have been 
enactment of the parts of the Equality Act related to guidance dogs (sections 
168 to 171, enacted in October 2010), the two clauses of the Deregulation Act 
which were successful in proceeding, relating to length of period each license 
covers and to allowing operators to transfer work across borders (enacted in 
October 2015), and most recently enactment of Sections 165 and 167 of the 
Equality Act, albeit on a permissive basis (see below). 2022 also saw two 
further Acts added to Royal Assent – the “Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles 
(Safeguarding and Road Safety Act) (31 March 2022)” and the “Taxis and 
Private Hire Vehicles (Disabled Persons) (28 June 2022)”. 

 

37



 

 

4 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

In November 2016, the DfT undertook a consultation regarding enacting 
Sections 167 and 165 of the Equality Act. These allow for all vehicles capable 
of carrying a wheel chair to be placed on a list by the local council (section 
167). Any driver using a vehicle on this list then has a duty under section 165 
to:  

- Carry the passenger while in the wheel chair 
- Not make any additional charge for doing so 
- If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat to carry the wheel 

chair 
- To take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is 

carried in safety and reasonable comfort  
- To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required 

This was enacted from April 2017. 

The two new 2022 Acts make small but significant changes. The first makes it 
mandatory for any licensing authority in England that has information about a 
taxi or phv driver licensed by another authority that is relevant to safeguarding 
or road safety concerns in its area to share that information with the authority 
that issued that drivers licence, whilst the second amends the Equality Act to 
place duties on taxi and phv drivers and operators such that any disabled 
person has specific rights and protections to be transported and receive 
assistance when using a taxi or phv without being charged extra.  

Unmet Demand Case History  
In respect to case law impinging on unmet demand, the two most recent cases 
were in 1987 and 2002. The first case (R v Great Yarmouth) concluded 
authorities must consider the view of significant unmet demand as a whole, 
not condescending to detailed consideration of the position in every limited 
area, i.e. to consider significance of unmet demand over the area as a whole. 

R v Castle Point considered the issue of latent, or preferably termed, 
suppressed demand consideration. This clarified that this element relates only 
to the element which is measurable. Measurable suppressed demand includes 
inappropriately met demand (taken by private hire vehicles in situations legally 
hackney carriage opportunities) or those forced to use less satisfactory 
methods to get home (principally walking, i.e. those observed to walk away 
from rank locations).  

 

 

 

38



 

 

5 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

In general, industry standards suggest that the determination of conclusions 
about significance of unmet demand must take into account the practicability 
of improving the standard of service through the increase of supply of vehicles. 
It is also important to have consistent treatment of authorities as well as for 
the same authority over time, although apart from the general guidance of the 
BPG there is no clear stipulations as to what this means in reality. 

Deliberation of overall taxi policy 
During September 2018 the All-Party Parliamentary Group on taxis produced 
its long-awaited Final Report. There was a generally accepted call for revision 
to taxi licensing legislation and practice, including encouragement for local 
authorities to move towards some of the practical suggestions made within the 
Report. However, the Report has no legislative backing and the key conclusion 
was that the Government needed to act firstly to revise the 2010 BPG but then 
to move to revisions to primary legislation as soon as practicable. Despite some 
opposition from members of the group, the right to retain limits on hackney 
carriage vehicle numbers was supported, with many also supporting adding a 
tool which would allow private hire numbers to be limited where appropriate, 
given reasonable explanation of the expected public interest gains. 

During the early part of 2022, the Department for Transport opened a 
consultation on revising the remainder of the Best Practice Guidance 2010 not 
amended by the issue of the “Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards” (STPHVS) in July 2020. This consultation ran through April, May 
and June 2022 but has not yet seen any response from the DfT. It included 
suggestion of need for rank review and accessibility review on a similar three-
year time frame to that retained for demand surveys. However, apart from 
general comments again discouraging regulation, no change to the 
requirements for or regarding unmet demand studies was envisaged.  

Conclusion to chapter 
In conclusion, the present legislation in England and Wales sees public fare-
paying passenger carrying vehicles firstly split by passenger capacity. All 
vehicles able to carry nine or more passengers are dealt with under national 
public service vehicle licensing. Local licensing authorities only have 
jurisdiction over vehicles carrying eight or less passengers.  

These are split between hackney carriages which are alone able to wait at 
ranks or pick up people in the streets without a booking, and private hire who 
can only be used with a booking made through an operator. If any passenger 
uses a private hire vehicle without such a properly made booking, they are not 
generally considered to be insured for their journey. 

 

39



 

 

6 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Drivers can either be split between ability to drive either hackney carriage or 
private hire, or be ‘dual’, allowed to drive either kind of vehicle (or in some 
cases a mixed set of conditions, e.g. hackney carriage drivers being able to 
drive either whilst private hire cannot drive hackney carriage). Whilst a private 
hire driver can only take bookings via an operator, with the ‘triple-lock’ 
applying that the vehicle, driver and operator must all be with the same 
authority, a hackney carriage driver can accept bookings on-street or by phone 
without the same stipulation required for private hire.  

For Brighton and Hove, drivers can choose either to have a private hire only 
driving licence or one that allows them to drive both hackney carriage and 
private hire (although not termed a dual licence per se). This structure mirrors 
the vehicle in that a hackney carriage can be used for bookings whereas private 
hire can only be hired with a pre-booking. 

Recent legislation needing clarification has some operators believing they can 
use vehicles from any authority as long as they are legally licensed as private 
hire. At first, under the ‘Stockton’ case, this was hackney carriages operating 
as private hire in other areas (cross-border hiring). More recently, under the 
Deregulation Act, private hire companies are able to subcontract bookings to 
other companies in other areas if they are unable to fulfil their booking, but 
the interpretation of this has become quite wide. 

The ‘triple lock’ licensing rule has also become accepted. A vehicle, driver and 
operator must all be under the same licensing authority to provide full 
protection to the passenger. However, it is also accepted that a customer can 
call any private hire company anywhere to provide their transport although 
many would not realise that if there was an issue it would be hard for a local 
authority to follow this up unless the triple lock was in place by the vehicle 
used and was for the area the customer contacted licensing. 

Further, introduction of recent methods of obtaining vehicles, principally using 
‘apps’ on mobile phones have also led to confusion as to how ‘apps’ usage sits 
with present legislation. This continues to be debated with the key issue being 
if obtaining a vehicle using an app (most of which rely on proximity to choose 
a vehicle) is a pre-booking or not, given the often minimal time between the 
person making known their need on the app and a vehicle meeting that need. 

There is also strong current pressure on licensing authorities to work with the 
environmental sections of their authorities in order to assist in the reduction 
of vehicle emission issues within Government guidelines. 

 

 

40



 

 

7 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Whilst there are a number of authorities now mandated to introduce Clean Air 
Zones, other authorities presently do not have such stipulation although there 
remains strong pressure on health grounds to take action. Given that many 
hackney carriages, and particularly the larger ones including those that are 
wheelchair accessible, were encouraged to use diesel vehicles, which are now 
seen as the more critical contributors to the worst elements of air pollution, 
often there is strong pressure to see reduced emissions from the overall 
licensed vehicle fleet. A Greater-Manchester wide review of clean air is 
currently on hold, pending agreement of a new Direction by Government and 
it appears that other clean air developments are also being put back. 

All these matters can impact on hackney carriage services, their usage, and 
therefore on unmet demand and its significance. 

Coronavirus 
The serious Covid-19 virus took hold in the UK during March 2020. Whilst life 
carried on almost as normal until mid-March, formal lockdown was applied 
from Tuesday 24th March 2020 until further notice. Significant reductions in 
movement had begun to bite from the previous week. The last dates in 2020 
when on-street and rank surveys occurred were effectively Sunday 16th March 
2020.  

The lockdown began to be eased on 13th May 2020 with people encouraged to 
return to work if they were not able to work from home. Restrictions on outdoor 
exercise, golf courses, tennis courses and socialising at distance, with restart 
of construction also allowed. From 15th June, bars, restaurants and 
hairdressers were allowed to return to a ‘new normal’. The next wave of 
easement occurred on 4th July 2020. 

However, a range of different re-restrictions were applied in various locations 
as cases began to rise again. Schools were re-opened in September, but a new 
‘rule of six’ was introduced shortly after reducing the ability of people to 
socialise as rates of infection rose again, together with a 22:00 close time for 
all hospitality venues. In general, new restrictions tended to be introduced with 
a few days lead in but this ended with a new lockdown from Thursday 5th 
November ending on Wednesday 2nd December that year. 

After that, new Tiers were introduced and then again another national 
lockdown from early January 2021 but with the start of vaccinations providing 
some hope of an eventual overcoming of the impacts of the virus. 

 

 

41



 

 

8 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

As levels of vaccination increased and infection / hospitalisations and deaths 
reduced, a new road out of lockdown was announced and implemented. The 
final stage, removal of most English restrictions, was delayed about a month 
but was finally instigated towards the end of July 2021. The Government focus 
has since then been on ‘coping with the virus’ although as Winter has 
progressed infection levels have tended to move upwards.  

Later in Winter 2021 appearance of a new variant led to further concern and 
encouragement to partake in a booster vaccination programme as well as 
taking further care about interaction. Mask wearing was returned to being a 
legal requirement at the start of December 2021 in many, but not all of the 
previous circumstances. The situation around Christmas 2021 was very tense. 
Working from home was reinstated towards the end of 2021. 

Early 2021 saw more confidence that the ‘omicron wave’ could be survived 
although in early January there was pressure on many industries arising from 
staff isolating. Various methods were being considered to minimise the impact 
of need to self-isolate. By the end of February all legal restrictions in England 
were removed with the focus clearly moving to ‘living with the virus’ although 
unintended consequences of rising fuel and other prices from the reopening of 
the economy were also exacerbated by the current issue of the Ukraine 
occupation. At the time of writing this report (early September 2022) there 
was a high level of infection but the link between infection and serious illness 
appeared to have been broken, although the need to keep levels of immunity 
to severe disease may well lead to further immunisation as time proceeds. 
Another booster injection was starting to be rolled out. 

Overall, the pandemic led to a significant period of lack of business for both 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, in various ways as the pandemic 
developed. Some of the impacts of this are discussed in public and driver 
attitude chapters below, as well as review of impact on demand in the rank 
chapter. More significant was the reappraisal of many as to their involvement 
with the industry, and the general job market churn that was instigated not 
just in the taxi arena. In many areas there is clear knowledge that many who 
planned to retire brought that date forward whilst others found that the 
certainty of income from delivery driving was preferable to the vagaries of taxi 
passenger demand. Yet others found the shortage of private hire drivers meant 
more requirement on hackney carriages in the daytime, in turn meaning they 
could earn more in the week, and not be reliant on servicing less-preferable 
customers in the early hours of Saturday and Sunday.  

A further issue we have observed is that even pubs, restaurants and night 
venues are now reducing their opening hours or days in reaction to rising costs 
and staff shortages. This can lead to taxi demand in an area becoming peaky 
or peakier with such change. 

42



 

 

9 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Further, the impacts of the developing war in Ukraine and other economic 
changes partly arising from Brexit is again putting pressure on costs of 
providing licensed vehicle services.  Rising fuel prices have also added to the 
issues. The days when the main aim of a demand survey was checking if 
passenger demand had changed to see if supply remained sufficient have now 
been replaced by a much wider research need to identify both demand and 
supply side changes. Even long-standing areas with limited hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers have been impacted by having spare hackney carriage vehicle 
licences available for the first time in decades. 

43



 

 

10 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

  

44



 

 

11 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

2 Local background and context 
Key dates for this Survey of demand for hackney carriage services for Brighton 
and Hove are: 

- appointed LVSA in November 2021 
- in accordance with our proposal of October 2021 
- as confirmed during the inception meeting for the survey held on 16th 

November 2021 
- this survey was carried out between December 2021 and September 

2022 (to allow for extended public consultation) 
- On street pedestrian survey work occurred in July / August 2022 
- the video rank observations occurred in March and May 2022 
- Licensed vehicle driver opinions and operating practices were canvassed 

by discussion with trade representatives (and an invite to all trade 
groups to provide input), and an all-driver questionnaire issued by the 
Council in paper format but returned to us either in paper or by use of 
an on-line portal (done well in advance of the main rank survey to allow 
revision of rank coverage if necessary) 

- Key stakeholders were consulted throughout the period of the survey 
- A much more detailed WAV-user survey (as already used for several 

other authorities recently) was circulated by council representatives in 
July and reiterated in late August) 

- A draft of this Final Report was reviewed by the client during September 
2022 

- and reported to the appropriate Council committee following acceptance 
of the full Report. 

For the sake of clarity, it should be noted that LVSA – Licensed Vehicle Surveys 
and Assessment is a joint trading name for CTS Traffic and Transportation Ltd 
(CTS) and Vector Transport Consultancy, a name used since early 2017. The 
2015 survey was undertaken by the same Project Manager as this study, but 
with CTS working as sub-contractors to Peter Brett and Associates (PBA) due 
to contractual arrangements by the Council at that time. The 2018 survey was 
undertaken directly by CTS alongside rebuttals for a challenge of the limit 
policy. The 2022 survey was delayed a year from the usual three-year Best 
Practice Guidance horizon to allow for settling down after the worst ravages of 
the pandemic.  

Brighton and Hove City Council is a unitary authority formed in 1997 and 
granted City status in 2001. It is within the former East Sussex county area of 
Southern England. The authority has a current population of 277,200 from the 
initial results of the 2021 census (raw 2021 values).  

45



 

 

12 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

This is lower than the 296,729 estimate for 2021 based on 2011, the 291,200 
using the 2018 estimates currently available from the 2011 census and the 
281,100 quoted during the 2015 survey. It is not clear why this fall in 
population has been recorded. 

In terms of background council policy, Brighton and Hove City Council, with its 
unitary status has full control over background planning, transport and 
highway policy and activities. This means the council retains full control over 
provision of ranks, albeit within the highways section of the Council. 

The LTP adopted by the City in March 2015, known as LTP4, remains current, 
as it was in 2015/2018, providing a long-term strategy for delivering transport 
improvements ahead to 2030. At this time, the fifth LTP (LTP5) is being 
developed but not yet approved. Consultation on LTP5 was undertaken in 
Autumn 2021 but there is no reference to when the document will be formally 
taken on board. 

The preparatory surveys for LTP4 sought identification of aspects important to 
people. 2.4% of respondents said that local taxis were the most important 
service to them. Less than 1% suggested they were most in need of 
improvement, suggesting a valued and appreciated service. During the course 
of this survey no evidence has been found to doubt this conclusion. 

The City considers taxi ranks as one of a number of key vehicle/people 
interchanges which need investment to enhance neighbourhoods and 
destinations for people for whom there are key delivery programmes.  

The LTP4 reference pages have a taxi link which points the reader to the main 
Council taxi website and the various documents allied to that operation. This 
includes reference to the Hackney Carriage Accessibility Policy as well as other 
information pages about the full licensed vehicle operations of the Council. 

Brighton and Hove City has full powers over licensing the vehicles, drivers and 
operators serving people within their area. Brighton and Hove Council has 
chosen to utilize its power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers, and as 
far as we are aware has done so since 1986. It is one of the most rigorous 
councils with respect to undertaking reviews of its unmet demand policy, with 
previous tests undertaken and available from 2018 right back to 2003. 

 

 

 

 

46



 

 

13 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

By drawing together published statistics from both the Department for 
Transport (D) and the National Private Hire Association (N), supplemented by 
private information from the licensing authority records (C), recent trends in 
vehicle, driver and operator numbers can be observed. The detailed numbers 
supporting the picture below are provided in Appendix 1. Due to the 
comparative size, the operator figures are shown in the second picture. The 
current managed growth policy sees five extra hackney carriage licences 
issued each year, with the latest tranche apparently taking longer to be added 
to the fleet than in previous years. 

47



 

 

14 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

 

 

Licensing Statistics from 1994 to date 

444 459 459 459 479 479
513 528 528 535 540 545 550 555 565 570 575 575 580 585 589 590 590

352
328

397
429

470
444

614

466 469
444 432 449 452 467 450 455

490 490

401 394 395 395

811
787

856
908

949 957

1142

994 1004 984 977 999 1007
103210201030

10651070

986 983 985 985

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

Brighton and Hove licensed vehicles and 
drivers

hcv phv lv total hcd phd dd total d

48



 

 

15 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The graph demonstrates the steady growth of hackney carriage vehicle 
numbers under the managed growth policy. This has seen an increase in the 
fleet of some 29% from 1997 to date. During that same period, private hire 
vehicle numbers, which cannot be limited and in theory should represent the 
market have grown 12%, although they did have a possible peak much higher 
in 2009, although that might be a statistical error (but that had seen 74% 
growth, the next highest value reached, in 2019 saw 39%). Private hire vehicle 
numbers had grown since the last survey, but then fell back with pandemic 
impacts, but have more recently remained stable. However, their numbers are 
now very similar to the level in 2001 meaning hackney carriages are now 60% 
of the total Brighton and Hove licensed vehicle fleet.  

However, it is also true that a good number of private hire vehicles operating 
in the area actually are vehicles and drivers from other areas, some working 
on app circuits but others where the local operator also has a base in the other 
area and uses its total fleet to service their total operating area. There is no 
easy way to identify this style of operation given that some trips made by these 
vehicles may be legitimate given the wide geographic impact the City has. 

The major change since 2015 has been the introduction of dual licensing for 
drivers of vehicles. This is shown by the graph with sharp drops for the single 
options but with the overall impact being a drop in the total number on issue 
as duplication has now generally been removed. This therefore gives a much 
better reflection of the actual number of people available to drive the vehicles, 
since before there could be people with two licences, who of course could not 
drive both vehicles at the same time. This change is now complete with no 
hackney carriage only driver licences left on issue (since just after the last 
survey in late 2018). 

Information is also available from these sources to show how the level of wheel 
chair accessible vehicles (WAV) has varied. It must be noted that in most cases 
the values for the private hire side tend to be much more approximate than 
those on the hackney carriage side, as there is no option to mandate for private 
hire being wheel chair accessible.  

In some areas, to strengthen the ability of the public to differentiate between 
the two parts of the licensed vehicle trade, licensing authorities might not allow 
any WAV in the private hire fleet at all. Many authorities with fully wheel chair 
accessible vehicles in the hackney carriage fleet either do not have any such 
vehicles in the private hire fleet, or do not record them, even if they are 
allowed. This is not the case for Brighton and Hove whose records of WAV on 
both sides of the trade are accurate. 

 

49



 

 

16 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

 

 

Operator numbers and levels of WAV provision in the fleet 

The graph above demonstrates a steady decline in the proportion of the 
hackney carriage fleet that are fully wheel chair accessible since the peak of 
51% shown in the 2020 values. However, given the numerical growth in plates 
the actual number of such vehicles has not changed much, being 290 at the 
time of the DfT survey of March 2022. Further information about how this fits 
with national information is provided below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10 11 13 12
16

21
24 23 25

28
31

37
40

45
48 49

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Brighton and Hove
- operators and % WAV in fleets

Operators % hcv WAV % phv WAV

50



 

 

17 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Comparison of levels of WAV with national information 
The DfT statistics provide as consistent as possible information about the 
number of WAV style vehicles in both hackney carriage and private hire fleets 
across England and Wales. Information from the latest available survey (end 
of March 2022) was obtained for the following authorities and compared to the 
available information for Brighton and Hove: 

- Liverpool 
- Manchester 
- Plymouth 
- Newcastle upon Tune 
- Bristol 
- Blackpool 
- Cheltenham 
- Oxford 
- Southend on Sea 
- Portsmouth 
- Southampton 
- Eastbourne 
- Bournemouth Christchurch Poole 

Both the numbers of vehicles and the proportion to each 1,000 persons (using 
information from the latest initial 2021 census population values) were 
compared. These statistics show that Brighton and Hove licensing area at the 
end of March 2022 had one wheel chair accessible hackney carriage for each 
1,000 persons (total) in the authority area. Of the 14 total authorities 
compared, as agreed with the Council, only three others had higher levels of 
hackney carriage WAV, Liverpool (2.9), Manchester (2.0) and Plymouth (1.1) 
being the only ones higher. The average English level was 0.6 wheel chair 
accessible vehicles per thousand population. There were ten others whose level 
of wheel chair accessible (WA) hackney carriages was less – ranging from 0.9 
WA hackney carriages per thousand for both Newcastle upon Tyne and Bristol 
to 0.2 for Eastbourne and the recent Bournemouth, Christchurch Poole 
combined authority. It is interesting that in this comparison, Brighton and Hove 
is the highest ranked authority that has a mixed vehicle style hackney carriage 
fleet, the three above all having 100% WA hackney carriage fleets (as does 
Bristol). 

The regular result of high levels of WA vehicles in the hackney carriage fleet 
can be none in the private hire sector. Liverpool, Plymouth , Newcastle upon 
Tyne and Bristol for example all have very low levels of private hire WA, which 
can be an issue if few hackney carriages ally to private hire booking circuits, 
significant as many people needing adapted vehicles tend to phone to book 
them.  

51



 

 

18 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

In the list compared, Brighton and Hove has the highest level of private hire 
WA at 0.32 per thousand population; four times the English average of 0.08 
and eight times the values for Liverpool and Plymouth. The next highest value 
in the list of 14 compared is Manchester with 0.15. 

This all suggests that Brighton and Hove is well-ahead of other authorities both 
in its current provision of WA hackney carriages and private hire vehicles, 
which suggests per se those needing such vehicles in the area should have a 
better than average provision. In fact, the private hire levels of WA move 
Brighton to third in the quoted list in terms of overall provision of WA in the 
total licensed vehicle fleet (1.4 WA per thousand population).  

However, the total level of licensed vehicles per thousand population for 
Brighton and Hove is 3.6 vehicles, lower than the English average of 4.6 
vehicles. This places Brighton and Hove 9th equal in overall provision. 
Newcastle upon Tyne has the highest level of licensed vehicle provision overall, 
with some 9.2 vehicles. Manchester is second with 7.3 and Liverpool third with 
6.3. All these retain limits on hackney carriage vehicle numbers, with only 
Eastbourne having a higher level overall not having a limit in those authorities 
with better provision than Brighton and Hove.  

Review of limit policy 
Brighton and Hove undertake regular review of its policy to limit hackney 
carriage vehicle numbers in line with the BPG. The previous surveys were in 
2018, 2015, 2012, 2009, 2006 and 2003, one of the best and most rigorous 
reviews of policy across English licensing areas. This rigour is enhanced by the 
fact that all of these reports remain available so that evidence of why the limit 
was retained is fully available to all for their scrutiny and understanding. 

Current fleet structure 
Whilst generally the overall structure of the local licensing industry is fairly 
straight forward, the actual number of specific restrictions on activity are kept 
to a reasonable minimum to allow flexibility of business models for those in 
the licensed vehicle trade. This, however, does lead to significantly complex 
overall structures within the Brighton and Hove City operation. This section 
has used the current driver, vehicle and operator statistics to seek to identify 
present structures, partly to understand the levels of sharing of vehicles. 

Brighton and Hove policy provides a mixed hackney carriage vehicle fleet, with 
both saloon and WAV style vehicles allowed. A wide range of WAV styles are 
allowed, including some rear loading vehicles. Further, there are no restrictions 
on the number of vehicles a person or company can own. Since the last survey 
all hackney carriage driver licences have become effectively dual, whilst some 
retain a pure private hire driver licence that only allows them to drive private 
hire vehicles. 

52



 

 

19 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The key reason for including this analysis in this report is that drivers without 
their own vehicle can often be a high-pressure point for wanting their own 
vehicle, which can put pressure on plates where there is a limit policy. This 
may not relate to classic unmet demand, but more a wish for a person to be 
able to avoid rental fees (but these are replaced by having to take on the full 
costs of vehicle ownership, which are not trivial). It can, however, be purported 
as a reason to remove hackney carriage vehicle limits. It is also important to 
understand the level of vehicles available to those without their own vehicle, 
and to understand how many hackney carriage drivers are pure single vehicle 
owner-drivers. 

The database used from early December 2021 showed the following (compared 
where relevant to July 2018 analysis): 

- 1,010 hackney carriage driver licences also allowing driving of private 
hire vehicles, compared to 1,117 dual drivers in 2018 

- (The 2018 number of 38 hackney only drivers category no longer exists) 
- 205 private hire drivers (down from 286 in 2018) 
- 589 hackney carriage vehicles with 511 owners (no. of vehicles 

increased from 575 in line with managed growth, number of owners 
reduced from 516 in 2018) 

- 394 private hire vehicles with 372 owners (reduced from 452 and 424 
respectively in 2018) 

- 15 operators with three or more vehicles (up from 9 in 2018) 
- A much reduced number of 40 operators with just one or two vehicles 

(was 65-75 in 2018) 
- 57 hackney carriage owners with more than one vehicle (largest three 

have five vehicles) 
- 18 private hire vehicle owners with more than one vehicle (one has nine, 

one 5 and the remainder three or two vehicles). 

As already mooted above, the current English licensed vehicle trade operates 
under a wide range of business models. Brighton and Hove City seeks to 
provide freedom to as many of these models as possible although other 
licensing areas may not be so tolerant, for various reasons. The range includes: 

- Single owner/driver hackney carriage operations 
- Some of whom operate for companies or groups or use apps 
- Single owner/driver private hire operations who also must have an 

operator licence 
- Small companies who may or may not own vehicles 
- Larger companies who may or may not own vehicles, or may have a 

mix, or may operate as a co-operative of owner/drivers 

53



 

 

20 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

At the present time in Brighton and Hove City our evaluation of the database 
suggests some 1,380 different people (or companies) with licences in Brighton 
and Hove related to the licensed vehicle industry (numbers in brackets are 
from the 2018 analysis): 

- 348 people with hackney carriage vehicles and dual driver badges (353) 
- 131 people with private hire vehicles and private hire driver badges 

(172) 
- 176 people with private hire vehicles and dual driver badges (137) 
- 17 people with a private hire vehicle, a private hire drivers’ badge and 

an operator licence, one of whom has a larger operator licence (21) 
- 446 dual drivers without vehicles (578) 
- 54 private hire drivers without vehicles (63) 
- A range of other mixtures of ownership, driver and operator groupings 
- (the category of hackney carriage vehicle and hackney carriage driver 

badge which had nine in 2018 no longer exists, there were 20 hackney 
carriage drivers without vehicles in 2018, another category that no 
longer exists) 

There are on paper 78 (was 59 in 2018) hackney carriages and 22 (was 28) 
private hire vehicles in multiple ownership (additional to allowing one vehicle 
each that they drive), and therefore clearly available for rent as no-one can 
physically drive two vehicles at the same time (although some people may own 
two vehicles to use at different times for different purposes).  

However, there are around a total of 217 hackney carriages (150 in 2018) and 
41 private hire (115) owned by people who do not have their own driver 
licence. Further, any vehicle already owned and driven can also be made 
available for others to drive.  

This should imply more than enough choice for people wishing to drive a 
vehicle owned by someone else. Our figures suggest there are in the order of 
503 drivers (a big drop from the 660 of 2018) who have a licence to drive but 
who do not own their own vehicle, although this may include some people who 
only drive occasionally, such as business owners who like to retain flexibility, 
or people who have left the trade but have not cancelled their licence. 

Plate issues 
At the present time, Brighton and Hove retains its managed growth policy. This 
means there is an established principle for issue of these plates (and an 
associated waiting list). For the sake of clarity, the outlines of this are provided 
below. 

The waiting list criteria and procedure document was last reviewed in April 
2002. It is an annual list requiring application during the month of March for 

54



 

 

21 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

each effective year running from 1st May to 30th April. The draft list is published 
in April for people to review. The principal criteria is a person must have held 
a Brighton and Hove driver licence. Each application each year will be counted 
as one credit, such that those having applied for longest will have generally 
the highest number of credits. Offer of plates is made to those with the most 
credits with a ballot undertaken if there are more with the highest number of 
credits than the licences on offer. 

If offers are not accepted, the offers proceed down the list to the next highest. 
Each driver has two weeks to accept the offer and reasonable time then to 
licence a vehicle. At present this appears to take around two months from offer 
to plate issue.  

Further discussion of these figures occurs in the synthesis section of the report. 

55



 

 

22 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

  

56



 

 

23 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys) 
As already recorded in Chapter 2, control of provision of on-street ranks in 
Brighton and Hove is in the control of the highway section of the City Council 
itself, which should maximise flexibility in change, although in actuality being 
part of a different part of the Council may still leave issues in getting new 
ranks, particularly as the highway section has the responsibility to oversee the 
full transport requirements of the City. 

With reference to rank provision, discussions were held with the licensing 
section, internet checks were made and the all-driver survey reviewed to 
identify the current active ranks, and to select a suitable sample for the review 
of unmet demand and its significance. Our methodology involves a current 
review both in advance of submitting our proposal to undertake this Survey 
and at the study inception meeting, together with site visits where considered 
necessary. This provides a valid and appropriate sample of rank coverage 
which is important to feed the numeric evaluation of the level of unmet 
demand, and its significance (see discussion in Chapter 7).  

Further, for this study, an initial review was undertaken at the two busiest local 
authority ranks to test if there was any suggestion that levels of unmet demand 
might have become significant since the previous survey. This excluded the 
station rank which needs a separate permit as any unmet demand there cannot 
be easily influenced by the council adding new licences due to the additional 
restrictions and cost. The rationale was that the two busiest ranks would be 
the most likely places that unmet demand might be observed. The comparison 
also covered the two busiest 24-hour periods expected, i.e. from early Friday 
morning through to early Sunday morning. For 2022, East Street was included 
as before, but the second rank chosen was West Street due to the changes to 
the St Peter’s rank that had occurred since 2018 and an initial view that usage 
of that location may have fallen. 

In terms of revisions to rank provision since the last survey, the St Peter’s 
Place rank has moved from the location on the gyratory to the north to a 
purpose-built separated area on the A23 Gloucester Place immediately 
adjacent to St Peter’s Church and much more accessible by pedestrians from 
the nearby shopping area on the western side of the A23. 

Further, the private Station rank is now located at the southern end of 
Stroudley Road, still requiring a private permit, and out from the previous 
location inside the station roof accessed off Queens Road. This change was 
undertaken to provide extra pedestrian circulation space for passengers on the 
main route from the station southwards to central Brighton.  

 

57



 

 

24 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

When rail replacement bus services operate, the rank is moved into the bottom 
end of the adjacent station car park given that buses need a much larger 
turning circle than hackney carriages. This location is also the point that most 
private hire and private vehicles pick up. 

Initial rank activity test 
This initial test, undertaken during March 2022, found expected weekly 
estimated weekly flows which were 16% less at the busiest location. During 
the 119 hours covered over the two sites, just four hours had an average 
passenger delay in the hour over a minute. Overall, just 0.29% of passengers 
experienced a wait, with overall average passenger delay at these two sites 
over the two days of just two seconds. Overall, this suggested any propensity 
towards unmet demand being significant in the area was very likely to have 
reduced, and also provided suggestion that hackney carriage demand overall 
would be reduced in this survey. 
 
However, more detailed comparison at East Street showed that whilst Friday 
24-hour flows (covering 07:00 Friday to 06:59 Saturday) had reduced 9%, 
Saturday equivalents were actually up 81%. The weekly reduction estimates 
uses five times the Friday value hence the overall reduction. This suggests that 
demand for hackney carriages in the area may have trended towards being 
more peaky in 2022 than in 2018. This is further tested and discussed below. 

Full rank surveys 
The full rank survey work was undertaken at a similar time to the previous 
survey, during May 2022. An agreed set of observations were undertaken, 
although to add comfort additional observations were undertaken at sites on a 
‘quick watch’ basis with some of those hours having passenger data included 
into the evaluation to ensure the results were even more robust.  

The table below presents the 2022 results and compares them to available 
information from previous surveys. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

58



 

 

25 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Rank 

Pa
ss

en
g
er

s 
p
er

 
w

ee
k,

 2
0
2
2
 u

rv
ey

 

 

Pa
ss

en
g
er

s 
p
er

 
w

ee
k,

 2
0
1
8
 s

u
rv

ey
 

%
 o

f 
to

ta
l 
d
em

an
d
 

at
 l
o
ca

ti
o
n
, 

2
0
1
8
 

Pa
ss

en
g
er

s 
p
er

 
w

ee
k,

 2
0
1
5
 s

u
rv

ey
 

%
 o

f 
to

ta
l 
d
em

an
d
 

at
 l
o
ca

ti
o
n
 

Pa
ss

en
g
er

s 
p
er

 
w

ee
k 

2
0
1
2
 s

u
rv

ey
 

East Street 12,687 43 10,722 27 14,696 27 6,043 (16) 
Station (private) 6,114 20 14,872 37 21,915 40 15,115 (41) 
Queen Square 2,737 9 2,644 7 2,595 5 2,777 (7) 
West Street 2,221 7 1,800 5 2,710 5 3,370 (9) 
Hove Station 1,888 6 2,143 5 1,717 3 2,093 (6) 
Paston Place 1,548 5 438 1.1 1,402 2.5 1,090 (3) 

St Peter’s Place 1,025 3 3,760 9 4,093 7.5 1,957 (5) 
Norton Road Not included 1,321 3 1,460 2.5 1,202 (3) 

Church Street (informal) / 
Mash Tun (2022) 

729 2 1,085 3 2,626 5 n/a 

Blatchington Road 283 0.9 Not included 
Old Ship 271 0.8 398 1 445 0.8 2,254 (6) 

Brunswick Place 216 0.7 432 1.1 469 0.9 692 (2) 
Palmeira Sq (Church 

Road) 
131 0.2 330 0.8 450 0.8 451 (1) 

Elm Grove Not included 4 0.0 22 0.0 27 (0.0) 
Goldstone Villas Not included n/a  n/a  145 (0.0) 

Total 29,849 39,949  54,600   
Growth from 2018 -25%     

Comparison to previous surveys 

 
From 
2015 

From 
2012 

From 
2006 

From 
2003 

 
 

 

2022 
-45% -20% -35% -

20% 
 

 
29,849 

2018 -27%   +7%   39,949 

2015 
   + 

46% 
+47% 

 
54,600 

2012    -1% -29%  37,216 

2009 
   + 

40% 
+13% 

 
52,542 

2006     +23%  46,308 
2003       37,500 

 

 

59



 

 

26 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The key result from this table suggests a clear reduction in usage of hackney 
carriages at ranks of some 25% since the last survey in 2018 (27% for 2018 
from 2015). This takes observed usage levels to their lowest level ever 
recorded. Interestingly, the survey on survey decline since 2015 has been very 
similar between the last two surveys. This sees the golden survey in demand 
terms as that undertaken in 2015. 

In terms of share between different ranks, the main change has been that East 
Street has actually seen passenger and share growth – now seeing 43% of all 
estimated weekly demand. It has overtaken the station, which has seen a drop 
of some 60% since 2018, although it remains the second largest patronage 
rank with about a fifth of all passengers estimated. 

Both Queen Square and West Street have also seen both actual and share 
growth, though to a lesser extent than East Street. Hove Station has also seen 
decline, but only by 12% which is closer to the level of reduction of rail 
passenger numbers generally following the pandemic.  

The hospital rank has seen significant growth, nearly fourfold, and has moved 
up the rankings to be the sixth highest compared to around ninth place in 
2018. On the contrary, St Peter’s Place has dropped to a third of its 2018 value 
with its share now 3%, rather than 9% in the last survey.  

Consistent with other experience around the country, the three smaller ranks 
have continued to contract in levels of usage. All three (Old Ship, Brunswick 
Place and Palmeira Square) have actually continued decline in each of the last 
three surveys – although the latest levels of reduction are greater possibly due 
to the pandemic.  

All the passenger rank usage information was drawn together to present the 
observed flows in the pictures below: 

60



 

 

27 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

 

It should be noted that this represents only hours actually observed and 
recorded. However, the top five ranks were all observed in full and all ranks 
were observed at least at outline level to understand if they were active or not 
during the Thursday to Sunday observation period.  

The total flow graph shows how flows build up each day but with Saturday the 
busiest overall, Friday second and Thursday the lowest in terms of overall 
flows. The peak total passenger numbers were 659 in the 23:00 hour on the 
Saturday, with previous day peaks being 456 in the 22:00 hour on the Friday 
and just 207 in the same hour on the Thursday. There was also no hour at all 
during our observations from 10:00 Thursday through to the 15:00 hour 
Sunday when there was no passenger flow from a rank somewhere in the 
Brighton and Hove area. The profile above also suggests that the demand for 
hackney carriages in the area is now peaky – with the highest hourly flow being 
3.6 times the average flow over the observed period. This differs from the 
previous survey with Saturday now being significantly busier and Thursday 
much less busy – in the last survey the overall demand profile was not 
considered to be peaky. 

 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15

Thu Fri Sat Sun

Passengers, Brighton and Hove, 2022

61



 

 

28 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

When reviewed, the busiest five ranks account for 89% of the passengers 
observed during the survey period. The earlier table, using factors to produce 
average weekday estimates, suggested the busiest five ranks saw 85% of 
average weekly flows. This arises from one of the ranks seeing most of its 
flows at the weekends and some other ranks providing more regular custom 
through the week albeit at lower levels.   

The graph below presents information from all ranks observed: 

 

Whilst it demonstrates clearly the dominance of East Street for this survey, it 
also shows the Station makes a good contribution despite its declining usage, 
but that West Street provides significant flows, albeit mainly at weekends and 
in overnight hours (although it does see some daytime flows). All the other 
ranks make some contribution to the total, some focussing on more specific 
hours but most generally having a long period of activity. 

Review of the hour by hour total flows across the authority area found no 
period when there was not use of a hackney carriage from a rank at one point 
or another. The picture also clearly shows that most of the smaller-used 
locations are providing more than a nominal contribution, demonstrating 
hackney carriages to be available across the area and over time wherever 
demand exists.  

 

O
ld

 S
hi

p 
2

M
as

h 
Tu

n
H

os
p

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350

1012 18 0 6
12 18 0

6
12

18
0

6
12 16

Thu

Fri

Sat

Sun

Brighton and Hove 2022 passengers by rank and time

Old Ship 2 Palmeira Sq Blatch Rd Norfolk Sq Old Ship

Mash Tun St Pet Ch Hove Stn Queen Sq West St

Hosp Station, priv East St

62



 

 

29 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The station rank no longer has an ability to be shut off when the station is 
closed, although it can be taken out of use (as occurred on the Sunday) to 
allow rail replacement buses to service the station with the rank moved into 
the car park which is often less busy at such times. 

Overall passenger service 
The overall delay information was also reviewed. Of the 714 hours included in 
the passenger usage rank information (analysed in detail), 9% (2% in 2018) 
saw hours with average passenger delay of a minute or more. This covered 
822 passengers, 45% of the overall total travelling in those hours. A further 
16% (7% in 2018) saw average passenger delay that was not zero.  

However, just 33 passengers, in 14 different hours, experienced a wait of 11 
minutes or more for a hackney carriage to arrive at a rank. Given the overall 
high volumes travelling, this is a good service. 

Vehicle activity 
A test was undertaken on the Saturday to identify the level of hackney carriage 
vehicle activity which equated to the service levels provided. During the course 
of our sample observations, some 899 (more than the 444 from 2018) 
separate different vehicle movements were identified. Of these, 69% (75% in 
2018) were actually local Brighton and Hove hackney carriage vehicles. A 
further 15% were local private hire. The remaining identifiable vehicles were 
split between various out of town authorities, although it was not always 
possible to discriminate from where. An approximate split (based on plate 
numbers beyond the local ranges) suggested 3% primarily identified as Uber 
(actual licensing area not identified, but could be locally registered), 7% from 
Lewes and 6% from Chichester. 

Some 620 different Brighton and Hove hackney carriage movements were 
recorded in our sample. These accounted for some 45% of the current valid 
hackney carriage plates on issue at the present time. This suggests that the 
service provided on the Saturday afternoon and evening was covered by less 
than half the fleet. Even allowing for our observations being a sample, this still 
implies there is spare capacity available in the fleet to meet higher demand. 

The level of vehicles active was also reviewed by time period. The table below 
compares the proportion of the fleet observed for each time period, comparing 
this with 2018: 

 

 

 

63



 

 

30 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Time Period 2022 % of fleet 2018 % of fleet 
1415-1515 8 6 
1530-1630 9 8 
1730-1830 10 8 
1900-2000 10 8 
2045-2145 10 10 
2200-2330 7 10 
0000-0100 16 7 
0130-0300 12  

Full periods covered 45 43 
 

This shows that for most periods apart from the 2200 to 2330 that more plates 
were active in 2022 than in 2018. For the 0000 to 0100 period the number 
was significantly increased, although the previous period saw a slight reduction 
in 2022.  

Disability Usage 
For all rank hours for which detailed observations were undertaken, a record 
was made if the vehicle appeared to be a saloon or a wheel chair accessible 
style. 54% (59% in 2018) of all vehicles recorded as local hackney carriages 
appeared to be WAV style – a higher proportion than the 49% in the fleet at 
the time of the survey (up from 48% in 2018). This suggests the WAV style 
fleet tends to be marginally more active at ranks than the saloon style fleet. 

During our survey, just three (six in 2018) people accessed hackney carriages 
at ranks in wheel chairs. This is a moderate level of usage – but lower than 
that seen in 2012 and 2015 surveys. These 2022 examples were at East Street 
and the Station. A further 53 (only 16 in 2018) people were observed to have 
some sort of disability, but not a wheel chair. These people were observed at 
11 different rank locations. This suggests a very good spread of actual usage 
of hackney carriages by those needing either WAV or assistance into vehicles. 

Rank usage by other vehicles 
A review was also undertaken of other vehicle types observed at or near the 
ranks which were watched in detail. During our survey, some 24,321 different 
vehicle movements were logged. Of this total, 87% were actually hackney 
carriage vehicles, suggesting a generally high level of compliance with ranks 
by other vehicles (but lower than the 96% of 2018). Cars abused ranks about 
8% of the time, with some small levels of abuse by goods vehicles, emergency 
services, out of town and local private hire, but not too much overall. The 
increase in car abuse is being seen around the country at the moment given 
that during the pandemic ranks tended to be less-used whilst more people 
used their own private vehicles, finding ranks good places to stop.  

64



 

 

31 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

We observed a good number of cases where hackney carriage drivers did move 
private vehicles on when they found them blocking the ranks. This was 
particularly true at the Mash Tun and Old Ship locations, although in the latter 
location there was clear abuse by people parking for longer periods on the rank 
and heading towards the seafront.  

In this survey, the worst location for seeing out of town vehicles principally 
setting down at or close to ranks was at the Mash Tun location, followed by St 
Peter’s Church, the Old Ship and East Street ranks. 

 

65



 

 

32 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

  

66



 

 

33 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

4 General public views 
It is very important that the views of people within the area are obtained about 
the service provided by hackney carriage and private hire. A key element which 
these surveys seek to discover is specifically if people have given up waiting 
for hackney carriages at ranks (the most readily available measure of latent 
demand). However, the opportunity is also taken with these surveys to identify 
the overall usage and views of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles 
within the study area, and to give chance for people to identify current issues 
and factors which may encourage them to use licensed vehicles more. 

Such surveys can also be key in identifying variation of demand for licensed 
vehicles across an area, particularly if there are significant areas of potential 
demand without ranks, albeit in the context that many areas do not have 
places apart from their central area with sufficient demand to justify hackney 
carriages waiting at ranks.  

These surveys tend to be undertaken during the daytime period when more 
people are available, and when survey staff safety can be guaranteed. Further, 
interviews with groups of people or with those affected by alcohol consumption 
may not necessarily provide accurate responses, despite the potential value in 
speaking with people more likely to use hackney carriages at times of higher 
demand and then more likely unmet demand. Where possible, extension of 
interviews to the early evening may capture some of this group, as well as 
some studies where careful choice of night samples can be undertaken. 

Our basic methodology requires a sample size of at least 200 to ensure stable 
responses. Trained and experienced interviewers are also important as this 
ensures respondents are guided through the questions carefully and 
consistently. A minimum sample of 50 interviews is generally possible by a 
trained interviewer in a day meaning that sample sizes are best incremented 
by 50, usually if there is targeting of a specific area or group (eg of students, 
or a sub-centre), although conclusions from these separate samples can only 
be indicative taken alone. 

It is normal practice to compare the resulting gender and age structure to the 
latest available local and national census proportions to identify if the sample 
has become biased in any way. 

More recently, general public views have been enlisted from the use of council 
citizens’ panels although the issue with these is that return numbers cannot 
be guaranteed. The other issue is that the structure of the sample responding 
cannot be guaranteed either, and it is also true that those on the panel have 
chosen to be there such that they may tend to be people willing to have 
stronger opinions than the general public randomly approached. 

67



 

 

34 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Finally, some recent surveys have placed an electronic copy of the 
questionnaire on their web site to allow interested persons to respond, 
although again there needs to be an element of care with such results as 
people choosing to take part may have a vested interest. 

For this survey, 287 of the target of 300 interviews were obtained. 143 were 
undertaken on a Tuesday in July with the balance of 144 on a Wednesday in 
August. 93 of these were undertaken near Brighton Station. 75 were 
undertaken in Queens Road, 58 in Churchill Square and the remaining 61 in 
George St, Hove. 

The sample contained slightly more males than the latest 2021 census 
proportions suggest (51% compared to 49%) (in 2018 the match to gender 
was exact). The level of the mid-age group in the sample matched the census 
but the lower age group was under-represented (22% compared to 28%) with 
a corresponding over-representation of the older group (37% compared to 
39%). This was reverse to that from 2018 which itself had been similar to 
2015. The strong over-emphasis (56% sample compared to 42% census) for 
the mid-group in 2018 had therefore been rectified, with a better older sample 
also obtained. 

88% (72% in 2018) said they lived in the area – another improvement in this 
latest sample. Those not from the area were mainly BN postcodes, with a few 
further away (one Newcastle and one Australia!)  

For this sample, 32% said they had used a hackney carriage (only) in the past 
three months, with 21% private hire only and 9% saying they had used both 
private hire and hackney carriage. This left 38% who had not used either type 
of vehicle in the last three months. Again, this is a better sample than in 2018 
when a very low 16% told us they had used a licensed vehicle in the last three 
months in the area, compared to 33% in 2015 (62% in 2022).  

The resulting level of trips per person per month was moderate at 1.8 
(compared to 0.49 in 2018 and 1.5 in 2015). The average reduced to 1.4 (0.16 
2018) trips for hackney carriage specific, or 78% (34% in 2018) of the overall 
total, higher than 2018 but still lower than the 87% in 2015. 

The most frequent usage level, with 18% of respondents was once or twice a 
year – for hackney carriages this value was 12% but tempered by the inclusion 
of the ‘can’t remember when I last used’ or ‘can’t remember seeing a hcv in 
this area’ to the hackney carriage element (47%). 

The 47% of people responding who said they could not remember the last time 
they used a hackney carriage (compared to 21% in 2018 and 5% in 2015), 
but a very encouraging just one person (none in 2018) said they could not 
remember seeing one – potentially a result of the livery policy in the area.  

68



 

 

35 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

77% of those interviewed told us how they normally got a licensed vehicle in 
the Brighton and Hove area. 45% (40% 2018) telephoned, 43% (32% 2018, 
36% 2015) used a rank, 9% (19% in 2018) used an app and 3% (6% in 2018) 
hailed. In this survey no-one said they used a freephone (3% in 2018).  

People were asked who they phoned for a licensed vehicle. Of the total answers 
provided, the top two companies both obtained 33% each (in 2018 the top 
company obtained 49%, second 18%, suggesting an evening out of these two 
performances). The next two companies obtained 11% (up from 3% in 2018) 
and 10%, the latter being a national app company (value down from 13% in 
2018). Three other companies obtained 4%, 3% and 2% with two others just 
getting a single mention. This provides more named companies now than in 
2018 with more than a single mention and suggests there has been some 
improvement in peoples’ knowledge and usage of two of the top four named 
since 2018.  

The reduction in quoted use of apps as well as reduction in the company level 
of quoted usage is notable (and should be an encouragement to the local 
trade). The responses suggest only one app company is active.  

63% of those responding provided between one and three rank location names 
they were aware of. 22% named three locations, 21% two and 57% just a 
single location.  

20 separate names were given for the rank locations that people were aware 
of – similar in number to the 22 of 2018. 54% (27%) said Brighton Station, 
20% (17%) said Churchill Square (actually Queen Square), but also called it 
the Clock Tower or Churchill Shopping Centre, 18% East Street (mainly called 
The Lanes but also Castle Square)(well up from the 5% of 2018). 2% of 
mentions were for Hove Town Hall and 2% for the Royal Sussex Hospital / 
Paston Place.  1% mentioned Old Steine and a further 1% Tesco Queens Road. 
Seven other locations gained one mention each, including Hove Station, West 
Street and the Hilton, but also some other uncertain locations such as Brighton 
Town Hall. Some locations mentioned in 2018 (9% for George Street Hove and 
7% for North Street saw no mentions this time.  

A slightly reduced level of 53% (from 60% in 2018) said they would use the 
ranks they had named. Interestingly, 56% of those aware of the railway station 
rank said they did not use it. Only Hove Town Hall rank (60% not using) had 
a higher value for non-use by those quoting it. 41% did not use Queen Square 
and 36% did not use East Street though quoting these. Many of the uncertain 
ranks quoted saw people say they did not use them. On this basis they could 
be places people had seen hackney carriages waiting.  

69



 

 

36 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

All those quoting Paston Place, Hove Station, West Street, Old Steine and the 
Hilton rank said they used these ranks. Lack of mention of many night ranks 
may reflect the daytime nature of the interviews.  

Those interviewed were asked to provide their rating of various aspects of the 
service provided on their most recent licensed vehicle trip. 60% provided their 
views. The graph below provides the results: 

 

As is typical, for all but price, the dominant response was that the service 
received was ‘very good’. There are very few ‘very poor’ responses at all, with 
price being the aspect with the most for both ‘very poor’ and ‘poor’, and the 
least ‘very good’ (although even for this 33% felt price was ‘very good’ and a 
further 35% felt ‘good’). These responses are consistent with those in 2018 
where there were very few responses when people were asked if they had any 
problems with the hackney carriage service in Brighton.  

The only significant comment for those providing further information about 
poor experiences related to the trip being too expensive, with several other 
more specific comments also relating in part to issues of the cost. One person 
said they had an issue that their driver did not appear to like dogs but no 
further information was provided. 

A slightly lower proportion – 57% of those interviewed – told us the matters 
that might encourage them to use hackney carriages or use them more. As is 
usual, the top scoring matter was if the vehicles were more affordable (73%). 
Given this was a stated item people could choose, very few other items were 
then named. The next highest score was for better driver quality (12%) 
followed by more hackney carriages which could be hailed or obtained at a 
rank.  

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

Vehicle Cleanliness

State of Vehicle Repair

Driver Behaviour

Driver Appearance

Driver standard of Hygiene

Driver Professionalism

Driver Knowledge of the Area

Price

Views of Brighton and Hove users

Very good Good Average Poor Very poor

70



 

 

37 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

In the other comments, two people said they would increase usage were the 
vehicles clearly more environmentally friendly. One said if more took card 
payments and one said if the rank was returned to the front of Brighton station. 

In terms of disability, 80% (89% in 2018) said neither they, nor anyone they 
knew, needed any form of adapted licensed vehicle. This was a further 
reduction from the 96% of 2015. Of those responding of need for an adapted 
vehicle, nearly all needed a WAV compared to those needing a different 
adaptation. This is a much stronger request for WAV styles than in 2018. 

The latent demand factor based on people giving up waiting at ranks was 8% 
- much increased from the low level of 1.5% in 2015, but lower than the 8.6% 
of 2018. Checking when people had given up, most had done so recently 
although some were quoting pre-covid experiences.  

The station was the main place people had given up waiting, followed by Queen 
Square. For those giving a response, two thirds said if they failed to get a 
vehicle at a rank they walked away and hailed a vehicle.  

People were asked what activities for which they were totally reliant on use of 
a licensed vehicle. Just 18% responded, although 55% of these said there were 
no such activities. The top response from those giving a specific response was 
a third saying for nights out. 21% said hospital visits, 13% holidays an 8% for 
airport trips. Single mentions were given for musical events, out of town 
events, station journeys, when buses did not turn up or for work.  

78% (70% in 2018) felt there were enough WAV in the Brighton and Hove 
area.  

People were asked how they thought their use of licensed vehicles had changed 
from pre-Covid times. 72% said they used licensed vehicles about the same. 
Whilst 16% said they used hackney carriages less, 3% said they used them 
more, giving a net reduction of 13%. For private hire the values were 3%, 5% 
and plus 2%. 

In terms of looking forward, a higher 77% said their current patterns of usage 
would remain similar. 10% said they expected to use hackney carriages more 
and 4% said less (net 6% gain), whilst for private hire the values were 2%, 
7% and therefore a net 5% gain. 

 

 

 

 

71



 

 

38 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

People were asked what level of importance they gave to various Covid security 
options. Given these responses were in Summer 2022, these remain important 
to people despite the general return to more normality. 65% of those 
interviewed provided response, again confirming these issues remain 
important to people. The graph below presents the results: 

 

Vehicles being cleaned are seen as essential by 49%; followed by the need for 
a screen. Masks for both passenger and driver, and door opening are all equally 
essential for 38% of those responding. However, the not important response 
is always the second highest value suggesting some polarisation of views.  

  

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%

Screen

Doors

Driver Mask

Pass Mask

Veh cleaned

Importance of Covid Security Options

Not important Useful Important Essential

72



 

 

39 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

5 Key stakeholder consultation 
The following key stakeholders were contacted in line with the 
recommendations of the BPG: 

 Supermarkets 
 Hotels 
 Pubwatch / individual pubs / night clubs 
 Other entertainment venues 
 Restaurants 
 Hospitals 
 Police 
 Disability representatives 
 Rail operators 
 Other council contacts within all relevant local councils 

Comments received have been aggregated below to provide an overall 
appreciation of the situation at the time of this survey. In some cases there 
are very specific comments from one stakeholder but we have tried to maintain 
their confidentiality as far as is possible. The comments provided in the 
remainder of this Chapter are the views of those consulted, and not that of the 
authors of this report.  

Our information was obtained by telephone, email, letter or face to face 
meeting as appropriate. The list contacted includes those suggested by the 
Council, those drawn from previous similar surveys, and from general internet 
trawls for information. Our target stakeholders are as far as possible drawn 
from across the entire licensing area to ensure the review covers the full area 
and not just specific parts or areas. 

For the sake of clarity, we cover key stakeholders from the public side 
separately to those from the licensed vehicle trade element, whose views are 
summarized separately in the following Chapter. 

Unfortunately, since Covid, the responsiveness of nearly all key stakeholders 
to non-statutory requests for information has reduced significantly. This is 
particularly true of supermarkets, but also covers most other potential 
stakeholders. However, we have still presented people with the option of 
response as far as practicable, and a none-response might suggest there are 
no pressing issues otherwise people would take their opportunity. Further, key 
stakeholders could also contact licensing sections or the council in general 
about issues but this only very rarely occurs. 

 

 

73



 

 

40 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The only responses received came via the on-line response. Three respondents 
told us all their customers used local taxis. A third asked staff to book a vehicle, 
a third phoned using the premises phone, and a third phoned using their own 
private mobile phones. None of those responding said their customers used 
ranks despite two of the three being aware of ranks they could use. 

Two of the three said they did not get complaints although the other 
respondent said they did, but they did not explain what that was. 

A total of 60 key stakeholders were contacted by email with just one 
responding directly and the three noted above using the on-line form. Whilst 
this level of response is disappointing this is more the new normal. Several 
major stakeholders did not respond at all nor give any reason why they did not 
respond. 

Disability 
One respondent told us their wife was a wheelchair user and that as a couple 
they relied on licensed vehicles to travel to and from central Brighton. The two 
most recent uses saw vehicles arriving 40 minutes late, leading to missing a 
hospital appointment and part of a key family wedding. These two trips had 
both been booked the day before and included phone chasing to the company 
whilst waiting. They have also had significant issues in having to persuade the 
drivers of wheel chair adapted vehicles on ranks to take them – with a good 
number quoting they had medical exemptions from loading wheelchairs into 
their adapted vehicles.  
 
Despite contact being made, and in some cases acknowledged as received, no 
other response returned from any key disability organisation or representative. 
Further contact was made in late August but nothing specific resulted other 
than one claim we had not provided sufficient time nor appropriate ways they 
could respond. 
 
Rail and other transport operators 
National rail statistics are available that summarise total entries and exits from 
each station in the national rail network. The busiest station is identified as 1st, 
with each successive station seeing less patronage. In the latest data available, 
which considers the year ending in March 2021, Brighton has moved up the 
table to be the 22nd (was 28th in the 2017 data) busiest station in the national 
network. Other stations within the Brighton and Hove area are further down 
the list (Hove is 241st, Portslade 482nd (577th), Falmer 527th (477th), Preston 
Park 609th (855th), Moulsecoomb 935th (1,109th) London Road Brighton 937th 
(1029th) and Aldrington 1,227th with around 58,200 departures and arrivals). 

Notably, there are only active ranks at the top two stations. 

74



 

 

41 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The table below shows Brighton station growth over the years the information 
has been available.  

Rail year (ends March in last year 
noted) 

Entries / 
exits 

Growth / 
decline 

Brighton (28th) 
1997 / 1998 7,376,192 n/a 
1998 / 1999 8,309,344 +13% 
1999 / 2000 8,930,344 +7% 
2000 / 2001 9,282,656 +4% 
2001 / 2002 10,153,601 +9% 
2002 / 2003 10,368,208 +2% 
2003 / 2004 Not collected  
2004 / 2005 11,295,080 +9% 
2005 / 2006 11,854,512 +5% 
2006 / 2007 12,853,442 +8% 
2007 / 2008 13,474,555 +5% 
2008 / 2009 13,806,628 +2% 
2009 / 2010 13,741,582 -0.5% 
2010 / 2011 14,493,010 +5% 
2011 / 2012 16,052,520 +11% 
2012 / 2013 16,187,024 +1% 
2013 / 2014 16,940,764 +5% 
2014 / 2015 17,170,740 +1% 
2015 / 2016 17,333,326 +1% 
2016 / 2017 15,993,072 -8% 
2017 / 2018 16,928,728 +6% 
2018 / 2019 17,384,634 +3% 
2019 / 2020 17,355,572 -0.2% 
2020 / 2021 4,149,082 -76% 

 

Not surprisingly, the first full year after the onset of the pandemic saw levels 
of patronage significantly reduced – by some 76%. Years prior to this had seen 
mixtures of decline and growth, with the final year including the first few weeks 
of the pandemic seeing a slight reduction in overall flows. We understand that 
flows nationally are now more like 90% of pre-pandemic but new data 
specifically by location will not be available till November 2022 (for the year 
ending March 2022). 

 
 
 
 
 

75



 

 

42 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Brighton Transport Policy 
A representative from the Transport Policy section of the Council provided the 
following comment: 
 
“The Taxi Trade continues to be engaged with the council’s work on transport 
policy and projects primarily through its Forum and representation on the city’s 
Transport Partnership.   More focused engagement on individual projects takes 
place when required, including locations with taxi ranks.  In particular, in 2021 
the trade was engaged directly as a key stakeholder during the council’s 
consultation on its Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan and its 
emerging Local Transport Plan.   

Since the relocation of Brighton station’s taxi rank to the rear in 2019, NO2 
levels have also improved substantially around Queen’s Road.  In seeking to 
reduce emissions to improve air quality and achieve net-zero carbon by 2030, 
there has been a particular emphasis on working with the trade to enable the 
uptake of electric vehicles.  This has included a significant increase in the 
overall provision of electric vehicle charging points in the city generally, and in 
particular rapid charging points for taxis “. 

 
 
  

76



 

 

43 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

6 Trade stakeholder views 
The BPG encourages all studies to include ‘all those involved in the trade’. 
There are a number of different ways felt to be valid in meeting this 
requirement, partly dependent on what the licensing authority feel is 
reasonable and possible given the specifics of those involved in the trade in 
their area. 

The most direct and least costly route is to obtain comment from trade 
representatives. This can be undertaken by email, phone call or face to face 
meeting by the consultant undertaking the study. In some cases to ensure 
validity of the work being undertaken it may be best for the consultation to 
occur after the main work has been undertaken. This avoids anyone being able 
to claim that the survey work was influenced by any change in behaviour. 

Most current studies tend to issue a letter and questionnaire to all hackney 
carriage and private hire owners, drivers and operators. This is best issued by 
the council on behalf of the independent consultant. Usual return is now using 
an on-line form of the questionnaire, with the option of postal return still being 
provided, albeit in some cases without use of a freepost return. Returns can 
be encouraged by email or direct contact via representatives. Some authorities 
cover private hire by issuing the letter and questionnaire to operators seeking 
they pass them on when drivers book on or off, or via vehicle data head 
communications. 

In all cases, we believe it is essential we document the method used clearly 
and measure response levels. A letter was issued to all drivers, with the option 
to return by post or complete on-line. A total of 261 (149 in 2018) responses 
were received, in the order of a 19% (10% in 2018) response, excellent for 
this kind of survey. This shows a continual increase in the level of response 
from drivers initially shown with a doubling of responses between 2015 and 
2018. Nearly all the responses were via the on-line portal although some were 
printed and posted back to us for manual entry. The responses were provided 
mainly during February 2022, ahead of the main survey work, in order to allow 
some feedback into the design of the main survey work, specifically with 
reference to the rank surveys. 

A check was made of responses to identify any duplication or test comments, 
and just one response was removed. There did not appear to be any duplicates 
or repeated entries. 

 

 

77



 

 

44 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Of those responding, 85% said the licenced vehicle trade was their only or 
main source of income. 6% said they worked part time with other sources of 
income, 5% worked part time with no other source of income, 4% said they 
were not currently working but would return when demand did, and just one 
person said they were not presently working in the licensed vehicle industry 
and had no intention of returning. 

60% (81% in 2018) of respondents said they drove hackney carriages and 
34% (19%, 2018) said private hire (a lower proportion of hackney carriage 
response than in 2015). A further 5% said they drove both hackney carriage 
and private hire with 2% saying they did not drive vehicles.  

48% said their normal work was immediate hire from ranks, 39% immediate 
hire from bookings, 11% from advanced bookings and 2% from chauffer or 
corporate work.  

Overall, the average length of service was 16.6 years (19.5 in 2018), although 
for the hackney element this was marginally higher at 18.1 years (21 in 2018), 
with private hire quoting 14.0 years. Those not driving and those driving both 
were exclude from these specific calculations. These figures suggest that many 
of those with longer experience may have retired now. 

The maximum length of service quoted overall was 47 years (49 in 2018). For 
private hire respondents, the maximum quoted was 35 years. There was at 
least one person who confirmed they had just started working in the industry. 

The number of days worked is shown below:  

No. of days worked % in 2022 % in 2018 
None 11 1 

7 12 8 
6 24 39 
5 33 34 
4 10 10 
3 6 6 
2 3 2 
1 1  

Average 4.6 5 
 

This shows the major change being more now working six days (almost 
doubled) and more not working, with the proportion working seven days up by 
a half. Interestingly, the proportion working 5,4,3 and two days has remained 
remarkably similar. However, overall the average no. of days worked has gone 
down marginally, principally a result of 11% saying they had not worked. 

 

78



 

 

45 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The average hours quoted for working the previous week were just over 39 
(43, 2018) for hackney carriage and 32 (41) for the private hire respondents. 
This is similar to 2015. The maximum hours worked, interestingly for a private 
hire driver, was 74 hours, the same as in 2018 whilst hackney carriages 
maximum was 80 hours. This confirms the previous figures that working hours 
have reduced overall, more so for the private hire sector. 

For 2022, two thirds provided comment about what affected when they 
worked. The top matter was ‘family’ (37% now, 22% in 2018, and increased 
again from 2015 levels). 9% avoided heavy traffic (14% in 2018). 10% (17% 
2018) worked when there was higher demand. 8% said contracts determined 
their shifts whilst 7% said they preferred daytimes. 5% avoided difficult 
passengers, usually avoiding late nights. 3% had times they worked impacted 
by sharing a vehicle (reduced from the 11% of both 2018 and 2015). The 
remaining reasons did not exceed 2% of the total response each (but made up 
12% in total).  

73% (74% in 2018) said they owned and drove their own vehicle.  

A much reduced 20% (was 52% in 2018) said someone else drove the vehicle 
they used. Further, 24% of those saying no-one else drove the vehicle said 
this had changed since pre-Covid times, overall showing that sharing of 
vehicles had reduced due to Covid.  

32% (41% in 2018) said the vehicle was also used by others in the daytime, 
14% (22%) at night, 6% (11%) in evenings, and 28% (8%) simply when they 
were not using it. Various other choices were also given, none of which 
accounted for more than 4% each. 

77% (up from two thirds in 2018) said they accepted pre-bookings, with 24% 
naming one company, 12% another and 23% ‘via office’. 9% used a named 
app and 8% a national app. 3% said ‘app’ but did not name which. Many other 
smaller companies or methods were named, but none accounting for over 2% 
of the total (albeit making 14% of overall responses). 

When asked how people most frequently got their fares, 53% said phone 
bookings, 35% rank, 7% other, 4% school contracts and just 1% hailing. 

44 (slightly less than the 48 of 2018) locations were quoted for use of ranks. 
Many were colloquial or slightly different names. This time ‘town centre’ ‘any 
in town’ or ‘all’ comprised just 1% of responses, compared to 3% saying ‘all’ 
ranks in 2018. The top rank mentioned was East Street, with 20% (21% in 
2018) of responses, followed by Paston Place (hospital) with 10% (5% in 
2018). Queen Square obtained 9% (5% 2018). 8% each said Hove Town Hall, 
Hove Station or St Peters (the latter two the same shares as in 2018).  

79



 

 

46 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Brighton Station reduced from 15% in 2018 to 7% now. West Street saw 
increased quoted level of 7% compared to 5% in 2018. The other locations 
received between 2% and just a single mention. Overall, this suggests a good 
service to a wide range of ranks. Compared to 2018 Paston Place and Queen 
Square both moved up whilst the station lost share (halving). West Street also 
saw some increase. 

86% (88% in 2018) felt there were enough hackney carriages and 90% felt 
there were enough wheel chair accessible vehicles. This covered all 
respondents.   

In 2018, the question was posed if those trade persons responding supported 
the limit (overall) and the managed growth of five plates per year. The answer 
available was yes or no. The results from this in 2018 were generally 
inconclusive and possibly confused given the way the question was worded. In 
2018 53% supported the overall policy and 47% did not with the detailed split 
shown in the table below: 

2018 policy question Agree % Disagree % 
HC Drivers Only 12 14 
HC Owner and Driver 30 25 
Private Hire Driver Only  1 
Private Hire Owner Driver 11 7 
Totals 53 47 

 

As might be expected, those that were hackney carriage drivers only were 
marginally more against whilst hackney carriage owner drivers were more in 
favour, as were private hire owner drivers. The results are not really significant 
either way.  

However, for this survey it was agreed that other issues were both easier to 
obtain views about clearly and more important to understand, whilst re-
wording the question and splitting the limit and managed growth policies in 
separate questions was unlikely to obtain robust answers. There was option 
for any driver to add a comment at any point regarding either element and 
though lots of points were made that the limit prevented further dilution of 
trade, only one comment was received seeking the managed growth be 
switched off. Further discussion of the responses to the question focussing on 
what respondents felt the benefit of the limit was, is given below. 

 

 

80



 

 

47 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Respondents were asked how they thought having a limit on the number of 
hackney carriages benefitted the public. This question is offered in free format 
to give people their opportunity to provide their specific views without being 
led. This does, however, lead to issues in summarising what can be a very 
large range of comments, but overall this is considered better than suggesting 
responses.  

Whilst a good number gave reasons they thought the limit benefitted the 
public, of the 261 respondents, 21% gave no response. This left 205 
responses. Of these 205, 5% said they had no view or the question was not 
relevant (either to them or overall). 24% made comments suggesting they 
disagreed that limits provided any benefit to the public. A further 6% said they 
were not sure what their view was. This leaves 65% of those responding 
considering the limit had a public benefit.  

However, some just reiterated they thought there was a public benefit but 
could not say what (8% of total). One of the strongest points made, in various 
different ways, was that the limit prevented further uncontrolled hackney 
carriage plate growth which they felt would be of harm to the public as it would 
make it harder for those in the trade to make a living and hence service the 
public well.  

7% said the principal public benefit was ensuring congestion did not get any 
worse. The remainder quoted various aspects of service provided – vehicle 
standards, better driver state of mind, provision of a better maintained fleet, 
provision of WAV, keeping fares lower, restraining pollution and not least 
ensuring there was a fixed group of drivers who would therefore have better 
chance of knowing customers or being known by them.  

Whilst 70% of those in favour were hackney carriage drivers, 26% were private 
hire and 4% were those saying they drove both kinds of vehicle. Interestingly, 
within those clearly saying there is no benefit to the public, half were hackney 
carriage, 42% private hire, 4% those that drove both and 4% those that did 
not drive. Some of the hackney carriage drivers saying there were no limits 
made other suggestions which have no legal backing in England, such as 
limiting private hire numbers, or out of town vehicles. One of those saying 
there was no public benefit was a hackney carriage driver who wanted to own 
their own plate but felt they were a long way from the top of the waiting list 
to be able to do so. 

Questions were posed about how drivers felt the pandemic had impacted on 
their businesses. It was clear the impact had been significant and that many 
remained sceptical about the future, though some were more positive. 

81



 

 

48 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Drivers were asked what challenges or barriers they considered there were 
with respect to moving the overall licensed vehicle fleet towards more 
sustainable styles. Again this was a free-format question. 25% provided no 
response. A further 12% responded that they were unsure of their views or on 
what challenges or barriers there might be. A further 8% made various 
comments partly unrelated to the issue – with the largest proportion of those 
being 5% of the total who said that the issue of operation of out of town plates 
needed to be resolved more urgently.  

By far the largest barrier quoted by 43% of those giving an answer was concern 
about the cost. 17% were concerned that the various issues related implied 
reduced viability for the trade. 5% said they felt sustainable vehicles, 
particularly electric ones, were not really practicable for use as taxis, and 4% 
were concerned of the lack of infrastructure.  

For this question, 62% of responses came from hackney carriage, 32% from 
private hire, 5% from those driving both and 1% from those not driving. This 
suggests the issue feels more urgent to hackney carriages. 

Drivers were then asked if they could suggest any support or incentives the 
council could use to overcome those barriers. Again, the response was allowed 
to be free-format to ensure no novel ideas were suppressed.  

Of all respondents, 27% provided no response. A further 13% said they had 
no ideas and 7% that they did not know. 3% gave responses suggesting the 
change was coming too early or was never going to be practicable. Another 
11% gave a range of reasons not making positive suggestions re sustainable 
vehicle introductions but making other comments. In similar vein were 6% 
whose suggestion was that out of town vehicles needed to be stopped first. 

The remaining third made positive suggestions. From the total respondents, 
11% suggested grants whilst 12% said subsidies. 2% suggested more charge 
points, 2% a council EV testing programme and 2% said giving anyone offering 
to put on an EV a hackney carriage plate. The remaining 4% made other 
positive suggestions but that were made by mainly a single person or at most 
two respondents. 

This overall suggests some support, but not strong support, for moving to 
sustainable vehicles. 

A question then sought the views of drivers how others could be encouraged 
to seek licences from Brighton and Hove rather than other authorities. 74% of 
those responding provided a response. Many restated the issue; few could 
suggest appropriate changes. Many thought national legislation would be 
needed whilst some said simplify the process and others thought the main 
issue was the knowledge test.  

82



 

 

49 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Many said Brighton standards, though amongst the highest around the 
country, were appropriate and should not be diluted. One suggestion was that 
use of bus lanes should be for ‘local’ vehicles only but none said how this could 
be enforced. A handful did not feel there was any issue. 

Respondents were allowed to provide final other comments. Just over 51% 
made some form of comment, although 13% of the total said ‘no’ or ‘none’ 
(reducing the actual responses therefore to 38%). Many reiterated views 
already given, although there were two who were complimentary about the 
licensing service and their work. Two mentioned need to resolve the issue of 
the station rank being moved to what they felt was a much less serviceable 
location.  

Overall, the free-format questions demonstrated a wide range of views from 
the current trade. Whilst some were critical and others supportive of the overall 
licensing function, the clear and strong view was that whatever action that 
could be taken re out-of-town vehicles needed to be actioned.  

With reference to changes since the pandemic, 48% of those responding said 
they were aware of drivers that had given up due to the impacts of the 
pandemic. Two drivers said they were aware of 100 who had given up, but 
most responses were between one and five drivers (each getting 14% to 16% 
of the total responses).  

Representatives 
The Brighton and Hove Cab Trade Association provided a written statement.  

They began with a statement confirming that, with the streets and ranks 
clearly well-served, there were enough hackney carriages to serve the city, 
which they pointed out was the main question for any unmet demand survey. 

However, they did recognise the issue of need for more plates was an emotive 
subject particularly for those on the waiting list for a plate compared to those 
that were already proprietors.  

They felt that the current level of 50% WAV style vehicles provided for an equal 
provision for all abilities.  

They pointed out the five plates per year had continued to be issued despite 
many plates being handed back or recorded as ‘off road’ during the pandemic.  

They pointed out that Uber operations were a major impact on both hackney 
carriage and private hire operations in the City. The key issue to BHCTA was 
the continued practice of Uber using out of town registered vehicles and 
drivers. They pointed out this implies these vehicles are beyond their local 
enforcement.  

83



 

 

50 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

They also consider these vehicles are not to the standard required for operating 
in Brighton. They confirm they have reported their concerns and issues to the 
out of town licensing authorities. A further concern is that they believe that 
the condition of having a minimum level of WAV within an operators fleet is 
being thwarted by that element of the app being turned off by some operators. 
They asked for this point to be made in this report. 

They also were concerned about surge pricing being applied by app-based 
private hire. There were concerns about the change of location of the rank at 
the station. They felt the continued issue of managed growth plates should be 
clearly reviewed.  

Further information was provided outlining discussions that were occurring 
regarding how customer service might be improved and the overall concerns 
for the future particularly with reference to some revisions that might reduce 
the potential for impact of out of town vehicles moving forward. These were 
ongoing at the time of writing the report and may be further informed as the 
full content of the report is taken on board. 

 

 

 

  

84



 

 

51 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance 
It is first important to define our specific view about what constitutes unmet 
demand. Our definition is when a person turns up at a hackney carriage rank 
and finds there is no vehicle there available for immediate hire. This normally 
leads to a queue of people building up, some of who may walk off (taken to be 
latent demand), whilst others will wait till a vehicle collects them. Later 
passengers may well arrive when there are vehicles there, but because of the 
queue will not obtain a vehicle immediately.  

There are other instances where queues of passengers can be observed at 
hackney carriage ranks. This can occur when the level of demand is such that 
it takes longer for vehicles to move up to waiting passengers than passengers 
can board and move away. This often occurs at railway stations, but can also 
occur at other ranks where high levels of passenger arrivals occur. We do not 
consider this is unmet demand, but geometric delay and although we note this, 
it is not counted towards unmet demand being significant. 

The industry standard index of the significance of unmet demand (ISUD) was 
initiated at the time of the introduction of section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act 
as a numeric and consistent way of evaluating unmet demand and its 
significance. The ISUD methodology was initially developed by a university and 
then adopted by one of the leading consultant groups undertaking the surveys 
made necessary to enable authorities to retain their limit on hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers. The index has been developed and deepened over time to 
take into account various court challenges. It has now become accepted as the 
industry standard test of if identified unmet demand is significant.  

The index is a statistical guide derived to evaluate if observed unmet demand 
is in fact significant. However, its basis is that early tests using first principles 
identified based on a moderate sample suggested that the level of index of 80 
was the cut-off above which the index was in fact significant, and that unmet 
demand therefore was such that action was needed in terms of additional issue 
of plates to reduce the demand below this level, or a complete change of policy 
if it was felt appropriate. This level has been accepted as part of the industry 
standard. However, the index is not a strict determinant and care is needed in 
providing the input samples as well as interpreting the result provided. 
However, the index has various components which can also be used to 
understand what is happening in the rank-based and overall licensed vehicle 
market. 

 

 

85



 

 

52 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

ISUD draws from several different parts of the study data. Each separate 
component of the index is designed to capture a part of the operation of the 
demand for hackney carriages and reflect this numerically. Whilst the principal 
inputs are from the rank surveys, the measure of latent demand comes from 
the public on-street surveys, and any final decision about if identified unmet 
demand is significant, or in fact about the value of continuing the current policy 
of restricting vehicle numbers, must be taken fully in the context of a careful 
balance of all the evidence gathered during the survey process.  

The present ISUD calculation has two components which both could be zero. 
In the case that either are zero, the overall index result is zero, which means 
they clearly demonstrate there is no unmet demand which is significant, even 
if other values are high. 

The first component which can be zero is the proportion of daytime hours 
where people are observed to have to wait for a hackney carriage to arrive. 
The level of wait used is ANY average wait at all within any hour. The industry 
definition of these hours varies, the main index user counts from 10:00 to 
18:00 (i.e. eight hours ending at 17:59). The present index is clear that unmet 
demand cannot be significant if there are no such hours. The only rider on this 
component is that the sample of hours collected must include a fair element of 
such hours, and that if the value is non-zero, review of the potential effect of 
a wider sample needs to be considered. 

The other component which could be zero is the test identifying the proportion 
of passengers which are travelling in any hour when the average passenger 
wait in that hour is greater than one minute.  

If both of these components are non-zero, then the remaining components of 
the index come into play. These are the peakiness factor, the seasonality 
factor, average passenger delay, and the latent demand factor.  

Average passenger delay is the total amount of time waited by all passengers 
in the sample, divided by the total number of passengers observed who 
entered hackney carriages.  

The seasonality factor allows for the undertaking of rank survey work in periods 
which are not typical, although guidance is that such periods should normally 
be avoided if possible particularly as the impact of seasons may not just be on 
the level of passenger demand, but may also impact on the level of supply. 
This is particularly true in regard to if surveys are undertaken when schools 
are active or not.  

 

86



 

 

53 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Periods when schools are not active can lead to more hackney carriage vehicles 
being available whilst they are not required for school contract work. Such 
periods can also reduce hackney carriage demand with people away on holiday 
from the area. Generally, use of hackney carriages is higher in December in 
the run-up to Christmas, but much lower in January, February and the parts 
of July and August when more people are likely to be on holiday. The factor 
tends to range from 0.8 for December to 1.2 for January / February.  

There can be special cases where summer demand needs to be covered, 
although high peaks for tourist traffic use of hackney carriages tend not to be 
so dominant at the current time, apart from in a few key tourist authorities. 

The peakiness factor is generally either 1 (level demand generally) or 0.5 
(demand has a high peak at one point during the week). This is used to allow 
for the difficulty of any transport system being able to meet high levels of 
peaking. It is rarely possible or practicable for example for any public transport 
system, or any road capacity, to be provided to cover a few hours a week.  

The latent demand factor was added following a court case. It comes from 
asking people in the on-street questionnaires if they have ever given up waiting 
for a hackney carriage at a rank in any part of the area. This factor generally 
only affects the level of the index as it only ranges from 1.0 (no-one has given 
up) to 2.0 (everyone says they have). It is also important to check that people 
are quoting legitimate hackney carriage rank waits as some, despite careful 
questioning, quote giving up waiting at home, which must be for a private hire 
vehicle (even if in hackney carriage guise as there are few private homes with 
taxi ranks outside). 

The issue of private ranks also has to be considered. If there are 
supplementary conditions restraining levels of plates that can be active at any 
rank which are not under the control of the local authority the question of if 
they should be within the ISUD evaluation arises. The key is that if a location 
cannot be directly impacted by the council adding more plates, i.e. when there 
is a third party limit that prevents extra plates servicing that location, then on 
the basis adding plates would make no difference, this site should be taken 
out of consideration. However, performance of that rank (which is often a 
major if not the most important rank in an area) colours the views of the public 
so it does need to be evaluated in some way. 

 

 

 

87



 

 

54 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The ISUD index is the result of multiplying each of the components together 
and benchmarking this against the cut-off value of 80. Changes in the 
individual components of the index can also be illustrative. For example, the 
growth of daytime hour queueing can be an earlier sign of unmet demand 
developing than might be apparent from the proportion of people experiencing 
a queue particularly as the former element is based on any wait and not just 
that averaging over a minute. The change to a peaky demand profile can tend 
towards reducing the potential for unmet demand to be significant.  

Finally, any ISUD value must be interpreted in the light of the sample used to 
feed it, as well as completely in the context of all other information gathered. 
Generally, the guide of the index will tend not to be overturned in regard to 
significant unmet demand being identified, but this cannot be assumed to be 
the case – the index is a guide and a part of the evidence. 

For Brighton and Hove the latest results are shown below, compared to 
previous years: 

Element 

2022 2018 2015 2012 2009 2006 2003 

Council 
only 

With 
station 

 
     

Average wait 
(mins) 

0.22 0.25 0.07 0.05 0.18 0.72 0.73 1.11 

Peak factor 0.5 0.5 1 1 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 

% Queues in 
weekday daytime 

hours 
12 14.9 3.17 14.9 2 7 6 5 

% pass in hours 
with waiting one 
minute or more 

5.1 13.1 0.80 0.88 1.44 5.67 23 35 

Latent demand 1.06 1.08 1.169 1.074 1.224 n/a n/a n/a 

Overall index 6.98 43.82 0.20 0.71 0.32 16 50 97 

 

 

 

 

88



 

 

55 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The table above demonstrates that levels of unmet demand have increased 
since the last survey although the worst case index (including the station) still 
lower than values from 2006 or 2003.  However, in common with other results 
around England, latent demand has reduced although people are experiencing 
longer waits (up to 0.22 minutes for the council only sample, and 0.25 with 
the station included). Interestingly, demand has now returned to being peaky 
after not being thus in 2018. 

This increase in levels of unmet demand has occurred despite a significant fall 
in overall levels of passengers using hackney carriages at ranks. This can partly 
be explained by less vehicles being available arising from driver shortages, but 
there has also been an impact from the apparent shift of demand to focus on 
Saturday night – Sunday morning demand. Such peaks are harder to meet 
with the same level of vehicles.  

The impact of adding in the station rank is significant and worsens overall 
service. However, it must be remembered the extra permit is not in the Council 
control and other than by making representations, there is little that can be 
done in this respect. 

 

 

 

 

  

89



 

 

56 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

8 Disability Considerations 
Recent surveys for Brighton and Hove have always included additional research 
to test if there needs to be a further manged increase in the number of WAV 
style vehicles in the fleet. This is not specifically required as part of the Best 
Practice Guidance and assessments for Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act 
although it is clearly an important element of review of demand, particularly 
as hackney carriages are the only element of the licensed vehicle fleet that can 
have stipulations added legitimately.  

Since the last survey, more tranches of five WAV plates have been issued. This 
takes the current level of hackney carriage licences available to 590, with the 
actual proportion now at 49% of the hackney carriage fleet – some 290 
vehicles. In addition about 23% of the private hire vehicle fleet (89 vehicles) 
are wheel chair accessible by choice.  

Brighton has seen an impressive rise in the level of WAV style vehicles in the 
hackney carriage (and private hire) fleets. In 1997, just 10% of the hackney 
carriage fleet was WAV. By 2011, this had risen to 25%. It is currently 49%. 
This is an almost 3% per year increase, mainly achieved by the requirement 
that all vehicles being replaced must now be WAV style. Since 2019 the private 
hire level has risen, to a peak of 26% in 2021, although it is now marginally 
less at 23%. 

For this survey, an additional on-line questionnaire was circulated by the 
Council to people known to have views regarding disability and the licensed 
vehicle service. This was based on a survey developed by another authority 
and further developed by LVSA with use in several other recent studies. It has 
involved change from feedback both from respondents and from each council 
that we have undertaken the review for. 

It is accepted that on-line responses may not be as accessible to all as is 
preferable, but this survey does provide at least an opportunity for some to 
respond and give the general flavour. As with all these surveys, the principal 
promotion of the survey has been from current council sources, which seems 
to work much more effectively than any other method of identifying 
appropriate samples of people.  

This survey was issued during July and closed in early September. During that 
period various attempts were made to encourage further response, with a total 
of 30 responses eventually received. It is acknowledged that this is only one 
way of seeking response, but it is a clear attempt to engage some views by a 
relatively direct method currently seeing usage and though the level of 
response has not been high, each response has been valuable in its own right 
as a viewpoint that needs consideration. 

90



 

 

57 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

It must also be pointed out that the small level of response received has to be 
taken in context of the almost total lack of any regular or sizeable feedback to 
the licensing section or companies that we are aware of in terms of the 
significant issues and comments received. However, the comments have been 
made and there is also a view that any issues or poor service to any customer 
is a future threat and weakness that needs always to be taken seriously and 
considered further. 

A range of conditions and / or disabilities applied to those responding. 97% 
identified a mobility issue. Of all those responding, 17% simply stated their 
prime issue was mobility. 40% of respondents gave two responses, 17% three, 
13% four and 7% each gave five or six. After mobility, the next highest score 
was for ‘long standing health condition’, followed by 27% each for 
communication issues and learning difficulties. 17% each said mental health 
and vision, 10% hearing, with 20% stating six other issues. 

Seven possible means of assistance were quoted. All but two respondents gave 
between one and four responses. 43% gave a single response, 39% two, 14% 
three and 4% four. The top two quoted was ‘a carer with you all of the time 
when travelling’ (43%) followed by ‘a wheelchair some or all of the time’ (40%) 
and the same proportion for walking sticks or crutches. 30% said a wheel chair 
all of the time. 10% said hearing aids and 3% sight aids. None said an 
assistance dog.  

Of those needing a wheelchair all of the time, 44% also had a carer with them. 
58% of those in a wheelchair some or all of the time also stated they used 
crutches or walking sticks. The one person using four assistance aids used a 
wheel chair some or all of the time, hearing aids, walking sticks and had a 
carer with them.  

For the responses, 67% were occasional users, 20% rare users and 13% 
regular users of hackney carriages. For private hire the equivalent values were 
43%, 27% and 27%. This suggests more from our sample use private hire 
than use hackney carriages although it is interesting that both the regular and 
the rare user shares are higher for private hire. This needs to be borne in mind 
in interpreting the results. 

When choosing from four different statements regarding how hackney carriage 
drivers met respondents current needs, 40% (same for private hire) said they 
did enough to enable people to travel. One person (3% of total respondents, 
10% for private hire) said taxi drivers usually went above and beyond to assist 
them. However, a third (23% for private hire) felt that hackney carriage drivers 
did not seem to understand their disability or travel needs.  

91



 

 

58 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

A further 10% said taxi drivers did not take any reasonable steps to assist 
them when travelling (7% for private hire).  

Six specific comments were added (all quoted verbatim and are therefore the 
specific views of those quoting): 

- Some drivers are very good, others are rude and make things very 
difficult for me 

- It would be helpful if they opened and closed the door for me 

- Often drivers try to avoid my job, claiming there is a problem with their 
ramp. If they do take my job, the often don’t seem to be particularly 
confident with securing my wheelchair so the journey becomes 
dangerous 

- Several have been unsure how to securely restrain my wheelchair 

- Sometimes drivers seem unwilling to help and make it obvious they 
would prefer to be taking an able-bodied person 

- Some drivers do not like picking up wheelchair users when flagged at 
night or at city events  

- (for private hire) two said when they obtained a WAV when booking they 
were usually very good 

- (for private hire) one said they were never sure with a booking if the 
vehicle would be WAV or if it was if the driver would properly fit the 
wheel chair 

- (for private hire) one had an issue with not feeling COVID secure (but 
they said they rarely used hackney carriage so this is a private hire 
issue) 

People were asked what they thought about the present balance between the 
availability of WAV and demand for them. Two thirds said there were too few 
WAV to meet demand. 27% were not sure. The remaining 3% - one person – 
said the balance was about right. When the same question was asked re 
private hire the same responses were provided. 

People were then asked what they would do if they could not find a suitable 
hackney carriage when needed. Six options were given plus an open response. 
One person gave four responses, 10% (three) gave three and 14% gave two, 
with the remainder giving a single response.  

92



 

 

59 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Of those responding, the most frequent said they would wait till a suitable 
vehicle was available (47%). Next was calling a private hire (30%), then using 
a less suitable vehicle for which they needed more assistance (20%), use other 
public transport (13%), calling a friend (7%), and finally getting there under 
their own steam by walking or using their wheel chair (3%). The ‘other’ 
responses were avoiding such situations, feeling stuck and unable to go out, 
ending up in a panic when out, and three who effectively said they would cancel 
their plans.  

People were asked if private hire operators were meeting their needs. Eight 
answers were offered, plus the opportunity to say how long people felt they 
had to book in advance to get the right vehicle. 43% of people said they found 
that private hire operators were never or rarely able to provide a vehicle 
suitable for them. 30% said operators usually told them if they did not have a 
suitable vehicle.  

23% (each) said that if people advised operators of their needs they usually 
found appropriate transport, they were usually able to book a private hire 
instantly or they did not believe private hire operators made reasonable 
adjustments. 20% said if they booked sufficiently in advance, their needs were 
met. These people said they had to book  between the day before, a few or 
two days before, a week, several weeks or a month. However, one said they 
had been advised that the vehicle was only allocated half an hour before so 
had been dissuaded from booking. 17% said the service they received was 
good and the final 7% (two people) said they did not tell operators about their 
needs for fear of discrimination.  

Half just gave one single viewpoint above, but 18% (each) gave two or three, 
11% four and one (4%) gave five answers.  

If people did not find themselves able to book a private hire, 57% said they 
would not go to the planned activity or appointment. 30% said they would use 
a less suitable vehicle meaning they needed more assistance. 27% would wait 
for a suitable vehicle. 13% would use other public transport. 7% (each) would 
either call a friend or get there walking or in a wheel chair using their own 
efforts. Two thirds just gave a single answer with 23% two, 3% three and 7% 
four.  

People were offered choice of eight statements and asked if any applied to 
them. 42% of those responding gave a single answer, 19% (each) two or four, 
12% three and 8% five. 53% of respondents said they had been made to feel 
uncomfortable by a driver due to their disability. 37% booked through an 
operator but the driver refused to take them when the vehicle arrived at their 
pick-up point.  

93



 

 

60 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

A third said they had been refused travel because they were in a wheel chair. 
23% said the operator or driver refused them a journey for reasons they felt 
were related to their disability. 17% said they were charged extra because of 
their disability. 13% said a driver refused to take them but not because of their 
wheel chair or having a dog, but something else related to their disability. None 
said they had been refused because of an assistance dog travelling with them 
(although none claimed to have a dog in the initial points).  

80% agreed with the current policy that all new and replacement hackney 
carriages should be wheel chair accessible. 

With respect to changes people felt might improve the current provision in 
Brighton and Hove, all agreed with at least one suggestion (77%), 7% made 
two, 13% seven and one person (3%) all eight. In terms of overall response 
by people, 53% said more WAV, 30% (each) said either disability awareness 
or training, or that any driver found to actively discriminate should have their 
licence revoked. 23% wanted a wider range of vehicles including those that 
were not so high off the ground. 20% suggested disability awareness for 
operators. 17% (each) said both better use of apps or more enforcement 
action. As noted above, effectively 16% of those responding said all of these, 
although only one included the loss of licence. 

All provided an overall view – 13% said good, 53% satisfactory, 20% bad and 
10% dreadful. None said excellent. 

Seven (23%) responded to the question seeking positive experiences in other 
places. One used this to say they had not had a good experience anywhere. 
They used an electric chair which would not fit into many of the full London 
WAV fleet, and did not feel safe using a manual chair. Three on the contrary 
said London was a good example. Others said they had a good relationship 
with one operator (one was out of town, the other being Uber). The final 
response was that they felt other places had more private providers, more 
competition and a better service, but did not explain where.  

Others used this question to reiterate need for training whilst another 
expressed their preference to be able to get a vehicle without having to pre 
book.  

Responses for eleven had been provided by someone else on the persons’ 
behalf. Of those specifically responding, 45% said they were carers, 36% 
members, 4% unspecified other and 5% a carer and family member. 

 

 

94



 

 

61 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Other comments added included: 

- Feeling that medical exemption certificates were applied to vehicles and 
not one specific driver of that vehicle 

- Concern that if drivers had an exemption they did not then find another 
vehicle that could help 

- Concern about level of wheel chair refusals 

- One person explained they felt it hard to ask drivers to wear masks or 
to close doors they were unable to operate 

- Another was trying to use licensed vehicles rather than mass public 
transport but had received poor experiences from all companies 

- One pointed out they felt the questionnaire did not include issues that 
could be dealt with by training 

- One pleaded that more WAV were needed otherwise they felt they were 
being discriminated against 

- One stated everyone should be able to turn up and get a suitable vehicle 

- Another explained their recent frustrations with bookings they had made 
either not coming or being late. They had spoken with drivers and felt 
they regularly had to plead with drivers to take them, with many 
claiming exemptions. 

Unlike in surveys for 2018 and prior, test phone-calls were not made during 
this survey. This was principally because it is hard now to obtain a sufficient 
sample without the survey being identified, given the small number of key 
players involved particularly in terms of telephone calls. Also, app usage has 
grown such that phone bookings are no longer necessarily entirely 
representative.  

For completeness, the 2018 paragraphs have been copied as a record of the 
situation at that time. In 2012, the minimum and maximum quoted wait time 
for both standard and accessible vehicles was five to 60 minutes. In 2015, 
whilst the minimum of five minutes remained the same, the maximum reduced 
to 20 minutes for standard and 30 minutes for accessible vehicles. In 2018, 
the minimum quoted wait for non WAV was reduced to just two minutes, but 
the maximum quoted has again increased for both standard and WAV vehicles 
to 30 minutes, standard, and 45 minutes WAV. 

95



 

 

62 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The average wait time was 15 minutes (standard) and 32 minutes (accessible) 
in 2012. This measure saw improvement for both groups in 2015, with more 
significant reduction to 19 minutes for accessible (40% decrease) and 12 
minutes for standard (20% decrease). However, the 2018 information found 
that the average for standard had returned to the 2012 level of 15 minutes 
whilst the accessible average has also increased to 24 minutes, but not back 
to the levels of 2012. This is counter intuitive given the large increase in 
available vehicle numbers for accessible customers. 

When considering the differences between the four time periods, although 
overall wait times are longer at night for phoned bookings, the disparity 
between accessible and standard in proportionate terms is actually lowest at 
that time. The most disproportionate wait was in fact for those wanting an 
accessible vehicle during the morning period, when accessible quoted times 
tended to be three times those of standard vehicles.  

The longer ‘post 22:00’ wait times quoted might suggest that overall there are 
a lot of hackney carriages who work for private hire circuits who choose to 
work from hailing or ranks during this period rather than remaining with the 
radio networks.  

The calculation for extra vehicles needed in 2012 suggested the discrepancy 
was an additional 230 WAV. Undertaking the same calculation in 2015 
suggested an extra 139. The 2018 calculation suggests 190 are needed which 
again seems counter-intuitive given there has been a 22% increase since the 
last survey in the number of available WAV style vehicles.  

Were these additional vehicles all added to the hcv fleet immediately to attain 
parity of service, this would mean that fleet would be 82% WAV style. 
However, our observations above suggest that this would not appear to be a 
sensible option, and that it may in fact not achieve the desired aims. 

Further discussion of this in context of other responses and information 
collected occurs in the following Chapter.  

  

96



 

 

63 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

9 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions 
This Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 on behalf of 
Brighton and Hove has been undertaken following the guidance of the BPG and 
other recent case history regarding unmet demand and its significance. It is 
the latest in a regular series of reviews of unmet demand, its level and 
significance and other related issues.  

Background and context 
This current survey of the level of demand for hackney carriages in the 
Brighton and Hove City Council area has been undertaken between February 
and September 2022. The scope of the study has been extended from that 
undertaken in 2018 to further increase the level of robusticity of the 
information provided to Councillors, and also (as usual) covers the specific 
issue regarding issue of five plates per year as well as the aims of how the 
fleet expansion will be encouraged to occur. 
 
The study is held in the context that overall background transport policy 
strongly supports development of the licensed vehicle fleet as an important 
part of the transport offer of the area. Ranks remain seen as key vehicle / 
people interchanges that enhance neighbourhoods and destinations. Further, 
the hackney carriage element of the licensed vehicle trade has seen managed 
growth of some 29% since 1997. At the time of the previous survey, the 25% 
growth was very similar level to the 29% of growth observed in the, in theory, 
market-led private hire element. However, the peak of 1,070 private hire 
vehicles reached in 2020 just before the pandemic has now reduced to 985 
vehicles although this now appears steady compared to the first pandemic year 
decline of 8% in that year alone. This means the comparison of growth from 
1997 for private hire now shows just 12% growth in that period compared to 
the 29% of hackney carriage – implying the increase in the share of the fleet 
that are now hackney carriage (60% now compared to 57% in 1997). 
 
However, it must be stated that it is known that a lot of out-of-town private 
hire vehicles operate principally within the Brighton and Hove area albeit for 
locally based operators appearing to rely on their services. 
 
This survey is the first where there are no hackney carriage only driver licences 
operating, with the choice being specific private hire only and dual drivers (with 
the number of the former also having reduced strongly). 
 
The level of WAV in the hackney carriage side has continued to increase, mainly 
through the policy of new vehicles now having to be WAV style, with the level 
at last review being some 49%.  
 

97



 

 

64 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The parallel growth of wheel chair accessible vehicles in the private hire side 
rose from 14% at time of the last survey to 26% before the pandemic, this 
proportion has now dropped back to 23% with some reduction in the number 
of such vehicles.   
 
A very important point for this study is that Brighton and Hove remains one of 
the most regular survey repeaters, with copies of previous surveys every three 
years back to 2009 remaining available, providing an excellent best practice 
review of the limit policy and its impacts. This places the area in an excellent 
place for Councillors to have full information regarding their decisions about 
the limit policy and related matters. The impact of the pandemic delayed the 
latest survey by one year such that the gap between the last survey and this 
has been four years. 
 
National comparison 
For this study, the latest national Department for Transport (DfT) statistics for 
14 other authorities, as agreed with the council, were compared with specific 
reference to the level of WAV provision. At the end of March 2022, DfT figures 
show Brighton and Hove had one WAV for every 1,000 resident population. 
From the list of 14, only three authorities had higher levels of provision – two 
of which were very large cities (Liverpool at 2.9 and Manchester at 2.0), both 
of whom have fully WAV hackney carriage fleets. Plymouth had just marginally 
more (1.1), also until recently having a fully WAV fleet. The average English 
value was 0.6 vehicles.  
 
When considering private hire WAV the comparison is even more favourable. 
Brighton and Hove has the highest provision at 0.32 phv per thousand resident 
population; four times the English average and over twice the next highest 
level of 0.15 in Manchester. When considered as a total licensed vehicle fleet, 
Brighton and Hove is third in the list of 14 with 1.4 WAV per thousand resident 
population. 
 
This means the total fleet of Brighton and Hove has unrivalled levels of WAV 
even with no mandatory policy in place. This is a truly remarkable 
achievement. 
 
Industry Structure 
This study also repeats the review of the detailed make-up of the overall 
industry structure in terms of how it actually works. The industry structure 
presently allows a wide range of operating models demonstrating plenty of 
active competition and relatively low levels of restraint in terms of allowing 
people to make the industry work for them. For example, there are single 
owner/driver operations both on the hackney carriage and private hire side. 

98



 

 

65 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

There are a range of company sizes, with and without vehicles, some on the 
hackney carriage side (without need for operator licences) and others working 
under operator licences, both with allied hackney carriages and without. There 
are also plenty of vehicles on both sides available for those not wishing to own 
a vehicle to rent. This occurs on both private hire and hackney carriage sides 
of the trade even though anyone can add a private hire vehicle as long as it 
meets Council standards. At the time of writing this report, new hackney 
carriage vehicles can be added to the fleet, but with a limit of five vehicles per 
year. 
 
Comparison to the 2018 survey shows a reduction of 13% in the number of 
drivers licences to March 2022. In 2022 there were 1,380 different people 
active in the industry with licences of some kind. Of this around 36% have a 
driver licence but do not own a vehicle. 
 
Rank observations 
Since the last survey, the rail station rank has been moved to the rear of the 
station, leaving the covered forecourt available for pedestrian footfall only. 
Further, the St Peter’s Church rank has been moved to be adjacent to the 
church rather than on the gyratory to the north.  
 
For this survey, an initial test was undertaken at the top two council ranks to 
see if there was any evidence that unmet demand levels might have tended 
towards becoming significant since the last survey. They also provided a test 
of demand early in the calendar year. These surveys suggested demand was 
16% lower in the March of 2022 than had been found at the top site in March 
2018. Neither site saw much unmet demand, giving suggestion both that high 
unmet demand was unlikely but that reduced overall patronage of ranks was 
now also highly likely to be identified by the main surveys. 
 
However, detailed review also found that Friday flows were down but that 
Saturday flows at the main rank had increased by 81%. This also implies that 
local passenger demand may have moved to being more peaky now than in 
2018 (when the overall conclusion had been that demand was no longer 
peaky). 
 
The full surveys were undertaken in May 2022 using a similar sample to that 
in 2015, but with added comfort, as in 2018, provided by several sites being 
watched on an extended basis albeit in a less detailed manner (i.e. principally 
by observing when the rank was active, and simply recording passenger 
numbers rather than full detail for these additional hours).  
 

99



 

 

66 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

Overall results found a reduction of observation of passengers at ranks in the 
area since 2018 amounting to some 25% (over four years). The reduction from 
2015 had been 27% (over three years) suggesting that despite the pandemic 
ravages, overall passenger decline had in fact been marginally slower which is 
in fact remarkable. 
 
The largest reduction in usage arose at the private rail station rank, again for 
the second survey running. The table in the earlier chapter shows estimated 
rail passenger numbers using hackney carriages have reduced 59% from last 
survey to this, but on top of 32% between the previous two surveys (net 
reduction of 72%). This reduction accounts for the bulk (87%) of the overall 
reduction in patronage.  
 
East Street is now the busiest rank, providing 43% of the total estimated 
weekly passenger demand. Queens Square and West Street also both saw 
increased levels of actual passenger usage and share. The hospital rank has 
seen nearly fourfold growth and has risen from ninth to sixth in the rankings. 
 
Hove Station rank saw 12% decline (more consistent with drops in national 
rail usage) (see further below) whilst St Peter’s Place share dropped to 3% 
from a previous 9%. Following national trends, the three smallest ranks 
continued their survey on survey decline.  
 
Consideration of the total passenger demand profile now suggests the 
Saturday evening / Sunday morning flows imply the overall profile is now (once 
again) peaky after not being so in 2018.  
 
Present flows see the busiest five ranks now accounting for 89% of all 
passenger demand during the survey period and 85% of the estimated weekly 
demand.  
 
Brighton and Hove remains a location where there is always some hackney 
carriage activity at ranks through the week. Our present survey found highest 
flows on Saturday, with marginally lower levels on Friday, and lower, but still 
significant levels of usage on Thursdays. Further, additional cover is provided 
in many locations from vehicles passing by, although any rank just off any 
main through route always sees regular vehicle pass-throughs even at the 
quietest times, suggesting the area is well-served by hackney carriages 
making themselves available for hire. This is a key, important and best practice 
factor of the local hackney carriage trade. 
 
 

100



 

 

67 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

In terms of service to passengers, the 2022 survey sees 9% of observed hours 
with average passenger delay of a minute or more (just 2% in 2018). A further 
16% of the observed hours (7% in 2018) saw average passenger delay that 
was not zero. 
 
However, in context, even with this generally increased level of delay to 
passengers observed, only 33 people in 14 different hours actually experienced 
a wait of 11 minutes or more for a hackney carriage to arrive at a rank. There 
were only three recorded passenger waits over 20 minutes, the longest being 
26 minutes in the 01:00 hour on the Sunday (but at what is now a relatively 
quiet rank). The shortest of these three (just over 21 minutes) was at the 
station.  
 
During the busiest survey day, 45% of the fleet was observed meeting the 
demand surveyed. This leaves plenty of spare capacity available to meet 
increasing demand levels and is marginally higher than in 2018, although we 
did add an extra observation period. A test by time period found generally 
more vehicles from the fleet active in 2022 compared to 2018 apart from the 
22:00 to 23:30 period which saw reduced levels of activity.  
 
These observations also suggested that of all registration plates / plate 
numbers observed, 69% were local hackney carriages, 15% local private hire, 
3% Uber, 7% Lewes and 6% Chichester. This 13% out of town is a large 
increase from the estimated 4% in 2018.  
 
The overall surveyed level of abuse of ranks by other vehicles in the area was 
low but increased from 2018. The largest group abusing rank locations, for 8% 
of observations, was cars. This is a national trend possibly arising from people 
getting used to using their private vehicles more during the pandemic and at 
the same time finding less hackney carriages using ranks. This is particularly 
true for smaller ranks, with the Old Ship and Mash Tun locations worst affected. 
There is a linked issue that overnight enforcement of parking tends to have 
strongly reduced but it is clear that a zero tolerance approach needs to be 
followed and encouraged with the Council enforcement teams as a significant 
matter of public safety. 
 
Observed use by people in wheel chairs was just three in this survey (six in 
2018). However, 54% of vehicles observed at ranks were understood to be 
WAV style, higher than the 49% in the fleet.  
 
 
 
 

101



 

 

68 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

On street public views 
The generally census-consistent sample of people interviewed in the streets 
across the area suggested a similar overall usage of licensed vehicles to seven 
years ago, 32% (33% in 2015 but 16% in 2018). Of all respondents 32% also 
said they had used hackney carriage only, 21% private hire and 9% both types 
of vehicle in the last three months. A higher proportion, 88% (72% in 2018) 
were from the area.  
 
Overall licensed vehicle trips per month were estimated at 1.8 (0.49 in 2018) 
per person per month, with the level 1.4 (0.16) for hackney carriages, showing 
78% (33%) of trips were now made by hackney carriage, compared to nearly 
nine out of ten in 2015. This suggests overall usage of licensed vehicles and 
particularly hackney carriages is up from four years ago in the minds of people.  
 
The hackney carriage fleet remains very visible, although the level of those not 
remembering when they had last used a hackney carriage had continued to 
increase from 5% (2015) to 21% (2018) to 47% this time. The level of people 
saying they could not remember seeing a hackney carriage remained almost 
everyone (this time one person said they could not remember, none said this 
in 2018). 
 
45% claimed they principally got licensed vehicles from ranks (32% 2018, 
36% 2015), with 9% (19%, 2018) who said they now used an ‘app’. Telephone 
use was up (45% compared to 40% in 2018) but hailing reduced to 3% (6%) 
and no-one said they used a freephone at all this time (3%). 
 
The top two companies were operators of mixed hackney carriage and private 
hire fleets and this time obtained equal mention (33%) whereas in 2018 they 
had received 49% and 18%. The next two companies obtained 11% and 10%, 
the latter being a national app company who had received 13% of contacts in 
2018 (so marginally reduced this time). It is interesting app usage both in 
absolute share and in terms of use of the app company appears to have 
reduced, albeit marginally. 
 
Whilst 63% of respondents quoted ranks they knew, 53% said they would use 
the named ranks. A similar number of names were given to 2018 (20 compared 
to 22), with a much larger percentage naming the Station Rank (54% 
compared to 27%, but 56% said they did not use it). 20% (17%) named 
Churchill Square in various guises, 18% East Street (much increased from the 
5% of 2018). Neither the 9% for George St Hove or the 7% for North Street 
were mentioned at all in 2022.  
 
 

102



 

 

69 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The ratings given for the various aspects of the service focussed on ‘very good’. 
Even price saw 33% of response that it was ‘very good’ despite having the 
highest level of ‘very poor’ response. The key item that would increase usage 
was if hackney carriages were more affordable.  
 
Latent demand had marginally decreased from 8.6% to 8% at ranks. 

The statistic regarding need for WAV had changed from a level of 89% not 
needing them in 2018 to 80% now not needing them, meaning 20% had some 
kind of need or knowledge of those needing WAV (i.e, an increased need for 
adapted vehicles). The result focussed on WAV styles rather than other 
adaptations. 

78% (70% 2018) felt there were enough WAV hackney carriages. 
 
For the small 18% of respondents giving an answer to activities they were 
totally reliant on hackney carriages to undertake, 55% confirmed there were 
no such activities. Top response with 33% was nights out, then 21% hospital 
visits, 13% holidays and 8% airport trips.  
 
When asked about changes in usage of licensed vehicles from before the 
pandemic to now, and now to three years hence, the balance from pre-COVID 
to now was 13% down for hackney carriage but 2% up for private hire, looking 
forward 6% would in future expect to use more hackney carriages and 5% 
private hire. 
 
With respect to COVID security, the 65% response rate suggested this 
remained of importance. Top were that the vehicle had been visibly cleaned 
followed by having a screen.  
 
Key stakeholder views 
Key stakeholders provide much less response nationally now than pre-Covid. 
Three responded despite more effort being made – none said customers used 
ranks and just one said there were issued but provided no more information. 
 
National information suggested Brighton rail passenger flows were 76% down 
for the first year including the pandemic impact.  
 
Trade views 
An excellent 19% level of response was obtained to the main all-driver survey. 
Further, one representing body for the trade also made positive and good 
contributions to this Report. This is an encouraging level of engagement across 
the industry. Normal responses are significantly lower and 5% is usually 
counted as good. 

103



 

 

70 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

85% of those responding said the licensed vehicle trade was their only or main 
source of income. The split between hackney carriage and private hire saw 
60% this time from hackney carriage, reduced from the 81% of 2018. 
 
The working week was reduced in number of hours (39% from 43% in 2018 
for hackney carriage and 32% from 41% for private hire). However, more 
worked six or seven days though more had not worked, resulting in a 
corresponding reduction in average days worked.  
 
The level of those responding who were owner-drivers reduced very marginally 
to 73%. A much reduced 20% (from 52%) said they shared a vehicle.  
 
Most people said they now worked mainly around family needs, up to 37% 
from the 22% of 2018. Other factors reduced accordingly. 5% said they 
avoided disruptive passenger operating times. 
 
The level of use of pre-bookings was up from 66% to 77% now.  
 
The top rank quoted as used was East Street with a similar level of 20% of 
responses. Use of the station rank fell from 15% in 2018 to 7% now. A wide 
range of ranks were quoted, about the same as in 2018. 
 
Just one respondent took time to request that the current managed growth 
policy level of increase was switched off until the next survey although it is 
accepted that the specific question regarding managed growth and support of 
the limit was not directly asked this time given that the previous responses 
were not decisive. 
 
65% of those responding to the question considered the limit had public benefit 
but the range of points was wide. A key focus was that more plates would 
make it harder for them to make a living leading to worse public service. A key 
specific (7%) was ensuring congestion did not worsen through more vehicles 
being added. Others said it ensured more chance that people would know their 
drivers. 70% of those in favour were hackney carriage drivers with 26% of 
private hire also in favour. One hackney carriage driver opposed the limit 
because they wanted their own plate. 
 
86% felt there were enough hackney carriages including many private hire and 
90% felt there were sufficient wheel chair accessible style vehicles in the fleet. 
 
There was very strong agreement the pandemic had been a major issue to 
their businesses. Some, however, did feel things were returning to normal 
although they were a minority. 

104



 

 

71 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

When asked about barriers to moving to more sustainable vehicles a key 
element quoted was cost (43%) followed by 17% saying it reduced trade 
viability. 5% were of the view sustainable vehicles were not suitable for service 
as licensed vehicles and 4% were concerned about lack of infrastructure. Some 
did make positive suggestions how this move could be eased including grants, 
subsidies and other ideas. 
 
With regard to how the council could encourage more drivers to return to local 
licences most agreed it was necessary but few had practical ideas how it could 
be encouraged.  
 
The general comments focussed on need to reduce the level of out of town 
vehicles active, and in many cases other development of the industry was felt 
to be dependent on this being resolved first.  
 
The formal trade response confirmed they felt the present level of WAV in the 
hackney carriage fleet was now correct. Out of town vehicle activities were a 
major concern, and they felt this was an impact on public safety. They were 
aware the wish of drivers to own plates was an emotive issue.  
 
Formal evaluation of significance of unmet demand 
The present ISUD index suggests that the level of service to the public has 
declined since the last survey. However, the level of unmet demand is not 
significant but the change in trends has generally been towards worse service 
– in 2018 the index was 0.20 (80 suggest significance of unmet demand that 
should see more plates), it is now just under 7 (or just under 44 if service to 
the private station rank is included). 

Disability issues 
Rank observations found 54% of observed movements at ranks were 
apparently WAV style, a much higher proportion than the 49% in the fleet at 
the time of the surveys. The level of observed usage of people in wheel chairs 
using hackney carriages at ranks was very similar to that in 2012 and 2015, 
being this time some three people. There was a much higher level of apparent 
disabled usage for those with non wheel-chair required disabilities. 

In terms of being aware of others needing adapted vehicles, the level has 
increased from both 2015 and 2018, when 96% said they did not need a 
vehicle, this is now some 80% suggesting more people now need such style of 
vehicle. The level needing a WAV in this proportion however was now almost 
all for WAV rather than other adaptations. 

 
 

105



 

 

72 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

A very detailed questionnaire found response from some 30 people with a 
range of quoted disabilities. A lot of summary detail is provided in the chapter 
above for future thought and consideration. 
 
However, only 13% were regular users of hackney carriages and 27% regular 
users of private hire.  
 
For both hackney carriage and private hire 40% said they felt drivers did 
enough to enable them to travel. However, 23% for private hire and 33% for 
hackney carriage felt drivers did not understand their needs. Few suggested 
any other places that provided better service apart from some saying London 
(but one person disagreed strongly re London service). 
 
There were some concerning comments arising, particularly related to use of 
exemptions as a reason to refuse their journey even if the vehicle was wheel 
chair accessible. However, private hire bookings often fared as badly with 
refusals made on arrival, or lack of fulfilment for bookings made. However, 
there were many positive comments also made within the responses. 
 
What is concerning is that none of these issues have ever been reported to the 
Council licensing team directly.  
 
Synthesis 
Although it is clear that the pandemic has impacted both demand and supply 
sides of the service to the public, the general trend of reduced demand for 
hackney carriages at ranks has remained at about the same pace as before 
the pandemic. However, there are very heartening changes within this 
apparent decline, and a high proportion of the loss for this survey comes from 
the reduction in usage by rail station passengers at Brighton station. Whilst 
some of this may be due to continued depressed rail travel levels, some is also 
due to the move of the rank from the front of the station. This impact is further 
highlighted by the strong difference in service level resulting if the station is 
included in the ISUD value.  

The other issue contributing to the worsening ISUD passenger service statistic 
in this survey is reduced service to some of the quieter ranks; matters have 
also worsened as demand in 2022 has returned to being ‘peaky’ which makes 
serving the public harder for the same level of fleet size. It is also clear that 
some drivers have not returned to the industry, either retiring or finding 
preferable work, and that others have chose to focus on a better lifestyle – 
work balance. 

 

106



 

 

73 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

The issue of out-of-town vehicles remains a strong perceived negative impact 
on the current trade and means many feel this issue needs to be solved before 
other potential improvements (such as move to more sustainable vehicles) can 
be taken forward seriously. We have found evidence that the level of such 
vehicles is probably similar to the level of local private hire. However, the public 
do not appear aware of the issue. In fact, the public have improved their views 
of the worth of waiting for a hackney carriage at a rank if one is not there – a 
national response we are seeing in many surveys (latent demand factors are 
reducing, despite longer waits).  

Part of the issue with the lesser used ranks is their abuse by significant 
numbers of private vehicles. A zero tolerance policy is needed for non-Brighton 
hackney carriage vehicles using ranks, even for short periods. This however is 
beyond the remit of the licensing authority and needs strong joint action from 
the traffic enforcement sections of the Council. This is important because abuse 
of ranks has strong safety implications around those ranks, with passengers 
and other public put at risk from poor and dangerous traffic operations. 

Evidence of poor experience was found from the detailed WAV user survey but 
this is partly countered by the fact that very few if any complaints get through 
to the licensing section.  

The fact that all aspects of the passenger service index (Index of significance 
of unmet demand, ISUD) apart from the peakiness factor and latent demand 
factor have worsened strongly suggests the managed growth of plates needs 
to continue to ensure that stronger action (increased new plate numbers) are 
not needed further forward. However, there is concern that the new plates are 
now taking longer to bring forward possibly because of the cost of bringing 
either new WAV or sustainable vehicles into the fleet. This may need further 
thought on both process and requirements. 

There is need for strong review of what legal and other options exist for the 
licensing authority to oppose service to the public of Brighton by those with no 
ready ability to be enforced against. This is not, however, a simple matter and 
might be best tackled by promoting the high quality of both local hackney 
carriage and private hire service whilst highlighting the negative aspects of 
non-local services. This may need to draw on the resources of the authorities 
who appear to allow their vehicles to benefit from such operations. 

Whilst the issue of moving to more sustainable vehicles is clearly one that must 
be moving forward, the overall context of this for the current trade must be 
carefully understood and focus put on encouragement towards change, but 
also on education and real experience sharing of what can and cannot be 
achieved and when.  

107



 

 

74 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

  

108



 

 

75 Survey of demand for hackney carriage services 2022 

 

 

10 Recommendations 
On the basis of the evidence gathered in this Survey of demand for hackney 
carriages services for Brighton and Hove, our key conclusion is that there is no 
evidence of any unmet demand for the services of hackney carriages either 
patent or latent which is significant at this point in time in the Brighton and 
Hove licensing area. The committee is therefore able to consider retaining its 
present limit on hackney carriage vehicle numbers and to be able to support 
this against any challenge if required. The strong negative changes in the ISUD 
index imply the managed growth remains important. 

The options open to the committee therefore include the following: 

- Retain limit at current level, removing the managed growth 
- Continue managed growth for WAV 
- Revise managed growth to switch to focus on environmental matters 

rather than WAV 
- Remove the limit altogether (with various possible options from with no 

further restriction to quality controls such as in favour of 
environmentally friendly vehicle options). 

At the same time the related policy regarding all replacement vehicles having 
to become WAV also needs reconsideration. 

Further thoughts are provided in the previous chapter giving reasons why 
particular options might be preferable at this time. Further discussion can occur 
at the presentation of this report if necessary. 

There needs to be much more public and trade debate about the issue of 
disability service across the licensed vehicle service. The trade needs to 
identify clearly what they consider to be good service to those with disabilities 
and ensure this is communicated to the public and those contravening the code 
of practice see strong discipline applied preferably from within the trade as 
well as by the licensing authority.  

This could perhaps be led by a marketing campaign encouraging both negative 
and positive feedback regarding the full licensed trade operation to be regularly 
shared by people. This could also draw in the issue of non-local vehicle service 
to the public. 

109



110



1  

 
 

 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 

 
1.1 This report sets out the proposed licence fees and charges for 2023/24 relating 

to Street Trading, Sex Establishments and Sex Entertainment Licences, 
Gambling premises, Taxi Licensing and Animal Activity Licences. 

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
2.1 That the committee approves the following licence fees will increase by an 

average of 6%: 

 Taxi Licence fees - as set out in Appendix 1.

 Sex Entertainment Venues and Sex Establishments fees – as set out in 
Appendix 2.

 Street Trading fees – as set out in Appendix 2.

 All Gambling Act 2005 fees – as set out in Appendix 2.

 All Animal Activity Licences fees - as set out in Appendix 5.
 

A list of agreed fees for 2022-23 and proposed fees for 2023-24 is included in 
Appendices 1-2 & 5. 

 
Note: If the above recommendations are not agreed, or if the committee wishes to amend the 
recommendations, then the item will normally need to be referred to the Policy & Resources 
Committee meeting on 9 February 2023 to be considered as part of the overall 2023/24 budget 
proposals. This is because the 2023/24 budget proposals are developed on the assumption that 
fees and charges are agreed as recommended and any failure to agree, or a proposal to agree 
different fees and charges, will have an impact on the overall budget proposals, which means it 
needs to be dealt with by Policy & Resources Committee as per the requirements of the 
constitution. This does not fetter the committee’s ability to make recommendations to Policy & 
Resources Committee. 
 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
3.1 In order to ensure that council tax payers are not subsidising work concerning 

licensing administration, income is raised by licence fees with the aim of covering 
the cost of administration of each regime within the constraints of regulation. 
Licence fees should not be used to raise surplus revenues. The regulation of 

Agenda Item 16 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(NON-LICENSING ACT 
2003 FUNCTIONS) 

Subject: 

Date of Meeting: 

Report of: 

Licence fees 2023/2024 

13 October 2022 

Executive Director of Housing, 
Neighbourhoods & Communities 

Contact Officer: 
Name:

 Jim Whitelegg, Regulatory 
Services Manager 

Tel: 29-2438 

Email: 

Ward(s) affected: 

Jim.whitelegg@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

All 

111

mailto:Jim.whitelegg@brighton-hove.gov.uk


2  

setting fees is detailed and changes as a result of legislation and cases; outlined 
below. 

 
Licence Fee Setting – general principles 

 
3.2 There must be a proper determination of the authorisation fee (see Hemming 

2015, 2017] UKSC. 
 

3.3 A clear understanding of the policy and objects of the regime in question is 
required. It follows that the relevant considerations for vetting an applicant for a 
street trading licence will be different to those required for a sex establishment 
(see R v Manchester City Council ex parte King (1991) 89 LGR 696; also R (on 
the application of Davis & Atkin) v Crawley Borough Council [2001] EWHC 854 
(Admin)). Particular attention needs to be had to those statutory provisions 
where a power is given to the local authority for the determination of an 
authorisation fee and other administrative fees. 

 
3.4 Applicability of the European Services Directive (see Hemming [2015, 2017] 

UKSC: The Directive applies to street trading and sex licensing; not gambling or 
taxis.  The UK left the EU on 31 January 2020, and the transition period (during 
which EU rules continued to apply in the UK) ended on 31 December 2020. The 
Services Directive therefore no longer applies to the UK, or to EEA businesses 
or individuals providing services in the UK. However, the European Union 
(Withdrawal) Act 20183 preserved the Provision of Services Regulations 2009 
(as amended in 2014) for UK nationals and businesses established in the UK 
and formed under UK law. Regulation 18(4) applies to fees in the same way as 
the former Directive. 

 
3.5 Different fee levels for different types of application. A licensing authority is 

entitled to set either the same or different fee levels for different types of 
applications: i.e. grant, renewal, variation, alteration or transfer. R v Greater 
London Council, ex parte Rank Organisation [1982] LS Gaz R 643. 

 
3.6 Recovery of deficit. In R v Westminster City Council, ex parte Hutton (1985) 83 

L.G.R. 461 it was held that where the fee income generated in one year fails to 
meet the costs of administering the licensing system, it is open to the local 
authority to make a proportionate increase in the licence fee for the following 
year so as to recoup the cost of the shortfall (Hutton at p 518). This longstanding 
principle was confirmed in Hemming [2012]. 

 

3.7 Accounting for surplus. In Hemming [2012] EWHC 1260 (Admin) and [2013] 
EWCA Civ 591 the court determined surpluses as well as deficits are to be 
carried forward. The licensing authority is not entitled to make a profit. (R v 
Manchester ex parte King 1991 89 LGR 696. 

 
3.8 Rough and ready calculations. In Hemming [2012] EWHC 1260 (Admin) and 

[2013] EWCA Civ 591, the court did not require pin-point precision year on year. 
The council does not have to adjust the licence fee every year to reflect any 
previous deficit or surplus, so long as it ‘all comes out in the wash’ eventually. 
And the adjustment does not have to be precise: a rough and ready calculation 
which is broadly correct will do. 

 
3.9 Anticipated costs. Cases demonstrate that the fee level may be fixed by 

reference to anticipated costs of administering the authorisation scheme. 
 

112



3  

3.10 Over-estimation. If the fee levied in the event exceeds the cost of operating the 
scheme, the original decision will remain valid provided it can be said that the 
district council reasonably considered such fees would be required to meet the total 
cost of operating the scheme.  R v M ex parte King. 

 
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 

 
3.11 The Council must be able to show that it calculates hackney carriage and private 

hire licensing fees in accordance with the specific requirements of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. This requires that such fees 
have to be reasonable to recover the cost of issue and administration of licences. 
They cannot be used to raise revenue or fund activities such as taxis marshals. 
This has been confirmed in a recent court case Cummings and Others v Cardiff 
City Council which also confirmed that fees set must have regard to any surplus 
or deficit in previous years for each regime (hackney carriage or private hire). 

 
The recent Court of Appeal case: R. (on the application of Rehman) v Wakefield 
City Council, December 2019, established that costs of administration under 
S53(2) of the above act could include the costs of enforcement against drivers of 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles. 

 
The Act allows the following costs to be recovered in the fees: 

 

 The reasonable cost of carrying out vehicle inspection to decide if a licence 
should be granted

 The reasonable costs of providing hackney carriage stands

 Any reasonable administrative or other costs in connection with vehicle 
inspection and providing hackney carriage stands and

 Any reasonable administrative or other costs in the control and supervision of 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles.

 

3.12 A trading position has been established, taking into account all expenditure that 
the Council has incurred in administering the service, including both direct and 
indirect costs. (Indirect costs for example would include an element of 
management time to oversee the activity, a legitimate expense in administering 
the licensing function). The results are set out in the table below. 

 
Taxi Licensing 

Financial Year £'000 
(- Surplus)/ Deficit 

2021/22 Actual 14 

2022/23 Forecast 6 

2023/24 Budget -5 

Total 15 

 
3.13 The current and proposed fees are set out in Appendix 1. 

 
Detailed Trading Accounts are attached in Appendix 3. 

 
Sex Establishments and Street Trading 

 

3.14 Sex Establishments: The administration of Sex Establishments and Sex 
Entertainment venues (SEV)s is broken down as follows: 
There are 5 Sex Establishments in total, for which renewal applications are 

113



4  

processed annually, including officers carrying out annual inspections to ensure 
compliance with their licence. It is unlikely that a further sex establishment 
licence would be granted as this would be contra policy. 

 
SEVS: There are 3 SEVs in total. SEV fees are based on licence renewals. It is 
unlikely that a further SEV licence would be granted as this would be contra 
policy. Annual inspections are carried out to ensure compliance with their licence. 

 

3.15 A trading position has been established, taking into account all expenditure that 
the Council has incurred in administering the service, including both direct and 
indirect costs. The results are set out in the table below. 

 
Sex Establishments and Sex Entertainment 

Venues 

Financial Year £'000 
(-Surplus)/ Deficit 

2021/22 Actual -1 

2022/23 Forecast -1 

2023/24 Budget -1 

Total -3 

 

The proposed fees are set to rise by an average of 6%. Detailed Trading 
Accounts are attached in Appendix 4. 

 

3.16 Following the same principles as stated previously, a trading position has been 
established for Street Trading. During 2021/22, the majority of inspections 
carried out by officers were recoverable. The administration of street trading is 
wholly recoverable, broken down as follows: 

 
Zone A:- 
3 pitches at 50 sq ft – all pay quarterly 
(2 trading, 1 vacant) 
2 pitches at 42 sq ft –  both vacant 
 
Zone B:- 
26 traders – 22 paid/5 unpaid) 

 
Upper Gardner Street Saturday Market:- 
74 pitches available. 50 pitches currently allocated – 40 paid/10 unpaid 

 
3.17 Taking into account all the council expenditure incurred in administering the 

service including an element of management time to oversee the activity, the 
results are set out in the table below. 

114



5  

Street Trading 

Financial Year £'000 
(-Surplus)/ Deficit 

2021/22 Actual -1 

2022/23 Forecast -1 

2023/24 Budget -1 

Total -2 
 

The proposed fees are set to rise by an average of 6%. Detailed Trading 
Accounts are attached in Appendix 4. 

 
Gambling Act 2005 

 
3.18 The proposed fees are set to increase by an average of 6% in most cases, 

Where fees charged are already at the maximum level (set nationally) they are 
unchanged. Trading accounts can be found at Appendix 4. 

 
 
 

Gambling Act 

Financial Year £'000 
(-Surplus)/ Deficit 

2021/22 Actual 0 

2022/23 Forecast 2 

2023/24 Budget 0 

Total 2 

 

 
Animal Activity Licensing 

 
3.19 It is proposed to raise all fees by 6% as         set out in Appendix 5. 

 
 
4. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

Fees must be set. 

 

5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 

5.1 Council’s finance officer and legal services. 
 
6. CONCLUSION 

Fees must be set. 
 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
7.1 Financial Implications: 

115



 

The fees and charges recommended in this report have been reviewed in line with the Corporate Fees & 
Charges Policy and all relevant regulations and legislation. Licence fees must be set annually at a level 
that it is reasonably believed will cover  the costs of providing the service, and in accordance with the legal 
principles involved. The proposed fees for 2023/24 take account of the significant inflationary pressures, 
particularly on staffing costs, that the service is facing and ensure that costs are fully recovered. This is 
necessary in order to ensure that council tax payers are not subsidising work concerning licensing 
administration. Constitutionally, increases above or below the corporate rate of inflation must be approved by 
the relevant service committee or Policy & Resources Committee and can result in additional contributions 
toward either the cost of services and/or overheads. Where this is the case, this will be reflected in proposals 
for the relevant service and will be incorporated within the revenue budget report to Policy & Resources 
Committee and Budget Council in February 2023. Income from fees and charges is monitored as part of the 
Targeted Budget Monitoring (TBM) process. 
 

 

 
Finance Officer Consulted: Monica Brooks Date: 22/9/22 

 
7.2 Legal Implications: 

 

Legal constraints on setting fees are as follows: 
 

o Fees must be charged in accordance with the requirements of the legislation under 
which they are charged. Thus for instance the Licensing Act 2003 gives the Council 
no discretion as they are set centrally by the relevant government department. Other 
legislation such as the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 which 
covers a whole raft of activities and includes street trading and sex establishments 
simply states that we may charge such fees as we consider reasonable. 

 

The term ‘Reasonable’ however does not imply wide discretion but incorporates 
important legal principles and constraints. These were highlighted in the case of R v 
Manchester City Council ex parte King concerning street trading. This case held that 
the fees charged must be related to the costs incurred in providing the street trading 
service. They must not be used to raise revenue generally. Fees must be 
proportionate. This principle is key and applies to other licensing regimes such as sex 
establishments. 

 
o This principle has been reinforced by the introduction of the European Services 

Directive which took effect from the end of 2009. The European Union (Withdrawal) 
Act 20183 preserved the Provision of Services Regulations 2009 (as amended in 
2014) for UK nationals and businesses established in the UK and formed under UK 
law. Regulation 18(4) applies to fees in the same way as the former Directive. 

o  
o The processes must be non-discriminatory, justified, proportionate, clear, objective, 

made in advance, transparent and accessible. Any fee charged for establishing a 
service can only be based on cost recovery and cannot be set at an artificial high 
level to deter service sectors from an area. The applicability of the Directive has been 
discussed in the recent case of Hemming (and others) v 
Westminster City Council (2015) (2017) UKSC. It is permissible for enforcement costs 
to be included in a licence fee but this element of the fee must be levied once the 
application has been granted. The Council should schedule regular fee reviews. 

 
o Therefore the trading accounts must be carefully looked at in accordance with these 

principles. There is a risk of challenge by way of Judicial Review in cases where fees 
are set at an unreasonable or unlawful level. 

116



 

 
Lawyer Consulted: Rebecca Sidell Date: 16/09/22 

 
7.3 Equalities Implications: 

 

There are no direct equalities implications. 
 
7.4 Sustainability Implications: 

here are no direct sustainability implications. Any Other 

Significant Implications: 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 
 

Appendices: 
 

1-2 List of fees and charges. 
 
3-4. List of Trading accounts. 

 
5. Current and Proposed Fees for Animal Activity Licensing 

 

 
Documents in Members’ Rooms 

 
1. None. 

 
2. None. 

 
Background Documents 

 

None 

117



118



Appendix 1 - Proposed Taxi Licence Fees 2023-24

2022-23

Agreed Fee Proposed Fee Change 

£ £ %

Hackney Carriage Drivers Licence (3 Year) £324.00 £343.00 5.9%

Private Hire Drivers Licence (3 Year) £255.00 £270.00 5.9%

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence (Full Year) £194.00 £206.00 6.2%

Private Hire Vehicle Licence (Full Year) £71.00 £75.00 5.6%

Private Hire Operator Licence (1 or 2 Cars) - 5 year £158.00 £167.00 5.7%

Private Hire Operator Licence (3 or more Cars) - 5 year £561.00 £595.00 6.1%

Knowledge Test Fee £26.00 £28.00 7.7%

Route Test Fee £37.00 £39.00 5.4%

Vehicle Transfer Fee £49.00 £52.00 6.1%

TAXI LICENCE FEES

2023-24

119



120



Appendix 2 - Proposed Licensing Fees 2023-24

Agreed Fee Proposed 

Fee

Change 

£ £ %

Sex Establishments and Venues

Sex Entertainment Venue £3,520.00 £3,730.00 6.0%

Sex Establishments - Grants £3,850.00 £4,080.00 6.0%

Sex Establishments - Renewal £3,520.00 £3,730.00 6.0%

Sex Establishments - Occasional £2,080.00 £2,200.00 5.8%

Street Trading

Upper Gardner Street £530.00 £560.00 5.7%

Zone B £630.00 £670.00 6.3%

Zone A 50 sq ft. £4,360.00 £4,620.00 6.0%

Zone A 42 sq. ft. £3,580.00 £3,790.00 5.9%

Street Artists £30.00 £30.00 0.0%

Misc. Short Term £30.00 £30.00 0.0%

Farmers Maker (per stall) £225.00 £240.00 6.7%

Small Street Marker (per occasion) £310.00 £330.00 6.5%

Gambling Act

Existing Casino - Reg 6 and Reg 8 First Annual and Annual Fees £2,120.00 £2,250.00 6.1%

Existing Casino - Reg 10 Change of circumstance £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Existing Casino - Reg 11 Variation £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Existing Casino - Reg 12 Transfer £1,350.00 £1,350.00 0.0%

Existing Casino - Reg 13 Copy of Licence £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Existing Casino - Reg 14 Reinstatement £1,350.00 £1,350.00 0.0%

Bingo Premises - Reg 5 (2) (a) Non Conversion - Provisional Statement Premises £780.00 £830.00 6.4%

Bingo Premises - Reg 5 (2) (b) Non Conversion - Other Premises £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Bingo Premises - Reg 6 and Reg 8 £740.00 £780.00 5.4%

Bingo Premises - Reg 10 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Bingo Premises - Reg 11 £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Bingo Premises - Reg 12 £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.0%

Bingo Premises - Reg 13 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Bingo Premises - Reg 14 £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.0%

Bingo Premises - Reg 15 Provisional Statement £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Adult Gaming Centre - Reg 5 (2) (a) £780.00 £830.00 6.4%

Adult Gaming Centre - Reg 5 (2) (b) £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Adult Gaming Centre - Reg 6 and Reg 8 £740.00 £780.00 5.4%

Adult Gaming Centre - Reg 10 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Adult Gaming Centre - Reg 11 £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.0%

Adult Gaming Centre - Reg 12 £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.0%

Adult Gaming Centre - Reg 13 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Adult Gaming Centre - Reg 14 £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.0%

Adult Gaming Centre - Reg 15 £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Betting Tracks - Reg 5 (2) (a) £780.00 £830.00 6.4%

Betting Tracks - Reg 5 (2) (b) £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Betting Tracks - Reg 6 and Reg 8 £740.00 £780.00 5.4%

Betting Tracks - Reg 10 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Betting Tracks - Reg 11 £1,250.00 £1,250.00 0.0%

Betting Tracks - Reg 12 £950.00 £950.00 0.0%

Betting Tracks - Reg 13 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Betting Tracks - Reg 14 £950.00 £950.00 0.0%

Betting Tracks - Reg 15 £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Family Entertainment Centre - Reg 5 (2) (a) £780.00 £830.00 6.4%

Family Entertainment Centre - Reg 5 (2) (b) £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Family Entertainment Centre - Reg 6 and Reg 8 £570.00 £600.00 5.3%

Family Entertainment Centre - Reg 10 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Family Entertainment Centre - Reg 11 £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.0%

Family Entertainment Centre - Reg 12 £950.00 £950.00 0.0%

Family Entertainment Centre - Reg 13 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Family Entertainment Centre - Reg 14 £950.00 £950.00 0.0%

Family Entertainment Centre - Reg 15 £1,440.00 £1,530.00 6.3%

Betting Other - Reg 5 (2) (a) £780.00 £830.00 6.4%

Betting Other - Reg 5 (2) (b) £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Betting Other - Reg 6 and Reg 8 £470.00 £500.00 6.4%

2022-23

LICENSING FEES

2023-24

121



Appendix 2 - Proposed Licensing Fees 2023-24

Agreed Fee Proposed 

Fee

Change 

£ £ %

2022-23

LICENSING FEES

2023-24

Betting Other - Reg 10 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Betting Other - Reg 11 £1,490.00 £1,500.00 0.7%

Betting Other - Reg 12 £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.0%

Betting Other - Reg 13 £15.00 £20.00 33.3%

Betting Other - Reg 14 £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.0%

Betting Other - Reg 15 £1,490.00 £1,580.00 6.0%

Lotteries New - Reg 12 £40.00 £40.00 0.0%

Lotteries New - Reg 14 £40.00 £40.00 0.0%

Renewal - Reg 12 £20.00 £20.00 0.0%

Renewal - Reg 14 £40.00 £40.00 0.0%

122



Appendix 3 - Taxi Licensing Fee Trading Accounts 2021-2024

£ £ £ £

Direct Employees 78,910 59,871 26,209 15,281

Indirect Employees 489 839 93 124

Transport Related 684 1,173 130 174

Unmet Demand Survey 6,000 0 0 0

Driver Assessments/Checks 0 16,176 0 4,044

Supplies and Services 8,702 14,918 1,658 2,210

Support Services 9,229 15,822 1,758 2,344

Management Overhead 17,320 29,692 3,299 4,399

Total Expenditure 121,335 138,490 33,147 28,576

Total Income -112,140 -135,336 -31,598 -27,980

Total (Surplus) / Deficit 9,195 3,154 1,549 596

£ £ £ £

Direct Employees 83,882 63,643 27,860 16,244

Indirect Employees 315 540 60 80

Transport Related 630 1,080 120 160

Unmet Demand Survey 6,000 0 0 0

Driver Assessments/Checks 0 12,800 0 3,200

Supplies and Services 4,725 8,100 900 1,200

Support Services 9,126 15,645 1,738 2,318

Management Overhead 18,362 31,477 3,497 4,663

Total Expenditure 123,040 133,286 34,176 27,865

Total Income -114,460 -138,950 -29,131 -29,950

Total (Surplus) / Deficit 8,580 -5,665 5,045 -2,085

£ £ £ £

Direct Employees 87,237 66,189 28,975 16,894

Indirect Employees 315 540 60 80

Transport Related 643 1,102 122 163

Unmet Demand Survey 6,000 0 0 0

Driver Assessments/Checks 0 13,056 0 3,264

Supplies and Services 4,820 8,262 918 1,224

Support Services 9,451 16,202 1,800 2,400

Management Overhead 19,065 32,682 3,631 4,842

Total Expenditure 127,530 138,033 35,507 28,867

Total Income -121,540 -147,112 -31,814 -34,833

Total (Surplus) / Deficit 5,990 -9,079 3,693 -5,966

Total Three-Year (Surplus) / Deficit 23,764 -11,590 10,287 -7,454

2022-23 Financial Year Forecast

CIPFA Standard Subjective

Taxi Licensing - Three Year Accounts

2021-22 Financial Year Actual

Hackney Carriages - 

Vehicles

Hackney Carriages - 

Drivers

Private Hire - Vehicles Private Hire - Drivers

CIPFA Standard Subjective

Hackney Carriages - 

Vehicles

Hackney Carriages - 

Drivers

Private Hire - Vehicles Private Hire - Drivers

CIPFA Standard Subjective

2023-24 Financial Year Budget

Hackney Carriages - 

Vehicles

Hackney Carriages - 

Drivers

Private Hire - Vehicles Private Hire - Drivers

123



124



Appendix 4 - Licence Fee Trading Accounts 2021-2024

£ £ £

Direct Employees 11,371 31,586 17,373

Indirect Employees 136 378 208

Transport 9 26 14

Supplies and Services 151 419 230

Support Services 8,636 23,988 13,193

Management Overheads 2,720 7,556 4,156

Total Expenditure 23,023 63,953 35,174

Total Income -24,010 -64,466 -35,565

Total (Surplus) / Deficit -987 -513 -391

£ £ £

Direct Employees 12,333 34,260 18,843

Indirect Employees 54 150 83

Transport 18 50 28

Supplies and Services 112 310 171

Support Services 8,636 23,988 13,193

Management Overheads 2,916 8,099 4,454

Total Expenditure 24,068 66,856 36,771

Total Income -24,640 -67,360 -35,220

Total (Surplus) / Deficit -572 -504 1,551

£ £ £

Direct Employees 12,827 35,630 19,597

Indirect Employees 55 153 84

Transport 18 51 28

Supplies and Services 114 316 174

Support Services 8,636 23,988 13,193

Management Overheads 3,032 8,423 4,633

Total Expenditure 24,682 68,561 37,708

Total Income -26,110 -70,010 -37,340

Total (Surplus) / Deficit -1,428 -1,449 368

Total Three-Year (Surplus) / Deficit -2,987 -2,466 1,529

Sex Establishments Street Trading (Legal) Gambling Act

CIPFA Standard Subjective

2022-23 Financial Year Forecast

Sex Establishments Street Trading (Legal) Gambling Act

CIPFA Standard Subjective

2023-24 Financial Year Budget

CIPFA Standard Subjective

Gambling Act

Licence Fee - Three Year Accounts

2021-22Financial Year Actual

Sex Establishments Street Trading (Legal)

125



126



Appendix 5 Current and Proposed Animal Activity Licensing Application Fees 2023/24

Current 2022/23 Fees Proposed 2023/24 Fees

New Applicants Renewals Vets Fees *

Licence Type Part A Part B Total Part A Part B Total Part A Part B

Proposed 

Total Fees Increase % Part A Part B

Proposed 

Total Fees Increase %

Dog breeding (Dom) £208.00 £136.00 £344.00 £188.00 £124.00 £312.00 £220.00 £144.00 £364.00 £20.00 5.81% £199.00 £131.00 £330.00 £18.00 5.77%

Dog Breeding (Comm) £240.00 £156.00 £396.00 £208.00 £136.00 £344.00 £254.00 £165.00 £419.00 £23.00 5.81% £220.00 £144.00 £364.00 £20.00 5.81%

Dog Boarding (Dom) £198.00 £131.00 £329.00 £166.00 £114.00 £280.00 £210.00 £139.00 £349.00 £20.00 6.08% £176.00 £121.00 £297.00 £17.00 6.07%

Dog Boarding (Comm) £240.00 £156.00 £396.00 £208.00 £136.00 £344.00 £254.00 £165.00 £419.00 £23.00 5.81% £220.00 £144.00 £364.00 £20.00 5.81%

Cat Boarding £218.00 £146.00 £364.00 £188.00 £124.00 £312.00 £231.00 £155.00 £386.00 £22.00 6.04% £199.00 £131.00 £330.00 £18.00 5.77%

Dog Day Care £218.00 £146.00 £364.00 £188.00 £124.00 £312.00 £231.00 £155.00 £386.00 £22.00 6.04% £199.00 £131.00 £330.00 £18.00 5.77%

Exhibition of animals £240.00 £156.00 £396.00 £208.00 £136.00 £344.00 £254.00 £165.00 £419.00 £23.00 5.81% £220.00 £144.00 £364.00 £20.00 5.81%

Hiring horses £260.00 £176.00 £436.00 £240.00 £156.00 £396.00 £276.00 £187.00 £463.00 £27.00 6.19% £254.00 £165.00 £419.00 £23.00 5.81%

Pet vending £208.00 £136.00 £344.00 £188.00 £124.00 £312.00 £220.00 £144.00 £364.00 £20.00 5.81% £194.00 £128.00 £322.00 £10.00 3.21%

* where applicable

Variation / Transfer of Licence £122.00 £129.00 £7.00 5.74%

Appeals / site visit Price on application

Current - New Applicants

A recharge 

to the 

licensee of 

the cost to 

the 

Authority

Current - Renewals

127



128



LICENSING COMMITTEE 
(NON LICENSING 
FUNCTIONS) 

Agenda Item 17 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Hackney Carriage Fare Review 

Date of Meeting: 13 October 2022 

Report of: Executive Director of Housing, Neighbourhoods, 
and Communities  

Contact Officer: Name: Martin Seymour  Tel: 29-6655 

 Email: martin.seymour@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 

 
1.1  To seek the Committee’s approval and authority to advertise proposed fare 

increases following the hackney carriage trade’s request for an increase in fares. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1   That Committee approves the proposed fare increases and authorises the Head of 

Safer Communities to advertise the proposed variation in fares and invite any 
objections in accordance with the legal requirements. 

 
2.2   Agree that if no objections are made, or if any objections which are made are 

withdrawn, the varied table of fares will come into force in accordance with the 
statutory scheme. 

 
2.3     Reconsider the matter at the next meeting of this Committee if valid objections are 

made but not withdrawn. As there are strict legal timescales relating to fare 
reviews a special meeting of this Committee may be required. 

 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY EVENTS: 
 
3.1   The council may fix the rates for hackney carriage fares within the district as well 

as time and distance and all other charges in connection with the hire of a vehicle 
or with the arrangements for hire of a vehicle to be paid in respect of the hire of a 
hackney carriage. The council does not have the power to set private hire vehicle 
fares but historically the local operators follow the hackney carriage tariffs set by 
the council.  

 

129



3.2  Applications for hackney carriage fare increases are made through the Taxi Forum 
and based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) produced by the Office of National 
Statistics. If the consensus of the trade agrees with a fare increase, 
representatives of the trade will be called to a meeting to discuss any proposals 
with officers of the Council and the lead councillor of the licensing committee who 
will then present any proposal agreed by that meeting to the next available 
meeting of the Licensing Committee for their consideration. 

 
3.3  The last hackney carriage fare increase came into force in March 2022 and was 

based on a 5% increase. The hackney carriage trade now seeks a further increase 
of approximately 5%. 

 
3.4    Justification by the trade for an increase in fares is the soaring inflation rates and 

high fuel costs as well as general motoring costs (parts, tyres, labour, fuel 
additives) since February 2022 when Members considered the last Fare Review.  

 
3.5    The proposal from the trade is based on the on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) 

produced by the Office of National Statistics which shows the increase in CPI 
from August 2019 to May 2022 of 10.5%. The current CPI figures would show 
that this would be 11.9% (August).       

 
3.6    The proposal from the trade equates to a 10p increase per mile to £2.70 and the 

proposed Table of fares can be seen at Appendix 2 and a % change table can be 
seen at Appendix 3.  

 
3.7     A new Night Tariff has been introduced (Tariff 3 & 8) from Midnight to 6.00am. 

This is to encourage more drivers to work during the night. 
 
3.8   Tariffs 6 to 10 are in effect 1.5 x the tariffs of 1 to 4 which was introduced to 

encourage proprietors purchasing wheelchair accessible vehicles and is applied 
to vehicles carrying 5 or more passengers. 

 
3.9   Currently in the national league tables for fares shows that Brighton & Hove is 

positioned joint 20th (August 2022) for Tariff 1 at the 2-mile point and after the 
proposed increase it is estimated that the position will be joint 15th out of 355 
Local Authorities. (See Appendix 5) The average fare increases during May-July 
resulted in the average hackney fare rising by 24p 

 
 
4. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
           Licensing authorities have discretion to fix the table of hackney carriage fares 

within the licensing district. Demand of a fare greater than shown on the meter is 
prohibited except by prior agreement for journeys outside the district. Exercising 
this power offers passengers protection. Not undertaking a hackney carriage 
review may make businesses unprofitable and inadequate number of taxis to 
meet demand.  

 
5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
5.1      The subject of the fare review is a constant agenda item at the council’s hackney 

carriage and private hire consultation forum where all members of that forum are 

130



free to express their opinions. The forum members have delegated negotiations 
to selected representatives. 
 

5.2       The procedure for presenting the trade’s request for a review has been followed. 
This involves the trade’s representatives making representations to the chair of 
The Licensing Committee (non-Licensing Act 2003) and officers.  
 

5.3     A meeting with the trade representatives, the Chair of the Licensing Committee, 
council officers was held on 05 September 2022 where a proposal was agreed in 
principle to go to the committee. 

 
6. CONCLUSION 
 
6.1    The Chair and Vice Chair confirmed their support for the proposed fare review 

follow the meeting with the trade with licensing, legal and financial officers from 
the Council on the 05 September 2022. If approved by members the  increase  
the Head of Community Safety advertises the proposed variation in fares and 
invites any objections in accordance with the legal requirements. 

 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 
7.1 Financial Implications: 
 

The cost of advertising the proposed fare increases will be met from the existing 
hackney carriage revenue budget. The fare levels are used by the trade and are 
not an income stream to the council. 
 
Finance Officer Consulted:    Michael Bentley     Date: 14/09/22 
 

7.2 Legal Implications: 
 
 The power to fix fares for hackney carriages is provided by Section 65 of the 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. The procedure is set out 
in the body of the report. 
 
Lawyer Consulted: Name      Rebecca Sidell                  Date: 13/09/22 

 
7.3 Equalities Implications: 

 
 Licensing authorities must ensure that a safe hackney carriage and private hire 

vehicle service is freely available to meet the demand across all sectors of the 
public, especially those vulnerable groups to whom a taxi or private hire vehicle 
is often the only means of completing a journey 

 
7.4 Sustainability Implications: 
 
  The role of the taxi trade is included in the Local Transport Plan, which identifies 

it as a key element in providing sustainable transport choices. It creates important 
links in the transport network to other forms of sustainable transport providing a 
seamless connection. It will contribute to three of the government’s four shared 
transport priorities – reducing congestion, improving air quality and accessibility. 
Use of taxis for school transport, licensed vehicles using bus lanes, locating ranks 

131



at railway stations and the city coach station, approved use of liquid petroleum 
gas and provision of Rapid Charging Hubs all contribute to reducing congestion 
and moving passengers quickly.  

 
7.5 Any Other Significant Implications:  
 

None 

 
 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 
 
Appendix 1 Trade Submission 
  
Appendix 2 Proposed tariff card. 
 
Appendix 3 % Change Sheet Tariffs 1-5.  
 
Appendix 4 % Change Sheet Tariffs 6-10 
 
Appendix 5 League Table of Fares 
 
 
 
 
 

132



Dear Councillors, 
 
The taxi trade is seeking a further review of the Hackney Carriage Fares table to keep in line with the 
current CPI rate which is also taking place in many other licensing areas.  
  
We have not taken into consideration the projected CPI rate which has been predicted to rise even 
further over the next few months (18% Jan 23).  
However, taking into consideration the ‘Fare Review’ from earlier this year the proposed revised 
table will now bring the revision in line with, and still below, the current CPI rate.  
  
In order to maintain the service of driving a taxi for a living there are specific factors which must be 
taken into consideration which include purchasing/maintaining vehicles to the required standard 
and the cost of fuel. 
  
In addition to this the most important factor is attracting drivers to not only join the trade but to also 
stay within it as there has been a considerable loss of ‘local’ drivers since over the years as driving a 
’locally licensed’ taxi seems to be deemed less viable then getting licensed under another local 
authority and predominantly working here in the city. 
  
Working with Martin Seymour from the Licensing Department as a united trade consisting of around 
ten groups, a revised fare table has been debated at great length and unanimously agreed on. 
 
It should be pointed out that the agreed new table of fares is actually lower than was originally 
offered to us which had an increased ‘Night-time’ charge from 9 pm to 6am. 
 
The trade unanimously agreed not to support the suggested time period for this as we considered 
that this would mostly affect people coming home from work on the trains as well as possibly 
affecting those who were starting an early evening shift such as nurses and others. 
 
Taking these reasons into consideration the trade unanimously agreed that the new ‘Late Night’ 
charge that was offered to us should be implement from 12 midnight to 6 am instead of 9 pm to 6 
am. 
 
The local licensed trade seeks the support from all councillors on the Licensing Committee on the 
proposed revision of the ‘Fare Review’ 
  
 Many thanks.  
 On behalf of the Trade Forum.  
 

133



134



BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
  MAXIMUM HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARES 

Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
The fares apply to all hiring’s within Brighton & Hove City.  Journeys ending outside the city area may not exceed the authorised 
metered maximum fare unless a prior contract is made with the driver at the time of hiring.   

The fare YOU SHOULD PAY along with the relevant Tariff code will be shown automatically on the Taximeter. 
ONLY EXTRA CHARGES MARKED ** MAY BE ADDED TO THE METER BY THE DRIVER. 

Tariff 1 – NORMAL FARE  
Applies to all hiring’s except those mentioned in tariffs 2,3,4,5,6,7 & 8  
Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

£3.00 
For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

30p 

Tariff 2 - Night  
each day between the hours of 9pm and midnight,  

Sundays – between the hours of 6am and midnight.  

Bank or Public Holiday - between the hours of 6am and midnight 

excluding the times covered by Christmas Day and New Year extra charges 
Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

£4.00 For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

30p 

Tariff 3 – Late Night  
each day between the hours of midnight and 6am 
excluding the times covered by Tariffs 4 & 5 
Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of  
distance and time. 

£5.00 For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time 

30p 

Tariff 4 - Christmas Day & Boxing Day  
between 9pm 24 December and 6am 27 December.  

New Year - between 6am and 10am 1st January 

Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

£4.50 For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

45p 

Tariff 5 - New Year  
between 9pm 31 December and 6am 1 January 
Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

£6.00 For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

60p 

 

For Journeys with 5 to 8 passengers the following tariffs may apply 
 

Tariff 6 – NORMAL FARE  
Applies to all hiring’s except those mentioned in tariffs 1,2,3,4,6,7 & 8 
Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

£4.50 For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time 

45p 

Tariff 7 - Night  
each day between the hours of 9pm and midnight 
Sundays – between the hours of 6am and midnight  
Bank or Public Holiday - excluding the times covered by Christmas and new 
year extra charge. 
Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

£6.00 For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time 

45p 

Tariff 8 – Late Night 
each day between the hours of midnight and 6am 
excluding the times covered by Tariffs 9 & 10 
Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of  
distance and time. 

£7.50 For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time 

45p 

Tariff 9 - Christmas Day & Boxing Day  

between 9pm 24 December and 6am 27 December.  

New Year - between 6am and 10am 1st January 

Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

£6.75 For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time 

70p 

135



Tariff 10 – New Year  

between 9pm 31 December and 6am 1st January 
Initial distance not exceeding 293 yards or 80 seconds or a combination of 
distance and time. 

£9.00 For all or part of each 
subsequent 197 yards or 54 
seconds or a combination of 
distance and time 

90p 

 

The maximum number of persons this vehicle is licensed to carry includes children of any age. 
Payment for out of city journeys may be requested by the driver in advance of the journey. 
A person who hires this vehicle but makes off without paying the fare in full commits an offence. 
****An operator’s account administration charges, including VAT at the current rate, agreed by prior contract, may be 
charged separately and if charged will form part of the fare for the purpose of any legislation.  
 
****These charges cannot be added by the driver to the fare shown on the taximeter. 
 

Any COMPLAINTS should be made in writing and sent to the Hackney Carriage Office,  
Hove Town Hall, Norton Road, Hove, BN3 3BQ  or email to hco@brighton-hove.gov.uk                        November 2022 

 

Extra Charges – that may be added to the metered fare by the driver 

*Fouling Charge (Charge levied dependent on extent and type of Fouling)  
 
**Booking Fee for telephone and pre-booked hirings 
 
***The driver may charge any road charges or tolls where applicable (this must be agreed with 
the customer before hire commences) 

* UPTO £100.00* 

 
**20p** 

 

136



Proposal Oct 22

CURRENT TARIFF CURRENT TARIFF 

Name : Name : Name : Name : Name :

Date: 01/03/22 Date: 01/03/22 Date: Date: 01/03/22 Date: 01/03/22

Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00

Wait: 36 (secs) Wait: 36 (secs) Wait: 36 (secs) Wait: 36 (secs) Wait: 36 (secs)

Flag fall: £3.00 A Flag fall: £4.00 A Flag fall: A Flag fall: £4.50 A Flag fall: £6.00 A

Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B

Unit  thereafter: 138.1 C Unit  thereafter: 138.1 C
Unit  

thereafter: C Unit  thereafter: 140.8 C Unit  thereafter: 140.8 C

Price unit : 0.2 D Price unit : 0.2 D Price unit : D Price unit : 0.3 D Price unit : 0.4 D

Initial Waiting Time (secs): 76 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 76 Initial Waiting Time (secs): #DIV/0! Initial Waiting Time (secs): 75 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 75

 PROPOSAL   - March  2015Oct-22  PROPOSAL   - March  2015Oct-22

Name : Name : Name : Name : Name :

Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00

Wait: 54 (secs) Wait: 54 (secs) Wait: 54 (secs) Wait: 54 (secs) Wait: 54 (secs)

Flag fall: £3.00 A Flag fall: £4.00 A Flag fall: £5.00 A Flag fall: £4.50 A Flag fall: £6.00 A

Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B

Unit  thereafter: 197 C Unit  thereafter: 197 C
Unit  

thereafter: 197 C Unit  thereafter: 197 C Unit  thereafter: 197 C

Price unit : 0.3 D Price unit : 0.3 D Price unit : 0.3 D Price unit : 0.45 D Price unit : 0.6 D

Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80

Distance Distance Distance Distance Distance

(miles) Current Proposed % Change (miles) Current Proposed % Change (miles) Current Proposed % Change (miles) Current Proposed % Change (miles) Current Proposed % Change

Flag £3.00 £3.00 0.00% Flag £4.00 £4.00 0.00% Flag £0.00 £5.00 #DIV/0! Flag £4.50 £4.50 0.00% Flag £6.00 £6.00 0.00%

1 £5.20 £5.40 3.85% 1 £6.20 £6.40 3.23% 1 £0.00 £7.40 #DIV/0! 1 £7.80 £8.10 3.85% 1 £10.40 £10.80 3.85%

2 £7.80 £8.10 3.85% 2 £8.80 £9.10 3.41% 2 £0.00 £10.10 #DIV/0! 2 £11.70 £12.15 3.85% 2 £15.60 £16.20 3.85%

3 £10.40 £10.80 3.85% 3 £11.40 £11.80 3.51% 3 £0.00 £12.80 #DIV/0! 3 £15.60 £16.20 3.85% 3 £20.80 £21.60 3.85%

4 £12.80 £13.50 5.47% 4 £13.80 £14.50 5.07% 4 £0.00 £15.50 #DIV/0! 4 £19.20 £20.25 5.47% 4 £25.60 £27.00 5.47%

5 £15.40 £16.20 5.19% 5 £16.40 £17.20 4.88% 5 £0.00 £18.20 #DIV/0! 5 £23.10 £24.30 5.19% 5 £30.80 £32.40 5.19%

6 £18.00 £18.90 5.00% 6 £19.00 £19.90 4.74% 6 £0.00 £20.90 #DIV/0! 6 £27.00 £28.35 5.00% 6 £36.00 £37.80 5.00%

7 £20.60 £21.60 4.85% 7 £21.60 £22.60 4.63% 7 £0.00 £23.60 #DIV/0! 7 £30.90 £32.40 4.85% 7 £41.20 £43.20 4.85%

8 £23.00 £24.00 4.35% 8 £24.00 £25.00 4.17% 8 £0.00 £26.00 #DIV/0! 8 £34.50 £36.00 4.35% 8 £46.00 £48.00 4.35%

9 £25.60 £26.70 4.30% 9 £26.60 £27.70 4.14% 9 £0.00 £28.70 #DIV/0! 9 £38.40 £40.05 4.30% 9 £51.20 £53.40 4.30%

10 £28.20 £29.40 4.26% 10 £29.20 £30.40 4.11% 10 £0.00 £31.40 #DIV/0! 10 £42.30 £44.10 4.26% 10 £56.40 £58.80 4.26%

Based on CPI 10.5 from August 2019 to May 22

Note: CPI 11.9% From August 2019 to August 22

TARIFF 1 TARIFF 2

TARIFF 1 TARIFF 2

TARIFF 1 TARIFF 2

TARIFF 5

TARIFF 5

TARIFF 5

TARIFF 3 TARIFF 4

TARIFF 3 TARIFF 4

TARIFF 3 TARIFF 4

137



138



Proposal Oct 22

CURRENT TARIFF CURRENT TARIFF 

Name : Name : Name : Name : Name :

Date: 01/03/22 Date: 01/03/22 Date: N/A Date: 01/03/22 Date: 01/03/22

Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00

Wait: 36 (secs) Wait: 36 (secs) Wait: 36 (secs) Wait: 36 (secs) Wait: 36 (secs)

Flag fall: £4.50 A Flag fall: £6.00 A Flag fall: A Flag fall: £6.75 A Flag fall: £9.00 A

Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B

Unit  thereafter: 138.9 C Unit  thereafter: 138.9 C
Unit  

thereafter: C Unit  thereafter: 138.9 C Unit  thereafter: 138.9 C

Price unit : 0.3 D Price unit : 0.3 D Price unit : D Price unit : 0.45 D Price unit : 0.6 D

Initial Waiting Time (secs): 76 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 76 Initial Waiting Time (secs): #DIV/0! Initial Waiting Time (secs): 76 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 76

 PROPOSAL   - March  2015Oct-22  PROPOSAL   - March  2015Oct-22

Name : Name : Name : Name : Name :

Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00 Soiling charge: £100.00

Wait: 54 (secs) Wait: 54 (secs) Wait: 54 (secs) Wait: 54 (secs) Wait: 54 (secs)

Flag fall: £4.50 A Flag fall: £6.00 A Flag fall: £7.50 A Flag fall: £6.75 A Flag fall: £9.00 A

Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B Initial yardage: 293 B

Unit  thereafter: 197 C Unit  thereafter: 197 C
Unit  

thereafter: 197 C Unit  thereafter: 197 C Unit  thereafter: 197 C

Price unit : 0.45 D Price unit : 0.45 D Price unit : 0.45 D Price unit : 0.7 D Price unit : 0.9 D

Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80 Initial Waiting Time (secs): 80

Distance Distance Distance Distance Distance

(miles) Current Proposed % Change (miles) Current Proposed % Change (miles) Current Proposed % Change (miles) Current Proposed % Change (miles) Current Proposed % Change

Flag £4.50 £4.50 0.00% Flag £6.00 £6.00 0.00% Flag £0.00 £7.50 #DIV/0! Flag £6.75 £6.75 0.00% Flag £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

1 £7.80 £8.10 3.85% 1 £9.30 £9.60 3.23% 1 £0.00 £11.10 #DIV/0! 1 £11.70 £12.35 5.56% 1 £15.60 £16.20 3.85%

2 £11.70 £12.15 3.85% 2 £13.20 £13.65 3.41% 2 £0.00 £15.15 #DIV/0! 2 £17.55 £18.65 6.27% 2 £23.40 £24.30 3.85%

3 £15.30 £16.20 5.88% 3 £16.80 £17.70 5.36% 3 £0.00 £19.20 #DIV/0! 3 £22.95 £24.95 8.71% 3 £30.60 £32.40 5.88%

4 £19.20 £20.25 5.47% 4 £20.70 £21.75 5.07% 4 £0.00 £23.25 #DIV/0! 4 £28.80 £31.25 8.51% 4 £38.40 £40.50 5.47%

5 £23.10 £24.30 5.19% 5 £24.60 £25.80 4.88% 5 £0.00 £27.30 #DIV/0! 5 £34.65 £37.55 8.37% 5 £46.20 £48.60 5.19%

6 £26.70 £28.35 6.18% 6 £28.20 £29.85 5.85% 6 £0.00 £31.35 #DIV/0! 6 £40.05 £43.85 9.49% 6 £53.40 £56.70 6.18%

7 £30.60 £32.40 5.88% 7 £32.10 £33.90 5.61% 7 £0.00 £35.40 #DIV/0! 7 £45.90 £50.15 9.26% 7 £61.20 £64.80 5.88%

8 £34.50 £36.00 4.35% 8 £36.00 £37.50 4.17% 8 £0.00 £39.00 #DIV/0! 8 £51.75 £55.75 7.73% 8 £69.00 £72.00 4.35%

9 £38.10 £40.05 5.12% 9 £39.60 £41.55 4.92% 9 £0.00 £43.05 #DIV/0! 9 £57.15 £62.05 8.57% 9 £76.20 £80.10 5.12%

10 £42.00 £44.10 5.00% 10 £43.50 £45.60 4.83% 10 £0.00 £47.10 #DIV/0! 10 £63.00 £68.35 8.49% 10 £84.00 £88.20 5.00%

Based on CPI 10.5 from August 2019 to May 22

Note: CPI 11.9% From August 2019 to August 22

TARIFF 6 TARIFF 7

TARIFF 6 TARIFF 7

TARIFF 6 TARIFF 7

TARIFF 10

TARIFF 10

TARIFF 10

TARIFF 8 TARIFF 9

TARIFF 8 TARIFF 9

TARIFF 8 TARIFF 9

139



140



141



142



LICENSING COMMITTEE 

(NON LICENSING ACT 
2003 FUNCTIONS) 

Agenda Item 18 
 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

  

Subject: Blue Handbook for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Drivers, Vehicles and Operators Amendments  

Date of Meeting: 13 October 2022 

Report of: Director of Housing, Neighbourhoods and 
Communities 

Contact Officer: Name:  Martin Seymour Tel: 29-6659 

 E-mail:  martin.seymour@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 

Wards 
Affected: 

All  

  
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1   Members are asked to consider various amendments to the 6th addition of the Blue 

Handbook Hackney Carriage & Private Hire, Drivers Operators & Vehicles.  
  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That Members agree the following changes   
 
2.2    A new condition that all tyres on a vehicle must be under 10 years old 

 
2.3   The Council will no longer licence vehicles that are Category S ‘write offs’. 
 
2.4 Members approve various amendments regarding the licensing objectives and 

guidelines on Convictions to the Blue Book as outlined in Appendix 1 
 
2.5   Remove the condition that Private Hire Vehicles are required to have a Fire Extinguisher  
 
2.6   Agree updated Guidance with regard to First Aid as described at 3.6  
 
2.7  Agree the Temporary Age Limit for Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles as described at 3.12 
 

 
  3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY EVENTS: 
 
 
TYRES 

 
3.1   At one of the Multi Agency Operations, DVLA officers found tyres on a Hackney Carriage 

Vehicle to be over 25 years old. They were concerned that with a tyre of that age as it 

143

mailto:martin.seymour@brighton-hove.gov.uk


is impossible to tell how the condition of the cords and structure within the tyre and that 
the tyre could disintegrate at any time. This had been the cause of some major PSV 
accidents. The DVSA officers advised that tyres on licensed vehicles should be no older 
than 10 years old.   

 
CATEGORY S WRITE OFFS 
 
3.2  Following accidents Insurance companies categorised vehicles according the type of 

damage to the vehicle from Cosmetic to Completely unrepairable. We currently licence 
Category S vehicles however the new standard for Category S means the vehicle has 
suffered structural damage. This could include a bent or twisted chassis, or a crumple 
zone that has collapsed in a crash. Category S damage is more than just cosmetic. 
Officers believe that in the interest of public safety Category S vehicles should no 
longer be licenced.  

         The Council will continue to licence Category N vehicles (formerly Category D) as 
these have not sustained structural damage, but the issue may be cosmetic or a 
problem with the electrics that is not economical to repair provided the vehicle has 
been professionally repaired and road worthy. 

 

GUIDANCE ON CONVICTIONS 

3.3  The Guidance on the licensing objective of prevention of crime and disorder,  
safeguarding of children and the vulnerable and the protection of the public and 
convictions has been made more robust to bring in line with the Statutory Standards 
published by the Government in July 2020 and following appeals in the magistrates. 
See Appendix 1 for changes 

 

FIRE EXTINQUISHERS 

 
3.4  The trade have requested that the need for Fire Extinguishers in taxis should be removed 

on safety and grounds of cost. The latest Dft Best Practice Guidance Consultation 
document suggests that if it is a requirement to have fire extinguishers, we should 
provide training on their use. We are unable to remove the requirement for Hackney 
Carriages at this stage as it is a requirement of the byelaws rather than a licence 
condition.  

 
The advice from the Fire Service is if and only if you believe it is safe to do so, attempt 
to put out the fire with a dry powder or foam extinguisher. If the fire is in the engine 
compartment, do not open the bonnet but aim the extinguisher through the radiator 
grille or under the edge of the bonnet. Use with caution and if in doubt, don’t attempt to 
tackle the fire. 
Never use water on an engine fire – it can short out wiring and spread burning petrol 
with disastrous effect. 
Don’t forget – 35% of car fires are accidental, so you can help yourself, by taking the 
above precautions. 
 

 

144



 
 
FIRST AID KITS 
 
3.5   Home to School Transport have request that section 190. in the Blue Handbook for 

Hackney Carriage, Drivers, Vehicles and Operators be clarified and aligned with Home 
to School Contracts for clarity. Currently the Blue Book States: 
 
190. First Aid  

  

         Your attention is drawn to your liability if rendering first aid. The kit if carried is to 
enable ONLY those trained in its use to render assistance to third parties. If the 
need for its use should arise it should only be used by a person who holds a 
current recognised first aid certificate. If a passenger requested the equipment 
then it may be provided for self-administration by the customer in the interest of 
customer care. If carried the First Aid Kit should be kept in a clean dry area of the 
vehicle   

 
3.6    It is proposed that the section should be amended as follows: 

 
190. First Aid  
 

Your attention is drawn to your liability if rendering first aid. The First Aid Kit, if carried 
is to enable ONLY those trained in its use to render assistance to passengers or third 
parties. If the need for its use should arise it should only be used by a person who holds 
a current recognised first aid certificate. If a passenger requested the equipment, then 
it may be provided for self-administration by that passenger. If carried, the First Aid Kit 
should be kept in a clean, dry area of the vehicle. 

 

First aid is not to be administered when working on Home to School Transport contracts 
unless: 

1. it is in accordance with directions from a 999 operator 
2. in the event of an epileptic seizure, in which case you must follow the guidance 

set out in the Epilepsy Care Plan, where provided.  
3. in the case of any known allergies, in which case you must follow the guidance 

set out in the passenger’s Allergy & Anaphylaxis Emergency Care Plan, where 
provided. 
 

Those working on Home to School Transport contracts are to follow the service’s 
Medical Emergency Procedure. 

 

3.7  It has been a requirement not to administer first aid on Home to School Contracts 
since 2020. Instead, the service has in place a Medical Emergency Procedure and all 
drivers are trained in the procedure prior to undertaking a journey on behalf of the 
service. It is encouraged that a laminated sheet with this procedure is stored in each 
vehicle.  

 

145



At service spot checks all drivers are asked to recite the Emergency Medical 
Procedure: 

  

i. Stop the vehicle in a safe place 
ii. Dial 999 and request an ambulance 

iii. Follow the instructions you are given on the phone 
iv. Record the time of the incident 
v. Inform your office and ask them to inform the parents/carers, the school, and the 

Home to School Transport team. 
 
The only exception would be if the passenger is having an epileptic seizure and drivers 
are asked to follow the Epilepsy Care Plan, where provided, or in the case of any known 
allergies where drivers are asked to follow guidance set out in the Allergy & 
Anaphylaxis Emergency Care Plan, where provided. 

 

3.8 Passengers using the Home to School Transport have a Pupil Travel Information Form 
which contains pertinent information in relation to their special educational needs and 
disabilities (SEND) and their individual needs. This is shared with their transport crew 
prior to transport, and available should they need to refer to it if they have to make a 
999 call. 

 

3.9   The passengers using the Home to School Transport Service have a wide breadth of 
special educational needs and disabilities, ranging from mild educational needs to 
severe and complex disabilities. It is because of this wide range of needs that it would 
not be safe or suitable for drivers to administer first aid, unless directed to so by a 999 
operator or when following a written plan discussed and agreed by the Home to School 
Transport Team in consultation with the child’s parents /carers.   

 
TEMPORARY WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE VEHICLE AGE LIMITS 
 

3.10  Officers have received a request from the trade to temporarily  extend the age limit of 
wheelchair accessible vehicles as they are having difficulty in purchasing wheelchair 
accessible vehicles in the current marketplace and are unable to purchase new 
vehicles due to availability. Vehicle suppliers have reported that the ongoing microchip 
shortage is playing havoc with the new car market. One of the main Taxi Dealers 
nationally is reporting that: 

         For popular models such as Skoda Octavias, Superbs, Volkswagen Passats etc 
delivery times are 26 weeks. For larger vehicles with higher CO2 outputs the situation 
is worse as the manufacturers are prioritising EV and hybrid vehicles to comply with 
their emission targets. These larger vehicles tend to be the ones that a capable of being 
modified to be wheelchair accessible. The microchip shortage is expected to last for 
some time with some manufacturers already stating that they will not have supply back 
to normal levels for some time. 

  

3.11 Currently the age limit for all vehicles is: 

In the case of a first application for a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle licence 

diesel vehicles must be manufactured to Euro 6 emission standard and petrol 

146



vehicles manufactured to Euro 4 emission standard and must not normally exceed 

10 years of age from date of initial DVLA registration and not more than 10 years of 

age in the case of any subsequent application for renewal of licence.  

The maximum age limit described above, may only be exceeded if the vehicle 

presented is in exceptional condition, A vehicle may only exceed the normal age 

limit for a maximum of 2 years.  

 

3.12 Members are requested to extend the  maximum age limit beyond 10 years for 

Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles to 4 years if the vehicle is in exceptional condition 

until 1st April 2025 when the maximum age limit beyond 10 years will revert to 2 

years for all vehicles and that Vehicles over 12 years will require a Compliance, 

Fitness and Emissions test every 4 months and proprietors will be expected to be 

actively looking for a replacement vehicle during this time. 

 

 

4.  COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
     

 4.1. This matter was discussed at the Brighton & Hove Hackney Carriage & Private Hire 
Consultation Forum and a formal consultation was undertaken with the trade.  

 
4.2  The Brighton & Hove Parent and Carers Council are in support of this proposed 

clarification regarding the administering of first aid. 
 

 
5.  FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
  
Financial Implications: 
 
5.1. Any costs associated with making amendments to the Blue Book will be met from 
existing revenue budgets. 
 
Finance Officer Consulted:   Michael Bentley      Date: 23/09/2022 

 
Legal Implications: 
 
5.2. Conditions imposed should be reasonably necessary and any changes to policy should 
have a sound legal and rational basis 
 
Lawyer Consulted:     Rebecca Sidell              Date: 30/09/22 
 
Equalities Implications: 
 
5.3 Licensing authorities must ensure that a safe hackney carriage and private hire vehicle 
service is freely available to meet the demand across all sectors of the public, especially 
those vulnerable groups to whom a taxi or private hire vehicle is often the only means of 
completing a journey 
 
Sustainability Implications:  
 

147



5.4 None. 
 
Crime & Disorder Implications: 
 
5.5 Contained in the body of the report. 
 
6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 
6.1. Option 1 

Keep existing Policies & Objectives.  
6.2. Option 2 

Adopt licensing objectives and guidelines as above 
 
7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1. To make amendments to the current Blue Handbook for Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire Drivers, Vehicles and Operators  
 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION  
  
Appendices:  
  

1.  Outlines the various amendments regarding the licensing objectives and guidelines on 
Convictions to the Blue Book 

  
 

148



Appendix 

Various Changes to the Current Guidance on Convictions & Conditions 

Fit & Proper Test 

The correct test as set out in the legislation is whether the driver is a fit and proper person. An 
alternate view could be as follows:    
Would you allow your son or daughter, spouse or partner, mother or father grandson or 
granddaughter or any other person for whom you care, to get into a vehicle with this person 
alone?   
 
We also note a further test of “Would I be comfortable providing sensitive information such as 
holiday plans, movements of my family or other information to this person and feel safe in the 
knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal or unacceptable 
purposes. 
 
Amend to: 
 

The correct test as set out in the legislation is whether the driver is a fit and proper person. An 
alternate view as proposed in the new Statutory taxi and private hire standards is as follows: 
  
Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would you allow a person for 
whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone in a vehicle driven by this person 
at any time of day or night.  
 
We also note a further test of operators of “Would I be comfortable providing sensitive 
information such as holiday plans, movements of my family or other information to this person 
and feel safe in the knowledge that such information will not be used or passed on for criminal 
or unacceptable purposes. 
 

Code of Conduct when working with Vulnerable Passengers 
 
A vulnerable passenger is a passenger whose age or disability means that they are more 
susceptible to harm than a typical passenger. This may be a child, an elderly person or somebody 
with learning difficulties for example.  
 
Amend to: 
 
A vulnerable passenger is a passenger whose age, disability, or any other factor (whether 
permanent or temporary) means that they are more susceptible to harm than a typical 
passenger. This may be a child, an elderly person or somebody with learning difficulties for 
example.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

149



Exploitation  
 
Under the definition of exploitation and modern-day slavery and trafficking we include the use 
of young people for the transport and sale of illegal drugs (County Lines) 
 
Amend to: 
 
Under the definition of exploitation and modern slavery and trafficking we include the use of 
young people and vulnerable adults for the transport and sale of illegal drugs (County Lines) 
 

Guidance on Convictions 
 
Note: The duty to report any of the above matters also applies to those with an 

existing licence (driver, vehicle, or operator) Failing to disclose any of the above 

will be regarded as a serious breach of the terms of the license and action will normally 

take place. An applicant’s failure to disclose any of the above will be taken into 

consideration when assessing their propriety to become a licensed driver. Multiple 

convictions irrespective of time then serious consideration will need to be given as to 

whether they are a safe and suitable person. 

 

Amend to: 

 

Note: The duty to report any of the above matters also applies to those with an 

existing licence (driver, vehicle or operator) Failing to disclose any of the above 

will be regarded as a serious breach of the terms of the license and action will 

normally take place. An applicant’s failure to disclose any of the above will be 

taken into consideration when assessing their propriety to be a licensed driver. 

Where there are multiple convictions irrespective of when, then serious 

consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable 

person 

 

        Indecency 

 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal 

sexual activity or any form of indecency, a licence will not normally be granted. The 

authority will not grant a licence to any applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders 

Register or on any ‘barred’ list, other than in exceptional circumstances as these 

offences cover a wide range of behaviour each case will be considered on its own 

merit. A very serious view will be taken of rape, sexual assaults, gross indecency 

particularly where a child or adult with vulnerability is concerned. Allegations of sexual 

assault where drugs are a feature will also be considered to be very serious. 

 
Amend to: 
 
Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with 

illegal sexual activity, a licence will not normally be granted. The authority will 

not grant a licence to any applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders 

Register or on any ‘barred’ list, other than in exceptional circumstances As 

these offences cover a wide range of behaviour each case will be considered 

on its own merit. A very serious view will be taken of rape, sexual assaults, 

150



gross indecency particularly where a child or adult with vulnerability is 

concerned. Allegations of sexual assault where drugs are a feature will also be 

considered to be very serious. 

 

Renewal of Drivers Licence 
 

Any driver disqualified by a court under the totting up procedure or otherwise will be 

required to apply as a new applicant following at least one year from restoration of 

their DVLA licence.   

 

Amend to: 

 
Any driver disqualified by a court under the totting up procedure or otherwise 

will, other than in exceptional circumstances, normally be required to apply as 

a new applicant following at least one year from restoration of their DVLA 

licence.   

 
 

              

151



152



LICENSING COMMITTEE  

(NON LICENSING ACT  

2003 FUNCTIONS)  

Agenda Item 19 

  

Brighton & Hove City Council  

  

Subject:  Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Driver Enforcement 

and Monitoring  

Date of Meeting:                 13 October 2022  

Report of:                            Executive Director of Housing,  

Neighbourhoods & Communities  

Contact Officer: Name:  Alex Evans  Tel: 296659  

  E-mail: alex.evans@brighton-hove.gov.uk  

  

Wards Affected: All    

  

  

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT:  

  

1.1 This report was requested by Members to update Members on enforcement 

action taken against Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers and Applicants 

between June 2022 and September 2022.  

  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:    

  

2.1 That Members note the contents of this report and that officers should 

continue to act as appropriate.  

  

3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY 

EVENTS:  

  

3.1 Legislation in relation to the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 which applies to both hackney carriages 

and private hire vehicles is enforced by the local authority. Non-criminal 

enforcement can also be affected by means of action taken against the licence 

held by the person who has transgressed such as warnings, suspensions, or 

revocations.  

  

3.2 Any driver must be a fit and proper person. It is not possible to give a precise 

definition of what this is, but at its heart is keeping passengers safe and free 

from risk. It is the responsibility of the applicant to satisfy the council that they 

are fit and proper and that they are safe and suitable to hold a licence.  

  

153



3.3 The council can suspend, revoke, or refuse a hackney carriage or private hire 

vehicles and/or driver licences. However, a driver licence cannot be suspended 

and then revoked at a later date such as at the conclusion of a prosecution. 

Other actions are available to officers such as verbal or written warnings which 

can be applied in line with the Councils Licensing Enforcement Policy.    

3.4 All cases are looked at on their own individual merit and if necessary, such as 

in CSE cases multi agency meetings may be held to review available 

evidence. When acting against a licence, decisions are investigated by officers 

and a recommendation is made to a manager who makes the decision in 

consultation with a lawyer. In addition, the most difficult matters would come 

to the Chair and to the two lead members for discussion. If a matter was 

serious and required immediate suspension, then officers would come to 

members as soon as possible after they had acted.  

  

3.5 In addition to day-to-day enforcement work, officers normally carryout weekly 

out of hours enforcement work, normally at weekends and weekday evenings. 

This includes monitoring of hot spot areas for over and illegal ranking and 

plying for hire, vehicle inspections and occasional test purchase operations. 

General enforcement is essentially checking the vehicle is safe to be on the 

road and that the driver’s details are correct. The officers are trained in vehicle 

inspection and checks could include several things illustrated on the check list 

in Appendix A. Primarily, it involves checking the tyres, lights, steering, 

suspension, as well as the general condition of the vehicle, livery and that the 

meter is working correctly. 

 

3.6 A multi-agency operation took place on the 20thJune 2022, with officers from 

Sussex Police and Lewis District Council. 23 vehicles were checked, 9 of 

these vehicles were licenced with Chichester and Lewes District Council.  2 

vehicles licenced by Brighton and Hove  and 4 licenced by Lewes had 

enforcement actions taken, 1 Chichester driver received a Fixed Penalty and 

3 points for bald tyre. 

 

3.7 A mystery shopper exercise took place on the 2/7/2022, one Lewes driver is 

under investigation for plying for hire and a Lewes operator linked to this is 

also being investigated for operating outside the district.  

 

3.8 Joint operation with Sussex Police took place, during this a Chichester licence 

vehicle was stopped for turning right against a no right turn on to the Kings 

Road.  Vehicle was stopped who had two passengers in the rear, driver did 

not have his drivers badge and on further investigation was found not to be 

licenced.  Vehicle was seized by police due to driver having no insurance and 

joint investigation is ongoing in relation to licencing offences.  

 

3.9 A multi-agency operation took place on the 28th September 2022, with officers 

from Sussex Police, DVSA, Lewes and Chichester District Council. 45 

vehicles were checked, 35 of these vehicles were licenced with Brighton and 

Hove,  3 Chichester, 5 Lewes, 1 Mid Sussex and 1 Havant.  13 vehicles had 

154

http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000116/M00004595/AI00033782/$20130617124617_004350_0016798_AppxGLicensingEnforcementPolicy.pdfA.ps.pdf
http://present.brighton-hove.gov.uk/Published/C00000116/M00004595/AI00033782/$20130617124617_004350_0016798_AppxGLicensingEnforcementPolicy.pdfA.ps.pdf


enforcement action taken, 9 licenced by BHCC, 3 with Chichester and 1 with 

Lewes.   

 

  

  

3.10   For actions taken against drivers / applicants between February 2022 and 

June 2022 See Appendix B.  

  

4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION  

       
4.1 None.  

  

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS:  

 Financial Implications:  

  

5.1 This report is for information purposes only, so there are no financial 

implications.  

  

    Finance Officer Consulted:    Michael Bentley          Date:  

  

Legal Implications:  

  

5.2 There are no direct legal implications.  

  

Lawyer Consulted:   Rebecca Sidell                         Date:  

  

Equalities Implications:  

  

5.3 Licensing authorities must ensure that a safe hackney carriage and private 

hire service is freely available to meet the demand across all sectors of the 

public, especially those vulnerable groups to whom a taxi or private hire 

vehicle is often the only means of completing a journey.  

  

Sustainability Implications:   

  

5.4 None.  

  

Crime & Disorder Implications:  

  

5.5 Contained in the body of the report.  

  

6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S):  

  

6.1 None – for information only.  

  

7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS  

  

155



7.1 For information only.  

  

  

Appendices   

  

A. Vehicle Inspection Sheet  

  

B. Actions taken against Drivers  

156



157



158



Enforcement Actions Since Licensing Committee October 2022 

 

 Licence Type Date Brief Description of Case  Aggravating Factors: Mitigating Factors: Enforcement Action 
Taken: 

1 Hacknen 
Carriage Dual 
Licence 

24.06.2022 Ranking at front of Brighton 
Station in breach of bylaws 

  Wiritten Warning  

2 Hacknen 
Carriage Dual 
Licence 

24.06.2022 Ranking at front of Brighton 
Station in breach of bylaws 

  Wiritten Warning  

3. Hackney 
Carriage Dual 
Licence 

26/07/2022 Driver arrested by Sussex Police 
for death by dangerous driving 
 
CCTV retrieved. 

  Revoked 

4. Hackney 
Carriage Dual  
Licence 

19.07.2022 Driver did not meet the group 2 
medical standards 

  Suspension 

5. Private Hire 
drivers 
licence 

02.08.2022 Driver did not meet the group 2 
medical standards 

  Suspension 

6 Hackney 
Carriage Dual 
Licence 

20.07.2022 Driver did not meet the group 2 
medical standards 

  Suspension 

7. Hackney 
Carriage Dual 
Licence 

17.06.2022 Driver being investigated by Police 
for assault ABH after being 
involved in an altercaton with 
another driver.  CCTV retrieved. 

  Revoked 

8 Hackney 
Carriage Dual  
Licence 

12.09.2022 Lone female passnger was sick in 
taxi, driver stopped  and allegation 
of using force to remove females 
bag once she was out of the 
vehicle, he then started to drive 

  Revoked 

159



off,  whilst she was trying to 
retrive her bag back through the 
open drivers window , she was 
ragged along by the vehicle.  
Sussex police investigating a 
number of serious criminal 
offences.  CCTV from taxi 
retrieved. 

9. First 
Application  

15.06.2022 Previous licence was revoked on 
08/05/2019 after it came to the 
attention of this authority that the 
applicant had been sentenced to 3 
years imprisonment on the 
29/01/2019 for Conspire/Assist 
Unlawful Immigration into EU 
Member State on the 6/6/2018 
contrary to the Immigration Act 
1971 S25(1). 

  Refused 

10 First 
Applicant 

21.06.2022 Information held by the police 
relates to an arrest,  investigation 
and criminal charges brought 
against the applicant for offences 
of sexual assault and false 
imprisonment of a female 
passenger. 
 
The applicant denied the allegation 
but admitting to picking up the 
female with no booking.  He was 

  Refused 

160



charged to crown court and found 
not guilty. 
Furthermore, our records show 
that he was previously licensed by 
Brighton and Hove City Council as a 
taxi driver, however his licence was 
revoked on 15th February 2016, 
when information was received 
from Sussex Police that that he had 
been interviewed by them and 
admitted that he had engaged in 
sexual acts whilst working as a 
licence driver in lieu of payment of 
a fare.  Sussex Police took no 
further action in relation to his. 
 
Applicant applied to LDC and failed 
to disclose his licence had been 
refused by BHCC 

11 Hackney 
Carrige Dual 
Licence 

06.09.2022 Report of driver using his mobile 
phone with 3 passengers in the 
vehicle, 2 passenger under the age 
of 14 and driver did not ensure 
they had seatbelts on.  
 
CCTV obtained. 

  21 day suspension 
and requirment to 
complete remedial 
course with the Blue 
Lamp Trust 

12 PHDL 23.09.2022 DVLA licence revoked. Driver 
received 6 month ban 

  Licence revoked 

 

161



162


	Agenda
	10 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	15 Hackney Carriage Unmet Demand Report
	Executive Summary and Recommendations APX. n 1
	Best Practice Guidance APX. n 2
	Full Report APX. n 3 Demand Report

	16 Licensing Fees 2023/24
	Taxi Fees APX. n 1
	Non-Taxi fees 2023/24 APX. n 2
	Taxi trading accounts 2023/24 APX. n 3
	Non-Taxi Trading accounts 2023/24 APX. n 4
	Animal Licensing Fees 2023/24 APX. n 5

	17 Hackney Carriage Fare Review
	Trade Submission APX. n 1
	Proposed Fare Card APX. n 2
	Change Tables APX. n 3
	Change Tables APX. n 4
	League Table APX. n 5

	18 Blue Handbook for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers, Vehicles and Operators Amendments
	Blue Handbook for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers, Vehicles and Operators Amendments APX. n 1

	19 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Driver Enforcement and Monitoring
	Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Driver Enforcement and Monitoring APX. n 1
	Table of Enforcement Actions


